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CBRE Realty Finance

About the Company

CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. (NYSE: CBF) is a commercial real estate specialty finance company focused on
originating and acquiring whole loans, bridge loans, subordinate interests in whole loans, or B Notes,
commercial mortgage-backed securities, or CMBS, and mezzanine loans, primarily in the United Srates.
CBF is qualified as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for U.S. federal income tax purposes and is
externally managed and advised by CBRE Realty Finance Management, LLC, our Manager, an indirect
subsidiary of CB Richard Ellis Group, Inc. and a direct subsidiary of CBRE Melody & Company.

Our objective is to grow our portfolio and provide attractive total returns to our investors over time
through a combination of dividends and capital appreciation. Our business primarily focuses on originating,
acquiring, investing in, financing and managing a diversified portfolio of commercial real estate related
loans and securities.

In July 2007, we suspended new investment activity due to the uncertainty about our ability to secure
short-term financing under repurchase agreements and long-term financing through the issuance of
collateralized debt obligations (“CDOs”}). As we wait for the credit and capital markets to improve and
stabilize, our primary focus has been securing our liquidity by paying down outstanding repurchase
agreements and managing our existing portfolio of assets to minimize credit risks.

We are considering plans to restart our lending program and will resume origination activities when we
are comfortable with the expected pricing of, and have reasonable access to, capital both in the debt and
equity credit and capital markets that will enable us to achieve our growth objectives. We continue to explore
equity and debt capital raising options as well as other strategic alternatives,

Please visit www.cbrerealtyfinance.com for further information on our company.

Key Financial Statistics’

Total Assets Volume AFFOfrom Net Investment
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! 2005 was a partial year with investment activity commencing on June 9. 2005,

* For our dofinition of AFFO, which we view as an important metric, please see the infermatian an Form 8-K furnished with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
or the SEC, on March 13, 2008. For & reconciliation of net income in 2006 and 2007, pleasa see the informaticn on Form 8-Ks furnished with the SEC on February 27,
2007 and March 13, 2008, respectively.

* Net investment income represents investment incams fram the Company's debit and CMBS invastments, less intersst expense on the Company's borrowings
refated [o thase investments.




CBRE Redlty Finance

Dear Fellow Shareholders:

2007 was a year of unprecedented challenge for our industry — and for CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.
— as the rapid decline in residential credit market conditions quickly spread to other real estate
markets, eventually affecting nearly all participants. This decline has resulted in decreased
commercial liquidity and a dislocarion in the credit and capital markets that severely impacted
parts of our business.

In response to these challenges, we took action. We made important changes at our company -
from our management team to our strategic priorities — aimed at focusing on our core business
and positioning our company for success in a more normalized environment. We believe this swift
action has helped lay the foundation for a successful future.

Strengthening Our Organization

Qur first step in stabilizing our organization was the retention of a new Chief Executive Officer
in September 2007. We then aggressively restructured our asset management organization, which
now reports directly to the office of the Chief Executive. In connecrion with this reorganization,
we shifted the roles of five employees of our external manager to primarily focus on risk man-
agement within our investment portfolio. We also created a new risk scoring system to prioritize
our resources and efforts to maximize portfolio performance. In addition, we enhanced our legal
team, with our general counsel now reporting directly to the office of the Chief Executive.

Shifting of Strategic Priorities

As the capital and credit markets rapidly deteriorated during 2007, we immediately responded by
shifting our priorities. In the first part of the year, we successfully issued our second collateralized
debt obligation (“CDO™) resulting from originations in excess of $750 million during the first
seven months of 2007. Closing the $1.0 billion CDO created $1.4 billion of flexible long-term
financing for our company at extremely atrractive rates of LIBOR plus approximately 45 basis
points. During the second half of the year, we sharpened our objectives to enhance our liguidity
position and to reduce our interim warehouse line exposure, Specifically, we set these priorities:

¢ Preserving liquidity;
* Stabilizing our portfolio; and
» Continuing to emphasize proactive asset and risk management.

Most importantly, we successfully reduced borrowings on our short-term warehouse lines to
$144.2 millicn at year-end from over $300 million when the dislocation in the capital markets
became apparent. We have continued to reduce mis-matched short-term debt, and as of the date of
this letter, we have reduced our warehouse borrowings to $31.1 million. As a resulr, approximately,
95 percent of our loans and security investments are now match-funded and term-financed in our
two, long-term commercial real estate CDOs aggregating $1.6 billion. This steadfast approach
has allowed us the flexibility to evaluate and fine-tune our strategy, even as the overall industry
environment remains challenging.

Qur current portfolio is well positioned with respect to future funding commitments and
refinancing risk associated with scheduled maturities of our loans, which is critical based on the
current difficulty within the capital markets. As of March 31, 2008, our loan portfolio had $40.9
million of future funding commitments, all of which will be funded from the undrawn capacity
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CBRE Redlty Finance

of our CDO revolver structure and restricted cash specifically designated for these fundings. As
for loan refinancing, our portfolio has four loans scheduled to mature without extension options
totaling $11.7 million in 2008 and $21.6 million in 2009, or less than two percent of our overall
investment portfolio,

Another top priority has been maintaining our vigorous asset and risk management focus on our
$1.7 billion investment portfolio. With the goal of preserving the overall quality of our core
investment portfolio, our senior management team made regular assessments and prudent decisions
with respect to the composition of the portfolio. As part of these efforts, we took a number of
steps that we believe were in the best long-term interests of our stockholders. Specifically, we
announced that we would discontinue investment activity in joint ventures and sell our two fore-
closed condominium conversion investments, which we accomplished prior to March 31, 2008.
In regard to the two foreclosed assets, after extensive internal review, we posted $63 million in
impairments. While this action was deeply disappointing to our Board, as we know it was to our
stockholders, it was the prudent course of action for our company. Today’s environment requires
proactive measures and tough decisions to mitigate risk and protect the value of our company.
We are dedicated to identifying issues early and will consistently take appropriate actions to
recognize and optimize the value of our assets.

Our asset and risk management efforts began to bear fruit in 2007, One rating agency reviewed
our $600 million CDO during September 2007 and affirmed the ratings on all classes of the
notes. Further, the ratings on all classes of the notes of our $1.0 billion CDOQ were affirmed by
all three major rarings agencies in the first quarter of 2008.

We are proud today that, even amidst the market turmoil, we maintained a quarterly dividend
throughout 2007 and declared dividends totaling $0.80 per share for 2007.

Looking Ahead

Since the start of 2008, we have continued to deliver on our priorities, further enhancing our
liquidity position, moving our balance sheet toward 100 percent match funding, and continuing
to strengthen our asset and risk management programs.

While the short-term outlook for growth remains challenging — for our company and for the
entire industry — our Board and senior management team remain optimistic about the platform
that has been created and in our ability to compete in this environment. We continue to regularly
review all aspects of our business. Consistent with this course of action, we have retained
Goldman Sachs as our financial advisor to assist us with strategic and operational initiatives to
enhance stockholder value. We will keep you informed as events warrant. '

Finally, we would like to thank you, our stockholders, for your continued patience and support
as we move forward to position CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. once more for success and profitability.

| Sincerely,

Ray E.WirTA KENNETH ]. WITKIN
' Chatrman Chief Executive Officer and President April 30, 2008
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. was organized in Maryland on May 10, 2005, as a commercial real estate
specialty finance company focused on originating and acquiring whole loans, bridge loans, subordinate interests
in whole loans, or B Notes, commercial mortgage-backed securities, or CMBS and mezzanine loans, primarily in
the United States. As of December 31, 2007, we also own interests in gight joint venture assets, two of which are
consolidated in the consolidated financial statements and two direct real estate projects as a result of the
foreclosure by us of two mezzanine loans. We commenced operations on June 9, 2005. We are a holding
company and conduct our business through wholly-owned or majority-owned subsidiaries.

Unless the context requires otherwise, all references to “we,” “our,” and “us” in this annual report mean
CBRE Realty Finance, Inc., a Maryland corporation, our wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries and our
ownership in joint venture assets and real estate projects.

We are externally managed and advised by CBRE Realty Finance Management, LLC, our Manager, an
indirect subsidiary of CB Richard Ellis Group, Inc., or CBRE, and a direct subsidiary of CBRE Melody &
Company, or CBREMelody. As of December 31, 2007, CBREIMelody also owned an approximately 4.5%
interest in the outstanding shares of our common stock. In addition, certain of our executive officers and directors
owned an approximately 6.2% interest in the outstanding shares of our common stock.

We have elected to qualify to be taxed as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for U. S. federal income tax
purposes commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2005. As a REIT, we generally will not be subject
to U. S. federal income tax on that portion of income that is distributed to stockholders if at least 90% of our REIT
taxable income is distributed to our stockholders. We conduct our operations so as to not be regulated as an
investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or the 1940 Act. We also conduct
business through our wholly-owned taxable REIT subsidiary, or TRS, CBRE Realty Finance TRS, Inc.

Qur objective is to grow our portfolio and provide attractive total returns 10 our investors over time through
a combination of dividends and capital appreciation. Our business primarily focuses on originating, acquiring,
investing in, financing and managing a diversified portfolio of commercial real estate related loans and securities.
Our investment focus is on opportunities in North America.

Historically we have generally matched our assets and liabilities in terms of base interest rates (generally
30-day LIBOR) and expected duration, When markets permit, we generally issue collateralized debt obligations,
or CDOs, which enable us to secure term financing and match fund our assets and liabilities to achieve our
financing and return objectives,

During 2007, we experienced a number of changes due to company specific and industry wide
developments and have taken actions to address such changes, which include: (i) in April 2007, we announced
the resignation of our former CEQ and President who was replaced in September 2007 by our current CEO and
President, Kenneth J. Witkin, (ii) in May 2007, determined to focus on core operations and ceased making equity
real estate investments through joint venture arrangements since we did not believe we were receiving
appropriate value for such investments in the marketplace combined with the dilutive effect of such investments
on our ability to pay dividends, and (iii) in July 2007, when concerns over the sub-prime residential markets
began impacting liquidity and vaiuations in the commercial real estate market, we suspended new investment
activity due to the uncertainty about our ability to secure short-term financing under repurchase agreements and
long-term financing through the issuance of CDOs. As we await the credit and capital markets to improve and
stabilize, our primary focus has been securing our liquidity by paying down outstanding repurchase agreements
and managing our existing portfolio of assets to minimize credit risks.
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The current credit and capital market environment is unstable and we continue to review and analyze the
impact on potential avenues of liquidity. We are considering plans to restart our lending program and will resume
origination activities when we are comfortable with the expected pricing of, and have reasonable access to, capital
both in the debt and equity credit and capital markets that will enable us to achieve our growth objectives. We
continue to explore equity and debt capital raising options as well as other strategic alternatives. As a result of the
rapidly changing and evolving markets that continue to create challenges in our industry, we may experience:

(1) lower loan originations and margins, (ii) reduced access to, and increased cost of, financing and (iii) as our
portfolio is reduced by scheduled maturities and prepayments, reduced funds available for distribution as dividends.

As we continue to assess the impact of the credit and capital markets on our long-term business strategy, we
have been primarily focused on actively managing our existing investment portfolio. As of December 31, 2007,
the net carrying value of our investments was approximately $1.7 billion, including origination costs and fees and
net of repayments and sales of partial interests in loans and CMBS, with a weighted average spread to 30-day
LIBOR of 317 basis points for our floating rate investments and a weighted average yield of 7.10% for our fixed
rate investments. Qur portfolio is comprised solely of commercial real estate debt and equity investments with no
sub-prime exposure. We have long-term financing in place through our first CDQ issuance, which provides
approximately $509.0 million of financing with an average cost of 30-day LIBOR plus 50.6 basis points and our
second CDO issuance which provides $831.0 million of financing with an average cost of 90-day LIBOR plus
40.6 basis points. Qur CDOs contain reinvestment periods of five years during which we can use the proceeds of
loan repayments to fund new investments. As of December 31, 2007, we had approximately 3.2 years and 4.2
years remaining in our reinvestment period for our first and second CDO, respectively.

On December 31, 2007, we had approximately $163.0 million of cash and cash equivalents available, of
which $26.0 million was unrestricted. We have long-term financing for 86% (95% at March 17, 2008) of our
portfolio in place through our existing CDOs and mortgage loans. In order to effectively match-fund our
investment portfolio, we have been aggressively reducing amounts outstanding under our repurchase facility with
Wachovia Bank, N. A, or Wachovia, Liquidity is a measurement of our ability to meet potential cash
requirements, including ongoing commitments to repay borrowings, fund loans and other investments, pay
dividends, fund debt service and for other general corporate purposes. Our primary sources of funds for short-
term liquidity, including working capital, distributions and additional investments consist of (i) cash flow from
operations; (ii} proceeds from our existing CDOs; (iii) proceeds from principal payments on our investments;

(iv) proceeds from potential loan and asset sales; and to a lesser extent (v) new financings or additional

securitization or CDO offerings and (vi) proceeds from additional common or preferred equity offerings or

offerings of trust preferred securities. We believe these sources of funds will be sufficient to meet our liquidity !
requirements.

Due 1o recent market turbulence, we do not anticipate having the ability in the near term to access equity
capital through the public markets or debt capital through warehouse lines, new CDQ issuances, or new trust
preferred issuances. However, we continue to explore equity and debt capital raising options as well as other ‘
strategic alternatives. However, in the event we are not able to successfully secure financing, we will rely on cash
flows from operations, principal payments on our investments, and proceeds from potential joint ventures and asset
and loan sales to satisfy these requirements. If we (i) are unable to renew, replace or expand our sources of
financing on substantially simitar terms, (ii) are unable to execute asset and loan sales on time or to receive
anticipated proceeds therefrom, (iii} fully utilize available cash or (iv) are unable to secure a joint venture on
favorable terms or at all, it may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and our ability to make
distributions to our stockholders. !

Our current and future borrowings may require us, among other restrictive covenants, to keep uninvested
cash on hand, to maintain a certain portion of our assets free from liens and to secure such borrowings with our
assets. These conditions could limit our ability to do further borrowings. If we are unable to make required
payments under such borrowings, breach any representation or warranty in the loan documents or violate any
covenant contained in a loan document, our lenders may accelerate the maturity of our debt or require us to :
pledge more collateral. If we are unable to pay off our borrowings in such a situation, (i) we may need to |
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prematurely sell the assets securing such debt, (ii) the lenders could accelerate the debt and foreclose on our
assets that are pledged as collateral to such lenders, (iii) such lenders could force us into bankruptcy, or (iv) such
lenders could force us to take other actions to protect the value of their coliateral. Any such event would have a
materiat adverse effect on our liquidity and the price of our common stock.

Our relationship with CBRE provides us with the ability to leverage national and local market expertise and
relationships, access 1o servicing platform, and with underwriting and asset management benefits. Our Manager
has significant investment experience and access to a variety of resources, including:

» amarket leading origination platform through CBREIMelody, the mortgage origiration and servicing
subsidiary of CBRE and one of the largest real estate intermediaries in the U.S;

+ access to product and market information resulting from our Manager’s bread relationships with real
estate owners and developers, financial institutions and tenants;

» market knowledge and insights gained by the scope and expertise of CBRE’s mortgage origination,
investment sales, leasing, property management and valuation, industry specialists and research
divisions, as well as its mature infrastructure; and

+ aseasoned management team with significant experience in buying, manufacturing and financing
commercial real estate investments, with an average of over 20 years of experience in all aspects of real
estate lending, investment, management, finance, underwriting, origination, risk management, capital
markets and structured finance.

Pursuant to the management agreement dated as of June 9, 2005 between us, our Manager, CBREIMelody and
CBRE, the initial term expires on December 31, 2008 and the agreement automatically renews for one year terms
subject to our Manager’s right to elect to not renew upon six months notice (fune 30, 2008) prior to the expiration of
the initial term and each annual renewal period thereafter. See “Management Agreement” section herein for further
details. Through the initial term of our management agreement, our Manager and all its 28 employees will be solely
dedicated to the operations of our company. Through at least the initial term of our management agreements, we
will serve as the exclusive investment vehicle, subject to certain exceptions, sponsored by CBRE that focuses
primarily on the acquisition and financing of commercial real estate loans, structured finance debt investments and
CMBS.




The following chart illustrates the structure and ownership of our company as of December 31, 2007 and the
management relationship between our Manager and us.

CBRE Richard Ellis | 4.5%
Inc. "
100% _1 Other Stockholders
CBRE Melody 89.3%
& Company e
50.4% @
CBRE Realty
Finance
~—| Management, LLC
: CBRE Realty Finance, —1 Directors and Officers
| Inc. .
| (Company) 62%
e e e ] -
100% 100%
CBRE Realty Finance CBRE Realty Finance
Holdings; LLC TRS. Inc.

(I Excludes shares of common stock beneficially owned by Mr, Ray Wirta, our chairman of our board of
directors, and Mr. Michae! Melody, one of our directors

@ The remainder is owned in the aggregate by our executive officers and certain other employees of
CBREI/Melody

QOur Business Strategy

The current credit market environment is unstable and we continue to review and analyze the impact on
potential avenues of liquidity. We have not entered into a new investment since July 2007. We are considering
plans to restart our lending program and will resume origination activities when we are comfortable with the
expected pricing of, and have reasonable access 10, capital both in the debt and equity markets that will enable us
to achieve our growth objectives. We continue to explore equity and debt capital raising options as well as other
strategic alternatives.

Qur business strategy is to, over time, generate a diversified portfolio of commercial real estate investments
and leverage these investments to produce attractive total returns to our stockholders. Historically, we have
sourced our investments through two primary channels: the affiliated CBRE system and our internal crigination
system. In each financing transaction we undertake, we seek to control as much of the capital structure as
possible. We generally seek to accomplish this through the direct origination of whole loans and other
investments, the ownership of which permits a wide variety of syndication and securitization executions. By
providing a single source of financing to a borrower, we streamline the lending process, provide greater certainty
to the borrower and retain the portion of the capital structure that will generate the most attractive and
appropriate total returns based on our risk assessment of the investment.

The ability to manage our credit and real estate risks is a crilical component of our success. We actively
manage our portfolio by using our management team’s expertise in understanding the risk characteristics of an
investment and, wherever possible, proactively managing the credit risk of investments in our portfolio. We
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benefit from our access to information resulting from our affiliation with CBRE. We generate income principally
from the spread between the yields on our assets and the cost of our borrowing and hedging activities. Future
distributions and capital appreciation are not guaranteed, however, and we have only limited operating history
and REIT experience upon which you can base an assessment of our ability to achieve our objectives.

Our Financing Strategy

General Policies. Our financing strategy historically focused on the use of match-funded financing
structures. This means that we seek to match the maturities and/or repricing schedules of our financial
obligations with those of our investments to minimize the risk that we have to refinance our liabilities prior to the
maturities of our assets and to reduce the impact of changing interest rates on earnings. As of December 31,
2007, approximately 86% (95% at March 17, 2008) of our portfolio was match-funded. Over the long-term, we
intend to finance the acquisition of our investments primarily by borrowing against or leveraging our existing
portfolio and using the proceeds to acquire additional investments. We may, if available, from time to time utilize
proceeds from equity and/or debt offerings or other forms of debt financing. Our leverage policy permits us to
leverage up to 80% of the total value of our assets. Our charter and bylaws do not limit the amount of
indebtedness we can incur, and our board of directors has discretion to deviate from or change our indebtedness
policy at anytime. As of December 31, 2007, 80.4% of our assets by carrying value were levered. We use
leverage for the sole purpose of financing our portfolio and not for the purpose of speculating on changes in
interest rates.

Warehouse Facilities. Qver the long-term, we intend to use short-term financing, in the form of warehouse
facilities. Warehouse lines are typicatly collateralized loans made to borrowers who invest in securities and loans
that in turn pledge the resuiting securities and loans to the warehouse lender. As of December 31, 2007, we did
not have a facility in place that allowed for additional short-term borrowings.

Collateralized Debt Obligations. We intend 1o use long-term financing, in the form of securitization
structures, particularly CDOs, as well as other match-funded financing structures. We believe CDO financing
structures are an appropriate financing vehicle for our targeted real estate asset classes because they will enable
us to obtain long-term match-funded cost of funds and minimize the risk that we have to refinance our liabilities
prior to the maturities of our investments while giving us the flexibifity to manage credit risk and, subject to
certain limitations, to take advantage of profit opportunities. As of December 31, 2007, we had issued two CDO
transactions totating approximately $1.3 billion, which provide attractive long-term financing. As noted
previously, there has been reduced liquidity in the CDO market and little appetite for new issuances. While we
believe the CDO market has solid long-term fundamentals, we are unable to predict when the market will return
and to what degree underwriting standards will change.

Term Debt. We intend to explore term financing from bank lenders that is secured by commercial real estate
loans, securities or properties. We anticipate using secured leverage to enhance returns on investmenis. However,
there is no assurance that such financing will be available.

Preferred Equity. We may explore financing from preferred equity. We anticipate using any preferred
equity proceeds to preserve our liquidity and enhance returns on investments. However, there is no assurance that
such financing will be available.

Our Investment Portfolio
Our investments target the following asset classes:
¢«  Whole loans;

* Subordinated interests in first mortgage real estate joans, or B Notes;
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* Mezzanine loans related to commercial real estate that is senior to the borrower’s equity position but
subordinated to other third-party financing; and

* Commercial mortgage-backed securities, or CMBS.
As of December 31, 2007, our investment portfolio {(excluding our two direci real estate assets) of

approximately $1.7 billion in assets, including crigination costs and fees, and net of repayments and sales of
partial interests in loans consisted of the following:

Weighted Average
Carrying Number of Percent of Total Yield to

Security Description Value Investments  Investments Coupon Maturity E\:

(In thousands)
Whole loans . .......... .. ... L. $ 881,089 41 52.3% 6.78% 6.58% 69%
BNotes ............ . ..o, 218,317 11 13.0% 7.96% 8.29% 67%
Mezzanineloans ..................... 282,297 14 16.8% 9.70% 9.41% 73%
CMBS ... ... e 236,134 67 14.0% 5.99% 7.17% —
Joint venture investments® . . ... ... .. .. 66,023 _8 3.9% — —_ —
Total investments .................... $1,683,860 141 100.0%
Loanlossreserve . ..........oveevnnn.. (19,650)

Total investments, net . ................ 51,664,210

(M Includes originated whole loans, acquired whele loans and bridge loans.

@ Includes our equity investment in two limited Hability companies which are deemed to be variable interest
entities, or VIEs, which we consolidate in our audited financial statements because we are deemed to be the
primary beneficiary of these VIEs under Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46R, or
FIN 46R.

Our investment guidelines require us to maintain a geographically diverse portfolio of assets. Our
investment focus is on opportunities in North America. Our board of directors may change these guidelines or
investment focus at any time without the approval of our stockholders. As of December 31, 2007, our investment
portfolio (excluding our two direct real estate assets) consisted of assets primarily located in four regions of the
U.S., as defined by the National Council of Real Estate Investment Fiduciaries, or NCREIF, with approximately
30.0% of our investments located in the East, approximately 9.0% in the South, approximately 47.0% in the West
and approximately 8.0% in the Midwest. The remaining 6.0% of our investments were located throughout the
U.s.

The following is a more detailed description of each of our target asset classes:

Whole Loans. Commercial mortgage loans, or whole loans, are structured to either permit us to retain the
entire loan, or to sell or securitize the lower yielding senior portions of the loans and retain the higher yielding
subordinate investment or to contribute the entire loan to our CDOs. Typically, borrowers of these loans are
institutions and well-capitalized real estate operating companies and investors. These loans are secured by
commercial real estate assets in a variety of industries with a variety of characteristics, We expect to originate
both fixed and floating rate loans and we expect to hold these investments to maturity. Qur primary focus
initially is commercial properties in the office, retail, hotel, industrial and apartment sectors.

Historicaily, we have also acquired seasoned loans in the secondary market secured by single assets and
portfolios of performing and sub-performing loans originated by third-party lenders such as banks, life insurance
companies and other owners. These loans are secured by commercial properties throughout the U.S.

If we anticipate selling the senior portion of our commercial mortgage loans, we will fund the purchase of
the loan either through or jointly with our TRS. In instances where we originate or purchase the commercial
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mortgage loans jointly with our TRS, we will retain the subordinate portion for our own account and our TRS
will sell the senior portion. If we purchase the commercial mortgage loans through our TRS, the TRS will sell the
subordinate piece of the loan to us at fair market value determined based on arms length dealing, and the TRS
will sell the senior piece to third parties. Qur TRS will be subject to corporate income tax on any taxable gain
recognized by it on the sale of loans to us or to third parties and on its other taxable income. If we anticipate
holding a commercial morigage loan for our own account, we will generally fund the purchase of the loan
without funding by our TRS. We and our TRS intend to use warehouse facilities, if available, to provide short-
term funding for our third-party loan purchases.

Subject to maintaining our qualification as a REIT, we historically have also offered bridge loans to
borrowers who are seeking short-term capital (that is, less than five years) to be used in the acquisition,
construction or redevelopment of a property. Typically, the borrower has identified a property in a favorable
market that it believes to be poorly managed or undervalued. Bridge financing enables the borrower to secure
short-term financing while improving the property and avoid burdening it with restrictive long-term debt. The
bridge loans we originate will be predominantly secured by first mortgage liens on the property and we expect to
hold these investments to maturity. We believe our bridge loans will lead to additional financing opportunities in
the future, as bridge facilities are often a first-step toward permanent financing or a sale.

As of December 31, 2007, we had invested $881.1 million on a carrying value basis, or 52.3% of our total
investments in whole loans. None of the whole loans we made investments in were in default at the time of
purchase or were in default as of December 31, 2007. However, we may in the future invest in whole loans or
seasoned loans that may be in default. As of December 31, 2007, one whole loan investment with a carrying
value of $11.9 million was on our watch list and this whole loan went into default in January 2008, which is
described further in Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition — Risk Management”
of this report.

Subordinate Interests in Whole Loans (B Notes). Historically, we have purchased from third parties and
have retained, and in the future may retain, from whole loans we originated and securitized or sold, subordinate
interests referred to as B Notes. B Notes are loans secured by a first mortgage and subordinated to a senior
interest, referred to as an A Note. The subordination of a B Note is generally evidenced by a co-lender or
participation agreement between the holders of the related A Note and the B Note. In some instances, the B Note
lender may require a security interest in the stock or partnership interests of the borrower as part of the
transaction. B Note lenders have the same obligations, collateral and borrower as the A Note lender, but typically
are subordinated in recovery upon a default. B Notes share certain credit characteristics with second mortgages,
in that both are subject to the greater credit risk with respect to the underlying mortgage collateral than the
corresponding first mortgage or A Note. If we originate first mortgage loans, we may divide them, securitizing or
selling the A Note and keeping the B Note for investment. In instances where we divide a first mortgage loan, we
will fund the origination of the loan either through or jointly with our TRS. If we originate the first mortgage
loan jointly with our TRS, we will retain the B Note for investment and our TRS will sell the A Note. If we
originate the first mortgage loans through our TRS, the TRS will sell the B Note to us for investment at fair
market value determined based on arms length dealing, and the TRS wilt sell the A Note to a third party. We may
also pay our TRS a fee for the origination services provided by it for the B Notes we acquire for our loan
portfolio. Any fee we pay to our TRS for loan origination will be market-based and consistent with fees that
would be earned with the origination of mortgage loans on behalf of third parties. Qur TRS will be subject to
corporate income tax on any taxable gain recognized by it on the sale of B Notes or A Notes to us or to third
parties and on its other taxable income.

When we acquire and/or originate B Notes, we may earn income on the investment, in addition to the
interest payable on the B Note, in the form of fees charged to the borrower under that note or by receiving
principal payments in excess of the discounted price (below par value) we paid to acquire the note. When we
originate a B Note out of a whole loan and then seil the A Note through our TRS, we will have to allocate the
basis in the whole loan to the two (or more) components to reflect the fair market value of the new instruments,
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Our TRS may realize a profit on the sale if the allocated value is beiow the sale price. Our TRS will be subject to
corporate income tax on any taxable gain recognized by it on such sales as well as its other taxable income.

Our ownership of a B Note with controlling class rights may, in the event the financing fails to perform
according to its terms, cause us to elect to pursue our remedies as owner of the B Note, which may include
foreclosure on, or modification of, the note. In some cases the owner of the A Note may be able to foreclose or
modify the note against our wishes as holder of the B Note. As a result, our economic and business interests may
diverge from the interests of the holders of the A Note. These divergent interests among the holders of each
investment may result in conflicts of interest. We expect to hold B Notes to their maturity, We generally structure
or acquire B Notes with unilateral foreclosure rights on the underlying mortgage.

As of December 31, 2007, we had invested $218.3 million on a carrying value basis, or 13.0% of our total
investments in B Notes. As of December 31, 2007, one B-Note with a carrying value of $42.8 million was in
default, which is described further in Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Risk Management” of this report.

Mezzanine Financing. Historically, we have invested in mezzanine loans that are senior to the borrower’s
common and preferred equity in, and subordinate to a first mortgage loan on, a property. These loans are secured
by pledges of ownership interests, in whole or in part, in entities that directly or indirectly own the real property.

Mezzanine loans may have elements of both debt and equity instruments, offering the fixed returns in the
form of interest payments and principal payments associated with senior debt, while providing lenders an
opportunity to participate in the capital appreciation of a borrower, if any, through an equity interest. Due to their
higher risk profile, and often less restrictive covenants, as compared to senior loans, mezzanine loans generally
earn 2 higher return than senior secured loans. Mezzanine loans also may include a “put” feature, which permits
the holder to sell its equity interest back to the borrower at a price determined though an agreed upon formula.

We historically have structured our mezzanine loans so that we receive a stated fixed or variable interest
rate on the loan. In addition, at times we may also receive a percentage of gross revenues and a percentage of the
increase in the fair market value of the property securing the loan, payable upon maturity, refinancing or sate of
the property. Our mezzanine loans also generaily have prepayment lockouts, penalties, minimum profit hurdles
and other mechanisms to protect and enhance returns in the event of premature repayment. Mezzanine loans have
maturities that match the maturity of the related mortgage loan but may have shorter or longer terms, We expect
to hold these investments to maturity. We expect to hold certain of our mezzanine investments in our TRS.

As of December 31, 2007, we had invested $282.3 million on a carrying value basis, or 16.8% of our total
investments in mezzanine financing. As of December 31, 2007, one mezzanine investment with a carrying value
of $40.0 million was on our watch list and this mezzanine investment went into default in February 2008, which
is described further in Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition— Risk
Management” of this report.

Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities. Historically, we have acquired CMBS that are created when
commercial loans are pooled and securitized. These securities may or may not be rated investment grade by
rating agencies. We may originate CMBS from pools of commercial loans we assemble, in which event we
expect to retain the more junior assets. We expect a majority of our CMBS investments to be rated by at least one
nationally-recognized rating agency, and to consist of securities that are part of a capital structure or
securitization where the rights of such class to receive principal and interest are subordinated to senior classes but
senior to the rights of lower rated classes of securities. We intend to invest in CMBS that will yield high current
interest income and where we consider the return of principal to be likely.

CMBS are generally pass-through certificates that represent beneficial ownership interests in common law
trusts whose assets consist of defined portfolios of one or more commercial mortgage loans. CMBS are secured
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by or evidenced by ownership interests in a single commercial mortgage loan or a pool of mortgage loans
secured by commercial properties. They are typically issued in multiple tranches whereby the more senior classes
are entitled to priority distributions from the trust’s income to make specified interest and principal payments on
such tranches. Losses and other shortfalls from expected amounts to be received on the mortgage pool are borne
by the most subordinate classes, which receive payments only after the more senior classes have received all
principal and/or interest to which they are entitled.

The yields on CMBS depend on the timely payment of interest and principal due on the underlying
mortgage loans and defaults by the borrowers on such loans may ultimately result in deficiencies and defaults on
the CMBS. In the event of a default, the trustee for the benefit of the holders of CMBS has recourse only to the
underlying pool of mortgage loans and, if a loan is in default, to the mortgaged property securing such mortgage
loan. After the trustee has exercised all of the rights of a lender under a defaulted mortgage loan and the related
mortgaged property has been liquidated, no further remedy will be available. However, holders of relatively
senior classes of CMBS will be protected to a certain degree by the structural features of the securitization
transaction within which such CMBS were issued, such as the subordination of the relatively more junior classes
of the CMBS. Historically, we have invested in investment grade and subordinate classes of CMBS, including
BBB-rated, BB-rated, B-rated and non-rated classes. We expect to hold CMBS securities to maturity.

As of December 31, 2007, we had invested $236.1 million on a carrying value basis, or 14.0% of our total
investments in CMBS. For the year ended December 31, 2007, 1% of our CMBS, based on carrying value, has
been downgraded and 6% has been upgraded by nationally recognized statistical rating agencies, such as
Standard and Poor’s Rating Service, Fitch Ratings and Moody’s Investors Services, Inc. In the second half of
2007 and beginning of 2008, the CMBS market has experienced significant declines in value and significantly
lower trading volumes.

Joint Venture Investments. In 2007, we elected to discontinue seeking new joinl venture investments in
favor of focusing on our core whole loan, B-notes, Mezzanine and CMBS investments. We continue to actively
manage our existing joint venture portfolio.

Certain of our joint venture investment holdings involve the development, redevelopment or re-tenanting of
all or a portion of the real estate assets owned by the joint venture. These investments will initially provide a low
current dividend or yield, or no current dividend or yield, on our invested equity compared to the dividend or
yield that is projected upon stabilization of the underlying real estate assets. Therefore, these assets are likely to
have a dilutive effect on our cash flows and results of operations in the short to intermediate term and therefore
could affect our ability to make current distributions to our stockholders. If these investments perform according
to our expectations, they would be accretive to our cash flow and results of operations once the underlying assets
of the joint venture investment are stabilized or are sold or refinanced. However, there can be no assurance as to
the successful performance of these joint venture investments.

As of December 31, 2007, we had invested approximately $77.2 million in joint venture investments which,
after recognition of depreciation and operating losses, have a carrying value of $66.0 million, or 3.9% of our total
investments. Included in this total is our equity investment in two limited liability companies that are deemed to
be VIEs that we consolidate in our audited financial statements because we are deemed to be the primary
beneficiary of these VIEs under FIN 46R.

Other Real Estate-Related Investments. We also may make investments in other types of commercial real
estate assets. These may include acquisitions of real property, net leased property, distressed and stressed debt
securities, RMBS, CDOs and equity and debt issued by REITs or other real estate companies. We have authority
to issue our common stock or other equity or debt securities in exchange for property. Subject to gross income
and asset tests necessary for REIT qualification, we may also invest in securities of other REITs, or other entities
engaged in real estate activities or securities of other issuers, including for the purpose of exercising control over
such entities.




Some of these investments may be equity interests in properties with no stated maturity or redemption date,
of long-term leasehold interests with expiration dates as long as 40 years beyond the date of our investment. We
expect that we would hold these investments for between several months and up to ten years, depending upon the
risk profile of the investment and our investment rationale. The timing of our sale of these investments, or of
their repayment, is frequently tied to certain events involving the underlying property, such as new tenants or
superior financing.

As of December 31, 2007, we had one investment in other reat estate-related investments, The investment
was in a CDO bond with a carrying value of $3.3 million, which we included in our CMBS carrying amount of
$236.1 million. As of December 31, 2007, we had direct real estate ownership interests in our Rodgers Forge and
Monterey properties.

Sourcing Potential Investment Opportunities

We recognize that investing in our targeted asset classes is highly competitive, and that we compete with
many mortgage REITs, other specialty finance companies, private equity and other discretionary funds and other
lenders for profitable investment opportunitics. Given this competitive environment, it is important for us to have
access to the broadest supply of new investment and finance opportunities, which we refer to as our gross
origination flow, so that we can be highly selective in those opportunities that we decide to pursue. Historically,
we have sourced our investment opportuanities through two primary channels: the affiliated CBRE system and our
internal origination system. As we continue to monitor the credit and capital markets and look for opportunities
to start making new investments, we will continue to leverage these channels where possible and seek additional
sourcing cpportunities.

Alffiliated CBRE System. We believe that CBREIMelody has one of the strongest and most active
origination systems in the U.S. We believe our affiliation with CBRE and CBREIMelody is an advantage for us
in sourcing, analyzing and managing investments across all of our product types. All of our Manager’s
investment professionals have direct and substantial interaction with sales, leasing and financing brokers within
CBRE and CBRE!Melody. As a result, we are introduced to numerous investment opportunities.

Our Internal Qrigination System. Our management team’s deep experience in all aspects of real estate
lending, investment, capital markets and management also provides us with a valuable origination system. Over
the years, our management team has developed extensive relationships with borrowers, sellers of whole loans,
various financial institutions and other financial intermediaries throughout the U.S. These relationships provide
us with a broad range of investment and finance opportunities, including seasoned toans, purchased securities and
private equity. The depth and diversity of these relationships will provide us with investment and finance
opportunities across all major product types and markets.

Our Investment Process

In evaluating potential investments, our Manager employs an active five-step investment process consisting
of:

Information Research. Qur Manager continuously monitors the property, credit and capital markets to
adjust its investment strategy seeking to optimize the performance of our portfolio. We believe we have strong
research capabilities due to the resources and activities of CBRE. We have access to all property market and
economic data research produced by CBRE and provided to its clients. In addition, we have direct access to
CBRE's leasing, sales, property management, appraisal and industry specialists, which provides us with
additional market and property specific information. We have developed a proprietary database to capture this
information and provide our management team with a very effective tool for refining our investment strategies
and goals. We utilize the information provided by CBRE and its affiliates as well as a variety of independent
sources to refine our strategy. Seme of the key elements we generally focus on are:

« fundamental supply and demand characteristics of markets;
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» performance characteristics of all property types;
= overall capital flows;

*  macro-economic trends and local market;

» demographic trends;

* quotes on various structures and products;

« market makers and leaders;

« defanlt rates;

= cap rates; and

« sales information.

Once we identify our target markets and borrowers/partners in those markets, we conduct a second leve! of
research including: detailed information on the borrower/partner, leasing and sales comparables by product type
in each market, recent financing quotes and market specific capital flows. This approach allows us to focus on
investment opportunities that are best for us and fall within our investment guidelines. To limit due diligence
costs, all potential investments that fall within our investment guidelines are reviewed by our investment
committee, prior to the decision to pursue such an investment, for overall compatibility with our investment
portfolic.

Screening and Pursuit of Potential Transactions. When we have identified a potential transaction, we
analyze it to determine if the particular investment meets our stated objectives. We review the potential
investment to determine its risk/return profile and how it would fit within our overall portfolio. Our goal is to
quickly determine if we should pursue a potential investment. To make the determination at this stage requires a
comprehensive review of the materials provided by the borrower concerning itself and its assets, quick analysis
of the market in which the investment is located and our own modeling of the property’s projected financial
performance.

When we identify an investment opportunity that warrants continued review and resources, the investment is
placed on our “Pipeline Report.” Once placed on the report, we will prepare a written summary of the transaction
for the investment committee. The purpose of the brief is to introduce the opportunity to the investment
committee and seek its initial guidance. The brief will include review of the following elements:

« the borrower’s reputation, credit and payment performance;

* an initial review of the asset, including market analysis, property valuation, risk assessment and
physical examination;

» consideration of environmental, structural and zoning factors;
» the proposed transaction structure;
« initial financial modeling; and
 initial REIT and 1940 Act compliance.
We helieve that this approach allows us to be responsive to prospective borrowers, clients and partners
while enabling us to stay focused on which potential investments will best help us accomplish our goals. Once

the investment committee agrees to place the prospective investment on its “Pipeline Report,” we will then begin
a more detailed and thorough underwriting and due diligence.

Thorough Underwriting and Due Diligence. Following the decision to pursue an investment, each potential
transaction, whether a single asset or a portfolio of assets, is subject to a review of the underlying real estate
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collateral, the borrower and the associated debt/equity structure. Qur Manager has developed a rigorous and
disciplined review approach that allows us to determine whether a prospective investment can achieve our
targeted returns. From a real estate perspective, the due diligence includes, but is not limited to:

¢ conducting a thorough analysis, regardless of the recourse nature of a loan, of the borrower’s
investment history, reputation, credit history, investment focus and expertise;

« making site visits to assess the economic viability of the collateral inciuding tenant and overall
property viability;

* reviewing submarket supply and demand and existing and planned competitive properties;
= reviewing local submarket rental and sales comparables;

* reviewing issuer and third party valuations and appraisals of the property, if applicable, and the LTV
ratio with respect to the collateral;

+ performing in-depth legal, accounting, environmental, zoning, structural analyses of the property and
borrower;

* reviewing the level and stability of cash flow from the underlying collateral to service the mortgage debt;
* analyzing the availability of capital for refinancing by the borrower if the loan does not fully amortize;

» reviewing loan documents to determine the lender’s rights, including personal guarantees, additional
collateral, default covenants and other remedies as well as the lender’s rights under any intercreditor
agreements; and

* making appropriate modifications to reflect the underlying collateral and borrower credit risk,
including requiring letters of credit or other liquid instruments to ensure timely payments and loan to
value ratios appropriate for the yield.

Additionally, all investments are considered in the context of their risk and yield profile, reviewing such
factors as maich-funding and hedging efficiency and overall concentration considerations, such as investment
size, product type, tenants, borrower, sector, floating vs. fixed rates and maturity. Our focus is on risk
management and understanding the impact of any investment on our investment portfolio prior to clesing.

As a result of this extensive real estate review, a cash flow forecast for each collateral property is prepared,
and a valuation is assigned. The performance of the respective investment is then forecasted to derive the
projected return. Sensitivity analyses are performed in consideration of differing levels of the property’s cash
flow, loan losses, variances in the timing of loan payoffs or prepayments, loan extension scenarios and changing
interest rates. In all cases, we consider the potential impact on the risk profile of our investment portfolio and the
impact on cash flow after we implement financing at the company level, whether in the form of a CDO or some
other debt insirument.

Upon completion of due diligence, we consider the impact of any material findings on the transaction’s risk
profile. Once final due diligence is substantially complete, the investment professionals prepare and submit a
final investment committee brief to the investment committee, which consists of Messrs. Ray Wirta, our
chairman, Michael Melody, a director, David Marks, a director, Kenneth J. Witkin, our chief executive officer,
president and a director, and four other representatives of our Manager.

Investment Commifttee Approval. The investment committee will review the final investment committee
brief prepared by our Manager and decide to approve or decline the investment. Should the investment be
approved, we will move to close the investment or financing with the assistance of legal, accounting, tax and
other specialists appropriate for that particular investment.

All transactions are reported to our board of directors. Our investment committee consults regularly with our
board of directors, the executive committee of our board of directors, and various CBRE and CBREIMelody
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professionals to understand and take advantage of the latest available market information and trends. The
majority vote (which must include the affirmative vote of our chief executive officer) of all members of our
investment comrmittee is required to approve all investments and dispositions, including investments and
dispositions of up to $25 million {except for (i) investments and dispositions having credit ratings of “A” or
better by a major rating agency, such threshold will be up to $50 million and (i) with respect to aggregate CMBS
investments of up to $15 million having credit ratings of “B” or better and consistent with our operating
guidelines, only two members of the investment committee must approve the investment; however, the majority
vote of all members of our investment commiittee will be required to approve aggregate CMBS investments over
$15 mitlion). Separate approvals by our executive committee and our board of directors are not required under
the following circumstances. Qur executive committee, which consists of Messrs, Ray Wirta, our chairman,
Michael Melody, a director, David Marks, a director, and Kenneth J. Witkin, our chief executive officer,
president and a director, has the authority delegated by our board of directors to authorize transactions consistent
with our investment guidelines and must approve, by a majority vote (which must include the affirmative vote of
the independent director), investments and dispositions aggregating greater than $25 million and up to

$50 million (except for investments and dispositions having credit ratings of “A” or better by a major rating
agency, such threshold will be greater than $50 million and up to $75 million). A majority of the members of our
board of directors must approve all investments and dispositions greater than such amounts identified above.

Closing. The closing process is extensive due to the documentation associated with all of our investment
products. Non-CMBS closings are completed, to the extent possible, on our own standard documentation. Those
documents are negotiated by our Manager with the support of one of our executive vice presidents and outside
counsel.

Asset Management and Servicing

With respect to managing the investments made by us, our Manager (with the assistance of GEMSA Loan
Services, L.P., or GEMSA, a joint venture between CBREIMelody and GE Capital Real Estate) or a third party
(as servicer where appropriate) seeks to address the following issues:

o Investment Monitoring. Our Manager actively monitors and manages our investments. Our Manager’s
assel managers have been trained to identify asset level risks early and to take measures to mitigate
those concerns. Our management team reviews our portfolio quarterly on a formal basis and more
frequently, on an informal basis, to consider any “early watch list,” “watch list,” or “non-performing”
assets and determine any appropriate actions and reserve strategies. Assets are managed aggressively
through maturity.

+  Cash Collections. When we originate a new loan, we evaluate whether it is appropriate to require a
lock box agreement {or cash management account), based on certain criteria, such as the debt service
coverage ratio, LTV ratio and quality of sponsorship. As determined appropriate, we will require the
borrower to establish a cash management account at a commercial bank acceptable to us. Tenants will
be required to deposit all rents, revenues and receipts with respect to the property into the cash
management account. Generally, the debt service, loan escrows and reserves are paid from this
account, and any balance rematning is remitted to the borrower.

«  Collateral Valuation. Our Manager is responsible for determining the value of the collateral property,
including an analysis of the condition of the property, existing tenant base, current information and
comparable market rents, occupancy and sales, When appropriate, our Manager also conducts an
investigation of the borrower to identify other potential sources of recovery, including other non-real
estate collateral and guarantees. Qur Manager is also responsible for reviewing the collateral operating
statements on an ongoing basis and within the market in order to accurately track asset value and its
cash flow performance.

«  Recovery Strategies. To the extent a default is realized with respect to an investment, our Manager is
responsible for recommending and implementing the appropriate recovery strategy in order to produce
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the highest present value recovery. Our management team's real estate operating and distressed debt
workout management experience put us in a strong position to manage problems that may arise. We
may also utilize a special servicer, which in some instances, where appropriate, may be an affiliate of
us, CBRE or CBREIMelady (including GEMSA), to manage, modify and resolve loans and other
investments that fail to perform under the terms of the loan agreement, note, indenture, or other
governing documents. Special servicers are most frequently employed in connection with whole loans,
B Notes and first-loss classes of CMBS. For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, we paid or
had payable an aggregate of approximately $251,000 and $82,000, respectively, in fees to GEMSA in
its capacity as a special servicer to our company.

Our Operating Policies

Our Investment and Borrowing Guidelines. We have adopted general guidelines for our investments and
borrowings to the effect that:

no investment will be made that would cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax
purposes;

no investment will be made that would cause us to be regulated as an investment company under the
1940 Act;

no more than 25% of our equity, determined as of the date of such investment, will be invested in any
single asset;

no more than 25% of our equity, determined as of the date of such investment, will be invested in any
single borrower;

our leverage will generally not exceed 80% of the value of our assets, in the aggregate;

the majority vote (which must include the affirmative vote of our chief executive officer) of all
members of our investment committee will be required to approve all investments and dispositions,
including investments and dispositions of up to $25 million {except for (i) investments and dispositions
having credit ratings of “A” or better by a major rating agency, such threshold will be up to $50 million
and (ii) with respect to aggregate CMBS investments of up to $15 million having credit ratings of “B”
or better and consistent with our operating guidelines, only two members of the investment committee
must approve the investment; however, the majority vote of all members of our investment committee
will be required to approve aggregate CMBS investments over $15 million); the majority vote (which
must include the affirmative vote of the independent director) of our executive committee will be
required to approve investments and dispositions aggregating greater than $25 million and up to

$50 million (except for investments and dispositions having credit ratings of “*A” or better by a major
rating agency, such threshold will be greater than $50 million and up to $75 million); and a majority of
our board of directors must approve all investments and dispositions greater than such amounts
identified above; and

we will maintain a portfolio of geographically diverse assets.

Our Manager is required to seek the approval of a majority of the independent members of our board of
directors before we engage in a material transaction with our Manager or any of its affiliates. These investment
guidelines may be changed by our board of directors without the approvat of our stockholders.

In addition:

we will monitor all multiple asset types, sector markets, and tranches 10 identify attractive total return
investments;

our asset allocation will be determined by market conditions and driven by exploitable market
inefficiencies on either the asset or structuring side or both; and
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+ we will emphasize the following investment themes:
+ high quality investments carefully screened and selected from our origination channels;
= disciplined asset selection and bottom-up underwriting;
» use of asset and liability structuring to lock-in attractive total returns and to minimize risk; and

+ hands on asset management and exit strategy/realization monitoring.

Credit Risk Management. We are exposed to various levels of credit and special hazard risk depending on
the nature of our underlying assets and the nature and level of credit enhancements supporting our assets.
Historically, we have originated or purchased mortgage loans that meet minimum debt service coverage
standards established by us. Our Manager reviews and monitors credit risk and other risks of loss associated with
each investment. In addition, our Manager seeks to diversify our portfolio of assets to avoid undue geographic,
issuer, industry and certain other types of concentrations. Qur board of directors monitors the overall portfolio
risk and reviews levels of provision for loss.

Interest Rate Risk Management. To the extent consistent with maintaining our qualification as a REIT, we
follow an interest rate risk management policy intended to mitigate the negative effects of major interest rate
changes. We minimize our interest rate risk from borrowings by attempting, if possible, to structure the key terms
of our borrowings to generally correspond to the interest rate term of our assets.

Hedging Activities. We engage in hedging transactions to protect our investment portfolio from interest rate
fluctuations and other changes in market conditions. These transactions may include interest rate swaps, the
purchase or sale of interest rate collars, caps or floors, options, mortgage derivatives and other hedging
instruments. These instruments may be used to hedge as much of the interest rate risk as our Manager determines
is in the best interest of our stockholders, given the cost of such hedges and the need to maintain our qualification
as a REIT. We may from time o time enter into interest rate swap agreements to offset the potential adverse
effects of rising interest rates under certain short-term repurchase agreements. Our Manager may elect to have us
bear a level of interest rate risk that could otherwise be hedged when it believes, based on all relevant facts, that
bearing such risk is advisable.

Disposition Policies. Our Manager evaluates our asset portfolio on a regular basis to determine if it
continues to satisfy our investment criteria. Subject to certain restrictions applicable to REITSs, our Manager may
cause us to sell our investments opportunistically and use the proceeds of any such sale for debt reduction,
additional acquisitions or working capital purposes.

Equity Capital Policies. Subject to applicable law, our board of directors has the authority, without further
stockholder approval, to issue additional authorized common stock and preferred stock or otherwise raise capital,
including through the issuance of trust preferred securities or senior securities, in any manner and on the terms
and for the consideration it deems appropriate, including in exchange for property. We may also raise funds
through the retention of cash flow (subject to provisions in the Internal Revenue Code concerning distribution
requirements and the taxability of undistributed REIT taxable income). In the event that our board of directors
determines to raise additional equity capital, it has the authority, without stockholder approval (unless required
under rutes of the New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE), to issue additional common stock, preferred stock,
trust preferred securities or other senior securities in any manner and on such terms and for such consideration as
it deems appropriate, at any time. Our existing stockholders and potential investors will have no preemptive right
to additional shares issued in any offering, and any offering might cause a dilution of investment. We may in the
future issue common stock in connection with acquisitions.

We may, under certain circumstances, repurchase our common stock in the open market or through private
transactions with our stockholders, if those purchases are approved by our board of directors. Our board of

directors has no present intention of causing us to repurchase any shares, and any action would only be taken in

15




conformity with applicable federal and state laws and the applicable requirements for qualifying as a REIT, for
s0 long as the board of directors concludes that we should remain a REIT. We also have the authority to offer
equity or debt securities in exchange for property.

Other Policies. We intend to operate in a manner that will not subject us to regulation under the 1940 Act,
Subject to gross income and asset tests necessary for REIT qualification, we may invest in securities of other
REITs, other entities engaged in real estate activities or securities of other issuers, including for the purpose of
exercising control over such entities. We may engage in the purchase and sale of investmenis. We also may make
loans to third parties. We will not underwrite the securities of other issuers.

Future Revisions in Policies and Strategies. Our board of directors has approved the investment policies,
the operating policies and other strategies set forth in this prospectus. Qur board of directors has the power to
modify or waive these policies and strategies, or amend the management agreement with our Manager, without
the consent of our stockholders to the extent that the board of directors (including a majority of our independent
directors) determines that such modification or waiver is in our best interest and the best interest of our
stockhelders. Among other factors, developments in the market that either affect the policies and strategies
menttoned herein or which change our assessment of the market may cause our board of directors to revise its
policies and strategies. However, if such modification or waiver involves the relationship of, or any transaction
between, us and our Manager or any affiliate of our Manager, the approval of a majority of our independent
directors is also required.

Competition

Over the long-term, growth in our net income depends, in large part, on our Manager's ability to originate
and acquire structured investments with spreads over our borrowing costs. In originating and acquiring these
investments, our Manager competes with other commercial mortgage REITs, specialty finance companies,
savings and loan associations, banks, mortgage brokers, insurance companies, mutual funds, institutional
investors, private investment funds, investment banking firms, other lenders, governmental bodies and other
entities. In addition, there are numerous commercial REITs with asset acquisition objectives similar to ours, and
others may be organized in the future. The effect of the existence of additional REITs may be to increase
competition for the available supply of commercial real estate finance products suitable for purchase by us. Some
of our anticipated competitors are significantly larger than us, have access to greater capital and other resources
and may have other advantages over us.

Conflicts of Interests

We are entirely dependent upon cur Manager for our day-to-day management and do not have any
employees or independent officers. Ray Wirta, our chairman, is the vice chairman of CBRE and Michael
Melody, one of our directors, is the vice chairman of CBREIMelody. Qur chairman, chief executive officer, chief
financial officer and executive vice presidents also serve as officers of our Manager. As a result, we, our
Manager, our executive officers and directors and CBRE may face conflicts of interests because of our
relationships with each other. These conflicts include the following:

+ The management agreement between us and our Manager was negotiated between related parties, and
the terms, including fees payable, may not be as favorable to us as if it had been negotiated with an
unaffiliated third party. The interests of these officers and directors in the affairs of CBRE and
CBREIMelody, respectively, may conflict from time to time with our interests.

= CBRE or its affiliates provide various services to our company, including but not limited to, the
provision of certain research, appraisal and servicing activities for which CBRE and its affiliates are
provided market rate fees. Although such arrangements are approved by a majority of our independent
directors, they are negotiated among related parties.
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We have not adopted a policy that expressly prohibits our directors, officers, security holders or
affiliates from having a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in any investment to be acquired or
disposed of by us or any of our subsidiaries or in any transaction to which we or any of our subsidiaries
is a party or has an interest. Nor do we have a policy that expressly prohibits any such persons from
engaging for their own account in business activities of the types conducted by us. However, our code
of business conduct and ethics contain a conflict of interest policy that prohibits our directors, officers
and employees from engaging in any transaction that involves an actual or apparent conflict of interest
with us.

The compensation we pay to our Manager consists of both a base management fee that is not tied to our
performance and an incentive management fee that is based entirely on our performance. The risk of
the base management fee component is that it may not provide sufficient incentive to our Manager to
seek to achieve attractive returns to us. The risk of incentive management fee component is that it may
cause our Manager to place undue emphasis on the maximization of short-term net income at the
expense of other criteria, such as preservation of capital, in order to achieve a higher incentive fee.
Investments with higher vield potential are generally riskier or more speculative. This could result in
increased risk to the value of our investment portfolio.

Our Manager does not assume any responsibility beyond the duties specified in the management
agreement and will not be responsible for any action of our board of directors in following or declining
to follow its advice or recommendations. Our Manager and its officers, managers, employees and
affiliates will not be liable to us, our directors or our stockholders for, and we have agreed to indemnify
them for all claims and damages arising from, acts or omissions performed in good faith in accordance
with and pursuant to the management agreement, except by reason of acts constituting bad faith, willful

~ misconduct, gross negligence, or reckless disregard of their duties under the management agreement.

As a result, we could experience poor performance or losses for which our Manager would not be
liable.

Conflicts of Interests Resotution Policies

We have implemented several policies, through board action and through the terms of our constituent
documents and of our agreements with CBRE, to help address potential conflicts of interest:

Our board of directors has adopted a policy that a majority of our board of directors will be
independent directors, and that a majority of our independent directors must make any determinations
on our behalf with respect to the relationships or transactions that present a conflict of interest for our
directors or officers;

Our board of directors has adopted a policy that decisions concerning our management agreement with
our Manager, including termination, renewal and enforcement thereof, or concerning any acquisition of
assets from CBRE or its affiliates or other participation in any transactions with CBRE or its affiliates
outside of the management agreement must be reviewed and approved by a majority of our
independent directors;

Our management agreement provides that our determinations to terminate the management agreement
for cause or because the management fees are unfair to us or because of a change in control of our
Manager will be made by a majority vote of our independent directors.

Qur independent directors will periodically review the general investment standards established for our
Manager under the management agreement; and

Our management agreement with our Manager provides that our Manager may not assign certain duties
under the management agreement, except to certain of its affiliates, without the approval of a majority
of our independent directors.
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Management Agreement

We have entered into a management agreement with our Manager that provides for the day-to-day
management of our operations. The management agreement requires our Manager to manage our business affairs
in conformity with the policies and the investment guidelines that are approved and menitored by our board of
directors. Our Manager’s role as manager is under the supervision and direction of our board of directors.

The initial term of the management agreement expires on December 31, 2008 and will be automatically
renewed for a one-year term each anniversary date thereafter, subject to certain termination provisions. After the
initial term, our independent directors will review our Manager’s performance annually and our management
agreement may be terminated annually based upon (i} unsatisfactory performance that is materially detrimental to
us (as determined by (1) affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of our independent directors, or (2) a vote of the
holders of at least a majority of the cutstanding shares of our common stock), or (ii) a determination by our
independent directors that the compensation payable to our Manager is not fair, subject to our Manager’s right to
prevent such a compensation termination by accepting a mutually acceptable adjustment of management fees. A
termination fee will be paid to our Manager upon such termination. We may also terminate our management
agreement with 60 days’ prior written notice from our board of directors, without payment of a termination fee,
for cause, as defined in our management agreement.

The management agreement can also be terminated by our Manager who may elect to no longer act in that
capacity. OQur Manager must provide 180 days notice upon making such a decision. No termination fee is payable
in such circumstance.

Pursuant to the management agreement, our Manager is entitled to receive a base management fee, incentive
compensation and, in certain circumsiances, a termination fee and reimbursement of certain expenses as
described in the management agreement. The following table summarizes the fees and expenses payable to our
Manager pursuant to the management agreement.

18




Fee

Base Management Fee

Incentive Fee

Termination Fee

Expenses

Summary Description

Payable monthly in arrears in an amount equal to 1/12% of the sum of (i) 2.0% of the
first $400 million of our gross stockholders’ equity (as defined in the management
agreement), or equity, (ii) 1.75% of our equity in an amount in excess of $400 million
and up to $800 million and (iii) 1.50% of our equity in excess of $300 million. Our
Manager uses the proceeds from its management fee in part to pay compensation to
its officers and employees who, notwithstanding that certain of them also are our
officers, receive no cash compensation directly from us.

Payable quarterly in an amount equal to the product of:
*  25% of the dollar amount by which

» our Funds From Operations (as defined in the management agreement)
(after the base management fee and before incentive compensation} per
share of our common stock for such quarter (based on the weighted average
number of shares outstanding for such quarter)

* exceeds an amount equal to

+ the weighted average of the price per share of our common stock in
our June 2005 private offering, our October 2006 initial public
offering, or IPO, and the prices per share of our common stock in any
subsequent offering by us, in each case at the time of issuance thereof,
multiplied by the greater of

« 225%or

«  0.75% plus one-fourth of the Ten Year Treasury Rate (as defined
in the management agreement) for such quarter;

» multiplied by the weighted average number of shares of our common stock
outstanding during such quarter,

Payable upon termination without cause or non-renewal of the management
agreement by us in an amount equal to three times the sum of the annual base
management fee and the annual incentive compensation earned by our Manager
during the previous 12-month period immediately preceding the date of termination,
calculated as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter prior to the date
of termination,

Payable monthly in arrears to our Manager for all documented expenses incurred by
our Manager on our behalf. The expenses include all operating and administrative
expenses incurred by the employees of our Manager.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 and the 2006, our Manager had earned base management
fees of approximately $7.7 million and $6.5 million, respectively. We did not accrue or pay any incentive fees
through December 31, 2007.

Our Distribution Policy

U.S. federal income tax law requires that a REIT distribute annuaily at least 90% of its net taxable income,
determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gain.

In order to maintain our REIT qualification and to generally not be subject to U.S. federal income and
excise tax, we intend 1o make regular quarterly distributions of all or substantially all of our net taxable income to
holders of our common stock. Any future distributions we make will be at the discretion of our board of directors

19




and will depend upon, among other things, our actual results of operations. These results and our ability to pay
distributions will be affected by various factors, including the net interest and other income from our portfolic,
our operating expenses and any other expenditure.

To the extent that our cash available for distribution is less than 90% of our net taxable income, we may
consider various funding sources to cover any such shortfall, including borrowing under our warehouse facilities,
selling certain of our assets or using a portion of the net proceeds we receive in this offering or future offerings.
Our distribution policy enables us to review the alternative funding sources available to us from time to time,

Exclusion From Regulation Under the 1940 Act

We conduct our operations so that we are not required to register as an investment company. Under
Section 3(a)(1) of the 1940 Act, a company is not deemed to be an “investment company” if:

* it neither is, nor holds itself out as being, engaged primarily, nor proposes to engage primarily, in the
business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities; or

* it neither is engaged nor proposes t engage in the business of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding
or trading in securities and does not own or propose to acquire “investment securities” having a value
exceeding 40% of the value of its total assets on an unconsolidated basis, or the 40% Test. “Investment
securities” excludes U.S. government securities and securities of majority-owned subsidiaries that are
not themselves investment companies and are not relying on the exception from the definition of
investment company under Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)}(7) of the 1940 Act.

Because we are a holding company that will conduct our businesses through wholly-owned or majority-
owned subsidiaries, the securities we own that have been issued by our subsidiaries that are excepted from the
definition of “investment company” under Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) of the 1940 Act, together with any
other investment securities we may own, may not have a combined value in excess of 40% of the value of our
total assets on an unconsolidated basis. This requirement limits the types of businesses in which we may engage
through our subsidiaries.

CBRE Realty Finance Holdings, LLC, our subsidiary that holds, through wholly-owned subsidiaries,
substantially all of our real estate-related securities, intends to be exempt from 1940 Act reguiation under either
Section 3(c)(5)(C) and/or Secticn 3{c)(6) of the 1940 Act. With respect to this subsidiary, at least 55% of its
portfolio {directly or indirectly through its whotly-owned subsidiaries) must consist of qualifying real estate
assets (which, in general, must consist of whole mortgage loans and other liens on and interests in real estate, B
Notes and CMBS with unilateral foreclosure rights on the underlying mortgages and certain whole pool CMBS)
and another 25% of its portfolio must consist of qualifying real estate assets or other real estate-related assets.

Based on no-actien letters issued by the Staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC Staff,
we classify our investments in whole loans as qualifying real estate assets, as long as the loans are “fully
secured” by an interest in real estate. That is, if the loan-to-value ratio of the loan is equal to or less than 100%,
then we consider the loan a qualifying real estate asset. We do not consider loans with loan-to-value ratios in
excess of 100% to be qualifying real estate assets that come within the 55% basket, but only real estate-related
assets that come within the 25% basket. With respect to our investments in B Notes, we take the position that B
Notes are qualifying real estate assets that come within the 55% basket, or Qualifying B Notes, where we have
the unilateral right to (i) instruct the servicer to foreclose on a defaulted mortgage loan, (ii) replace the servicer in
the event the servicer, in its discretion, elects not to foreclose on such a loan, and (iii) purchase the A Note in the
event of a default on the mortgage loan and foreclose on the loan. We note that the SEC Staff has not provided
any guidance on the treatment of B Notes for Section 3(c)(5)(C) purposes and any such guidance may require us
to adjust our B Note investment strategy. We will treat certain mezzanine loans (Tier 1 mezzanine loans) as
qualifying real estate assets where, if, among other conditions, we (i} exercise ongoing control over management
of the underlying property, (ii) have the right to readily cure a default or purchase the mortgage loan in the event
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of a default on the mortgage loan, and (iii) have the right to foreclose on the collateral and through our ownership
in the property-owning entity become the owner of the underlying property. We will treat our other mezzanine
loans and our current CMBS investments as real estate-related assets that come within the 25% basket. Our joint
venture investments may constitute qualifying real estate assets if we have the right to approve certain major
decisions affecting the joint venture. Additionally, our direct real estate assets will be qualifying real estate
assets.

The treatment of other investments as qualifying real ¢state assets and real estate-related assets is based on
the characteristics of the underlying collateral and the particular type of loan including whether we have
foreclosure rights with respect to those securities or loans that have underlying real estate collateral. Because
CBRE Realty Finance Holdings, LLC intends to rely on Section 3(c){5}(C) and/or Section 3{c)(6) for its 1940
Act exemption, our investment therein will not constitute an “investment security” for purposes of the 40% Test.
We believe that CBRE Realty Finance TRS, Inc., our TRS, is exempted from 1940 Act regulation under
Section 3(c)(7} of the 1940 Act. Therefore, our investment in our TRS will constitute an “investment security”
for purposes of the 40% Test. Our CDO subsidiaries are each a QRS, that is expected to be exempted under the
1940 Act under Section 3(c)}(5)(C). Additionally, we expect to form separate subsidiaries for each additional
CDO or other securitizations we sponsor. We expect that each such subsidiary will rely on the exception
provided by Section 3(c)(5)}(C} or 3(c}(7) under the 1940 Act.

We have not received, nor have we sought, a no-action letter from the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the SEC, regarding how our investment strategy fits within the exclusions from regulation under
the 1940 Act that we and our subsidiaries are using. To the extent that the SEC provides more specific guidance
regarding the treatment of assets as qualifying real estate assets or real estate-related assets, we may be required
to adjust our investment strategy accordingly. Any additional guidance from the SEC could provide additional
flexibility to us, or it could further inhibit our ability to pursue the investment strategy we have chosen.

If we or our subsidiaries fail to maintain our exclusions or exemptions from the 1940 Act, we would become
subject to substantial regulation with respect to our capital structure (including our ability to use leverage},
management, operations, transactions with affiliated persons (as defined in the 1940 Act), and portfolio
composition, including restrictions with respect to diversification and industry concentration and other matters.
Compliance with the 1940 Act will, accordingly, limit our ability to make certain investments.

Our Formation and Structure

We were organized as a Maryland corporation in May 2005 and completed a private offering of our
common stock in June 2005 in which we raised net proceeds of approximately $282.5 million. CBRE, through
one of its affiliates, purchased from us 1,100,000 shares of our common stock in the private offering,
representing 5,1% of our common stock on a fully-diluted basis as of December 31, 2005. Certain of our
executive officers and directors and certain executive officers and directors of CBRE and CBREIMelody
purchased 964,101 shares of our common stock in that offering, representing 4.5% of our common stock on a
fully-diluted basis as of December 31, 2005. Additionally, certain other employees of CBRE and CBREIMelody
purchased 732,114 shares of our common stock in that offering, representing 3.4% of our common stock on a
fully-diluted basis as of December 31, 2005. Upon completion of our June 2005 private offering, we granted to
our Manager, its employees and certain of its related persons 565,087 shares of restricted stock and options to
purchase 813,600 shares of our common stock with an exercise price of $15.00 per share, representing 6.5% of
our common stock on a fully-diluted basis as of December 31, 2005. Additionally, 34,913 shares of restricted
stock and options to purchase 186,400 shares of our common stock were made available for issuance to our
Manager or to employees or other related parties of our Manager as directed by our Manager. Upon completion
of our June 2005 private offering, we granted to our directors 2,668 shares of restricted stock in the aggregate.

Our investment activities are managed by our Manager and, through it, by CBRE and CBREIMelody. The
Manager is also supervised by our investment committee and board of directors. Ray Wirta, vice chairman and
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director of CBRE and chairman of our Manager, is our chairman. Michael Melody, the executive managing
director of our Manager and vice chairman of CBREIMelody, is one of our directors.

CB Richard Ellis

CBRE (NYSE: CBG), an S&P 500 company, is the world’s largest commercial real estate services firm,
based on 2007 revenue, offering a full range of services to owners, lenders, occupiers and investors in office,
retail, industrial, multi-family and other types of commercial real estate. As of December 31, 2007, excluding
affiliate and partner offices, CBRE operated in over 300 offices worldwide with over 29,000 employees. CBRE's
business is focused on several service competencies, including tenant representation, property/agency leasing,
property sales, development services, commercial mortgage origination and servicing, capital markets (equity
and debt) solutions, commercial property and corporate facilities management, valuation, proprictary research
and real estate investment management. CBRE has a well-balanced, highly diversified client base that includes
over 85 of the Fortune 100 companies as of December 31, 2007.

CBRE Melody & Company

CBREIMelody, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CBRE, is one of the largest originators of commercial real
estate loans in the U.S. based on origination volume. CBREIMelody originates and services commercial
mortgage loans primarily through relationships established with investment banks, commercial banks, specialty
lenders, insurance companies, pension funds and governmental sponsored entities. As of December 31, 2007,
including affiliate and partner offices, CBREiMelody operated in 39 offices nationwide with approximately 328
employees, including 110 originators. As of December 31, 2007, CBRE’s mortgage loan origination and
servicing operations were conducted exclusively through CBREIMelody, and its servicing operations are
conducted by GEMSA.

Staffing

We are managed by our Manager pursuant to the management agreement between our Manager and us. All
of our executive officers are employees of our Manager or one or more of its affiliates. All of the employees of
our Manager are fully dedicated to the operations of our Manager. Through at least the initial term of the
management agreement, our Manager is solely dedicated to the operations of our company. In addition, we have
reasonable access to the investment professionals of each of CBRE and CBREIMelody. Our Manager had 28
employees as of December 31, 2007,

Available Information

Our internet address is www.cbrerealtyfinance.com. We make available, free of charge, on or through the
“SEC Filings” section of our website, annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such
material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. Also posted on our website, and
available in print upon request to our Investor Relations Department, are the charters of our Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics, which governs our directors, officers and employees. Within the time period required by the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the NYSE, we will post on our website any amendment to our Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics and any waiver applicable to our senior financial officers, and our executive
officers or directors. In addition, information concerning purchases and sales of our equity securities by our
directors and Section 16 reporting officers is also posted on our website. You can also read and copy the
materials we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission at its Public Reference Room at 100 F Street,
NE, Washington, DC 20549 (1-800-SEC-0330). The Securities and Exchange Commission maintains an Internet
site (http:/fwww sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information
regarding the issuers that file electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Our investor relations representative can be contacted by telephone: (860) 275-6200, or at our principal
executive office, which is located at 185 Asylum Street, 31st Floor, Hartford, CT 06103, Attention: Investor
Relations Officer.

ITEM 1A.RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Before making an investment decision,
you should carefully consider the following risk factors, together with the other information contained in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. If any of the risks discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K occurs, our
business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations and ability to make distributions to our stockholders
could be materially and adversely affected. If this were to happen, the price of our common stock could decline
significantly and you could lose all or a part of your investment.

Risks Related To Our Business

We have a limited operating history and limited experience operating as a REIT and may not be able to
successfully operate our business or generate sufficient revenue to make or sustain dividends to stockholders.

We have a limited operating history and limited experience operating as a REIT. We are subject to all of the
business risks and uncertainties associated with any new business, including the risk that we will not achieve our
investment objectives as described in this 10-K and that the value of your investment could decline substantially.
Our ability to achieve attractive total returns to our stockholders is dependent on our ability both to generate
sufficient cash flow to pay an attractive dividend and to achieve capital appreciation, and we cannot assure you
we will do either. There can be no assurance that we will be able to generate sufficient revenue from operations
to pay our operating expenses and make distributions to stockholders. For the year ended December 31, 2007, we
recorded approximately $82.1 million of impairment losses on certain of our investments, including a loan loss
reserve of $19.7 mitlion,

The U.S. federal income tax laws impose numerous constraints on the operations of REITs. Our Manager’s
limited experience in managing a portfolio of assets under such constraints may hinder its ability to achieve our
investment objective. In addition, maintaining our REIT qualification limits the types of investments we are able
to make. Our investors did not acquire an interest in CBRE, CBREIMelody or their subsidiaries through our
October 2006 IPO. We can offer no assurance that our Manager will replicate CBRE's or CBREIMelody’s
historical success or our management team’s success in its previous endeavors, and we caution you that our
investment returns could be substantially lower than the returns achieved by those funds or previous endeavors.

The current dislocations in the sub-prime mortgage sector, and the current weakness in the broader financial
market, could adversely affect us and our ability to fund our business, which could result in increases in our
borrowing costs, reduction in our liquidity and reductions in the value of the investments in our portfolio.

The continuing dislocations in the sub-prime mortgage sector and the current weakness in the broader financial
market could adversely affect our ability to enter into new repurchase agreements or obtain other forms of
financing. This could potentially limit our ability to finance our investments and operations, increase our financing
costs and/cr reduce our liquidity. If one or more major market participants fails or withdraws from the market, it
could negatively impact the marketability of all fixed income securities, and this could reduce the value of the
securities in our portfolio, thus reducing our net book value. Furthermore, if we are unable to obtain new financings,
we could be forced to sell our investments at a time when prices are depressed. If this were to occur, it could prevent
us from complying with the REIT asset and income tests necessary to fulfil! our REIT qualification requirements or
could cause us not to qualify for an exemption from the 1940 Act, and otherwise materially harm our results of
operation, financial outlock and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Recent developments in the market for many types of mortgage products have resulted in reduced liguidity
for these assets. Although this reduction in liquidity has been most acute with regard to sub-prime assets, there
has been an overall reduction in liquidity across the credit spectrum of mortgage products.
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In addition, the liquidity in our portfolio may also be adversely affected by possible margin calls under our
repurchase agreement. Qur repurchase agreement allows Wachovia, to varying degrees, to determine a new
market value of the collateral to reflect current market conditions. If Wachovia determines that the value of the
collateral has decreased, it may initiate a margin call and require us to either post additional collateral to cover
such decrease or repay a portion of the outstanding borrowing, subject to commercially reasonable business
standards, on minimal notice as it has in the past. A significant increase in margin calls as a result of spread
widening could harm our liquidity, results of operation, financial condition, business prospects, and our ability to
make distributions to our stockholders. Additionally, in order to obtain cash to satisfy a margin call, we may be
required to liquidate assets at a disadvantageous time, which could cause us to incur further losses and adversely
affect our results of operations, financial condition, and may impair our ability to maintain our current level of
dividends.

We may not be able to access financing sources on favorable terms, or at all, which could adversely affect our
ability to execute our business plan.

We intend to finance our assets over the long-term through a variety of means, including warehouse lines,
repurchase agreements, credit facilities, issuance of CMBS, CDOs and other structured financings. Our ability to
execute this strategy will depend on various conditions in the markets for financing in this manner which are
beyond our control, including lack of liquidity and greater credit spreads. We cannot assure you that these
markets will provide an efficient source of long-term financing for our assets. Currently, they do not. If our
strategy is not viable, we will have to attempt to find alternative forms of long-term financing for our assets, as
secured revolving credit facilities and repurchase facilities, if available, may not accommedate long-term
financing. This could subject us to more recourse indebtedness and the risk that debt service on less efficient
forms of financing woutd require a larger portion of our cash flows, thereby reducing cash available for
distribution to you, funds available for operations as well as for future business opportunities. Due to the current
state of the credit and capital markets, we expect the availability of repurchase agreements, which we historically
have used to finance loan originations that will ultimately be packaged in CDO offerings, will be limited in the
near-term due to reduced liquidity in the CDO and securitization market and a lesser appetite for new CDO
issuances. We have not entered into any new investments using our Wachovia repurchase agreement since July
2007.

Failure to procure adequate capital and funding would adversely affect our results and may, in turn,
negatively affect the market price of shares of our common stock and our ability to distribute dividends.

We depend upon the availability of adequate funding and capital for our operations. As a REIT, we are
required to distribute annually at least 90% of our net taxable income, determined without regard to the deduction
for dividends paid and excluding net capital gain, to our stockholders and are therefore not able to retain significant
amounts of our earnings for new investments. However, CBRE Realty Finance TRS, Inc., our TRS, is able to retain
(and likely will retain) earnings for investment in new capital, subject to the REIT requirements which place a
limitation on the relative value of TRS stock and securities owned by a REIT. The failure to secure acceptable
financing could reduce our taxable income, as our investments would no longer generate the same level of net
interest income due to the lack of funding or increase in funding costs. A reduction in our net income would have an
adverse effect on our liquidity and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders. We cannot assure you that
any, or sufficient, funding or capital will be available to us in the future on terms that are acceptable to us.
Therefore, in the event that we cannot obtain sufficient funding on acceptable terms, there may be a negative impact
on the market price of our common stock and our ability to make distributions to stockholders.

Our financial condition and results of eperation will depend on our ability to manage future growth
effectively.

Our ability to achieve our investment objective depends on our ability to grow, which depends, in turn, on
the management team of our Manager and its ability to identify and invest in securities that meet our investment

24




criteria as well as on our access to financing on acceptable terms. Our ability to grow is also dependent upon our
Manager’s ability to successfully hire, train, supervise and manage new employees. We may not be able to
manage growth effectively or to achieve growth at all. Any failure to manage our future growth effectively could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition results of operations and ability to make
distributions to stockholders.

We may experience reductions in portfolio income which would reduce our ability to make distributions over
time.

We have not made a new investment since July 2007. Due to our status as a REIT, we are required to
distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to stockholders. We may experience declines in the size of
the investment portfolio over time. A reduction in the size of our portfolio would also result in reduced income
available for distribution and thereby lessen our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

We are dependent upon our Manager and certain key personnel of CBRE and CBRE\Melody provided to us
through our Manager and may nof find a suitable replacement if our Manager terminates the management
agreement or such key personnel are no longer available to us.

We have no employees. QOur officers are employees of our Manager. We have no separate facilities and are
completely reliant on our Manager, which has significant discretion as to the implementation of our operating
policies and strategies. We depend on the diligence, skill and network of business contacts of the management of
our Manager, and, through our Manager, of CBRE and CBREIMeledy. The management team of our Manager
evaluates, negotiates, structures, closes and monitors our investments. We believe that our success depends on
the continued service of the management team of our Manager, including Kenneth J. Witkin, Michael Angerthal,
Paul Martin and Thomas Podgorski. The departure of any of the members of the management of our Manager, or
a significant number of the investment professionals of our Manager could have a material adverse effect on our
performance. We are also subject to the risk that cur Manager will terminate the management agreement and that
no suitable replacement will be found to manage us. The initial term of the management agreement expires on
December 31, 2008. Our Manager, at any time prior to June 30, 2008, may elect not to renew the management
agreement upon expiration of its initial term. We can offer no assurance that our Manager will remain our
external manager or that we will continue to have access to our Manager’s, CBRE’s or CBREIMelody's
principals and professionals or their information or deal flow. If our Manager terminates the management
agreement, key officers leave our Manager or we do not have access to CBRE’s or CBREIMelody’s principals
and professionals or their information or deal flow, we may be unable to execute our business plan.

Termination of our management agreement would be costly,

Termination of the management agreement with our Manager without cause is difficult and costly. The
management agreement provides that it may only be terminated without cause following the initial period
annually (i) upon the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of our independent directors, or (ii) by a vote of the
holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock, based upon (1) unsatisfactory
performance by our Manager that is materially detrimental to us or (2) a determination that the compensation
payable to our Manager is not fair, subject to our Manager’s right to prevent such a termination by accepting a
mutually acceptable reduction of management fees. Our Manager will be provided 180 days’ prior notice of any
such termination and will be paid a termination fee equal to the amount of three times the sum of the annual base
management fee and the annual incentive compensation earned by our Manager during the 12-month period
immediately preceding the date of termination, calculated as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal
quarter prior to the date of termination. These provisions may increase the effective cost to us of terminating the
management agreement, thereby adversely affecting our ability to terminate our Manager without cause,

In addition, our Manager may terminate the management agreement (i} upon 60 days’ prior written notice to
us in the event we default in the performance or observation of any material term, condition or covenant in the
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management agreement for a period of 60 days after such written notice or (i) in the event we become regulated
as an “investment company” under the 1940 Act. In the event that the management agreement is terminated by
our Manager as a result of default by us, we are required to pay our Manager a termination fee equal to the
amount of three times the sum of the annual base management fee and the annual incentive compensation earned
by our Manager during the 12-month period immediately preceding the date of the termination, calculated as of
the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter prior to the date of termination. No termination fee is
payable by us if the management agreement is terminated because we have become regulated as an investment
company under the 1940 Act. Additionally, our Manager, prior to June 30, 2008, may elect not to renew the
management agreement upon expiration of its initial term. No termination fee is payable upon such a
non-renewal.

The base management fee payable to our Manager is payable regardless of our performance.

Our Manager is entitled to receive a base management fee that is based on the amount of our equity (defined
in the management agreement as the month-end value, computed in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles, or GAAP, of our stockholders’ equity, adjusted to exclude the effect of any unrealized
gains, losses or other items that do not affect realized net income), regardless of the performance of our portfolio.
For example, we will pay our Manager a base management fee for a specific period despite the fact that we
experienced a net loss during the same period. Our Manager’s entitlement to substantial non-performance based
compensation might reduce its incentive to devote its time and effort to seeking profitable opportunities for our
portfolio. This in turn could adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Our incentive fee may induce our Manager to make certain investments, including speculative investments.

Our Manager’s entitlement to an incentive fee may cause it to invest in high risk investments. In addition to
its base management fee, our Manager is entitled to receive incentive compensation based in part upon cur
achievement of targeted levels of funds from operations (defined in the management agreement as the net
income, computed in accordance with GAAP, excluding gains (losses) from debt restructuring and gains (or
losses) from sales of property, plus depreciation and amortization on real estate assets and non-cash equity
compensation expense, and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures; provided, that
the foregoing calculation of funds from operations shall be adjusted to exclude one-time events pursuant o
changes in GAAP, and may be adjusted to exclude other non-cash charges after discussion between our Manager
and the independent directors and approval by a majority of the independent directors in the case of non-cash
charges). In evaluating investments and other management strategies, the opportunity to earn incentive
compensation based on funds from operations may lead our Manager to place undue emphasis on the
maximization of funds from operations at the expense of other criteria, such as preservation of capital, in order to
achieve higher incentive compensation. Investments with higher yield potential are generally riskier or more
speculative. This could result in increased risk to the value of our invested portfolio and lead us to potentially
recognize impairments or losses. In 2007, we recognized approximately $82 million of impairments and loan loss
reserves. Additionally, because certain non-cash expenses are added to funds from operations, this measurement
may result in higher compensation payable to our Manager for incentive fees than would otherwise be payable if
we were using a GAAP measurement for compensation purposes.

Our Manager manages our portfolio pursuant to very broad investment guidelines and our board of directors
does not approve each investment decision made by our Manager, which may result in our making riskier
investments.

Our Manager is authorized to follow very broad investment guidelines. While our directors periodically
review our investment guidelines and our investment portfolio, they do not review all of our proposed
investments and are only required to approve investments or dispositions that exceed $50 millien (or $75 million
for investments and dispositions having credit ratings of “A” or better by a major rating agency), subject to
certain limited exceptions. In addition, in conducting periodic reviews, our directors may rely primarily on
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information provided to them by our Manager. Furthermore, our Manager may use complex strategies and
transactions entered into by our Manager that may be difficult or impossible to unwind by the time they are
reviewed by our directors. Our Manager has great latitude within the broad investment guidelines in determining
the types of assets it may decide are proper investments for us. Decisions made and investments entered into by
our Manager may not fully reflect your best interests. In addition, cur board of directors may change the
investment guidelines at any time without the approval of our stockholders.

We may change our operational policies without stockholder consent, which may adversely affect the market
price of our common stock and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Our board of directors determines our operational policies and may amend or revise our policies, including
our policies with respect to our REIT qualification, acquisitions, growth, operations, indebtedness, capitalization,
distributions and conflicts of interest or approve transactions that deviate from these policies, without a vote of,
or notice to, our stockholders. In May 2007, we decided to no longer pursue equity real estate investments
through joint ventures arrangements, and to instead concentrate solely on our core investment areas. Operational
policy changes could adversely affect the market price of our common stock and our ability to make distributions
to our stockholders.

We may change our investment strategy and asset allocation without stockholder consent, which may result in
riskier investments.

We may change our investment strategy or asset allocation, including the percentage of assets that may be
invested in each class, or in the case of securities, in a single issuer, at any time without the consent of our
stockholders, which could result in our making investments that are different from, and possibly riskier than, the
investments described in this prospectus. A change in our investment strategy may increase our exposure to
interest rate risk, default risk and real estate market fluctuations, all of which could adversely affect the market
price of our common stock and our ability to make distributions to you. Furthermore, a change in our asset
allocation could result in our making investments in instrument categories different from those described herein.
In May 2007, we decided to no longer pursue equity real estate investments through joint ventures arrangements,
and to instead concentrate solely on the fixed-income arena, Operational policy changes could adversely affect
the market price of our common stock and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

There are conflicts of interest in our relationship with our Manager, which could result in decisions that are
not in the best interests of our stockholders.

We are entirely dependent upon our Manager for our day-to-day management and do not have any
employees or independent officers. Our chairman, chief executive officer, chief financial officer and executive
vice prestdents also serve as officers and/or directors of our Manager, CBRE and/or CBREIMelody. In addition,
one of our other directors is affiliated with our Manager, CBRE and/or CBREIMelody. As a result, our
management agreement with our Manager was negotiated between related parties and its terms, including fees
payable, may not be as favorable to us as if it had been negotiated with an unaffiliated third party. In addition, we
may enter into transactions in the future with CBRE, CBREIMelody or their affiliates that may result in a conflict
of interest.

We may compete with future investment entities for access to CBRE and its affiliates.

Through at least the initial term of cur management agreement, our company is the exclusive investment
vehicle, subject to certain exceptions, sponsored by CBRE or its affiliates that focuses primarily on the
acquisition and finance of real estate-related loans, structured finance debt investments and CMBS. However,
there can be no assurance that CBRE or its affiliates will not sponsor other investment vehicles in the future, If
any such investment vehicles have an investment focus similar to our focus, we may be competing for access to
the benefits that we expect our relationship with CBRE and its affiliates to provide to us.
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We leverage our investments, which may adversely affect our return on our investments and may reduce cash
available for distribution to our stockholders.

We leverage our investments through borrowings, generally through the use of warehouse facilities, bank
credit facilities, repurchase agreements, secured loans, securitizations, including the issuance of CDQOs, loans to
entities in which we hold, directly or indirectly, interests in pools of assets, and other borrowings. Our charter
contains no limitations on our use of leverage. As of December 31, 2007, our outstanding indebtedness was $1.5
billion, secured by 66 loans, 67 CMBS investments and two joint venture investments with an aggregate carrying
value of approximately $1.7 billion, representing 80.4% of our assets by carrying value. At December 31, 2007,
our feverage ratio was 7.3 times. The percentage of leverage varies depending on our ability to obtain credit
facilities and the lender’s and rating agencies’ estimate of the stability of the investments’ cash flow. We intend
to continue to use leverage to acquire all of our investments consistent with the policy described above, although
our board of directors may alter this policy at any time. Our return on our investments and cash available for
distribution to our stockholders may be reduced to the extent that changes in market conditions increase the cost
of our financing relative to the income that can be derived from the assets acquired. Our debt service payments
will reduce cash flow available for distributions to stockholders. We may not be able to meet our debt service
obligations and, to the extent that we cannot, we risk the loss of some or all of our assets to foreclosure or sale io
satisfy the obligations. In addition, if a property or properties are mortgaged to secure payment of indebtedness
and we are unable to meet required mortgage payments, the mortgage securing the property could be foreclosed
upon by, or the property could be otherwise transferred to the mortgagee with a consequent loss of asset value
and income to us and our stockholders. We leverage certain of our assets through warehouse agreements. A
decrease in the value of these assets may lead to margin calls which we will have to satisfy. We may not have the
funds available to satisfy any such margin calls and may have to sell assets at a time when we might not
otherwise choose to do so. '

Further, Wachovia and other future credit facility providers may require us to maintain a certain amount of
cash uninvested or set aside unlevered assets sufficient to maintain a specified liquidity position which would
allow us to satisfy our collateral obligations. As a result, we may not be able to leverage our assets as fully as we
would choose, which could reduce our return on assets. In the event that we are unable to meet these collateral
obligations, our financial condition and ability to make distributions could deteriorate rapidly.

Lenders may require us to enter into resfrictive covenants relating to our operations.

When we obtain financing, lenders could impose restrictions on us that would affect our ability to incur
additional debt, our capability to make distributions to stockholders and our flexibility to determine our operating
policies. Loan documents we execute will contain negative covenants that may limit, among other things, our
ability to repurchase stock, distribute more than a certain amount of our funds from operations, and employ
leverage beyond certain amounts. For example, though we have legal title to our assets and have all of the risks
and rewards of ownership, under the master repurchase agreements for Wachovia, the lender has a security
interest in certain assets as collateral for our obligation under the related borrowings. Accordingly, we are
prehibited, among other things, to take any action which would directly or indirectly impair or adversely affect
the lender’s security interest the underlying securities or loans, to transfer any interest in the underlying loans to
any person other than the lender, to modify in any material respect or terminate any of our organizational
documents or to create or permit any lien or encumbrance on the underlying securities or loans.

The warehouse agreements and credit facilities that we use to finance our investments may require us te
provide additional collateral.

We use credit facilities, including warehouse agreements, to finance our investments. If the market value of
the loans or securities pledged or sold by us to a funding source decline in value, we may be required by the
lending institution to provide additional collateral or pay down a portion of the funds advanced. For example,
under the master repurchase agreement with Wachovia, or the Wachovia Warehouse Facility, the lender may, by
notice to us, require us to transfer to the lender cash or additional collateral acceptable by the lender in its sole
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and absolute discretion not later than one business day after such notice was given. We may not have the funds
available to pay down our debt, which could result in defaults. Posting additional collateral to support our credit
facilities will reduce our liquidity and limit our ability to leverage our assets. In the event we do not have
sufficient liquidity to meet such requirements, lending institutions can accelerate our indebtedness, increase
interest rates and terminate our ability to borrow. Such a situation would likely result in a rapid deterioration of
our financial condition and possibly necessitate a filing for protection under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code.

Further, credit facility providers may require us to maintain a certain amount of cash uninvested or set aside
unlevered assets sufficient to maintain a specified liquidity position which would allow us to satisfy our collateral
obligations. As a result, we may not be able to leverage our assets as fully as we would choose, which could
reduce our return on assets. In the event that we are unable to meet these collateral obligations, our financial
condition could deteriorate rapidiy.

If our Manager ceases to be our manager pursuant to the management agreements, financial institutions
providing our credit facilities may not provide future financing to us.

The financial institutions that finance our investments pursuant to our credit facilities and our warehouse
agreements may require that our Manager remain our manager pursuant to the management agreement. If our
Manager ceases to be our manager, it could constitute an event of default and each of the financial institutions
under these credit facilities would have the right to terminate their facility and their obligation to advance funds
to us to finance our future investments. If our Manager ceases to be our manager for any reason and we are
unable to obtain financing under these or replacement credit facilities, our growth may be limited.

We operate in a highly competitive market for investment opportunities.

A number of entities compete with us to make the types of investments that we plan to make. We compete
with other REITs, public and private funds, commercial and investment banks and commercial finance
companies. Many of our competitors are substantially larger and have considerably greater financial, technical
and marketing resources than we do. Several other REITs have recently raised, or are expected to raise,
significant amounts of capital, and may have investment objectives that overlap with ours, which may create
competition for investment opportunities. Some competitors may have a lower cost of funds and access to
funding sources that are not available to us. In addition, some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances
or different risk assessments, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and establish
more relationships than us. We cannot assure you that the competitive pressures we face will not have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Also, as a resuft of this competition,
we may not be able to take advantage of attractive investment opportunities from time to time, and we can offer
no assurance that we will be able to identify and make investments that are consistent with our investment
objective.

If we issue senior securities we will be exposed fo additional restrictive covenants and limitations on our
operative flexibility, which could adversely affect our ability to pay dividends.

If we decide to issue senior securities in the future, it is likely that they will be governed by an indenture or
other instrument containing covenants restricting our operating flexibility. Holders of senior securities may be
granted specific rights, including but not limited to: the right to hold a perfected security interest in certain of our
assets, the right to accelerate payments due under the indenture, rights to restrict dividend payments, and rights to
require approval to sell assets, Additionally, any convertible or exchangeable securities that we issue in the future
may have rights, preferences and privileges more favorable than those of our common stock. We, and indirectly
our stockholders, will bear the cost of issuing and servicing such securities.
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We may not be able to successfully complete securitization transactions.

In addition to issuing senior securities to raise capital as described above, we may in the future, and to the
extent consistent with REIT requirements, seek to securitize certain of our portfolio investments to generate cash
for funding new investments, although we do not expect the markets for CDOs to be available in the near-term.
This would involve creating a special-purpose vehicle, contributing a pool of our assets to the entity, and selling
interests in the entity on a non-recourse basis to purchasers (who we would expect to be willing to accept a lower
interest rate to invest in investment grade loan pools). We would retain all or a portion of the equity in the
securitized pool of portfolio investments. When we begin to invest again,, we expect we will initially finance our
investments with relatively short-term credit facilities. We would use these short-term facilities to finance the
acquisition of securities until a sufficient quantity of securities is accumulated, at which time we would attempt
to refinance these facilities through a securitization, such as a CDO issuance, or other tong-term financing, if
available. As a result, we are subject to the risk that we may not be able to acquire. during the period that our
short-term facilities are available, a sufficient amount of eligible securities to maximize the efficiency of a CDO
issuance, if available. We also bear the risk that we may not be able to obtain short-term credit facilities or may
not be able to renew any short-term credit facilities after they expire should we find it necessary to extend our
short-term credit facilities to allow more time to seek and acquire the necessary eligible securities for a long-term
financing. The inability to secure new short-term credit facilities may require us to seek more costly financing for
our investments or to liquidate assets. In addition, conditions in the capital markets may make the issuance of a
CDO impractical at all or when we do have a sufficient pool of collateral. The inability to securitize our portfolio
would hurt our performance and ability to grow our business. At the same time, the securitization of our portfolio
investments might expose us to losses, as the residual portfolio investments in which we do not sell interests will
tend to be riskier and more likely to generate losses.

Investor demand for commercial real estate CDOs has been substantially curtailed.

The recent turmoil in the structured finance markets, in particular the sub-prime residential loan market, has
negatively impacted the credit markets generally, and, as a result, investor demand for commercial real estate
CDOs has been substantially curtailed. In recent years, we have relied, to a substantial extent, on CDO financings
to obtain match funded financing for our investments. Until the market for commercial real estate CDOs
recovers, we may be unable to utilize CDOs to finance our investments and we may need to utilize less favorable
sources of financing to finance our investments on a long-term basis. There can be no assurance as 10 when
demand for commercial real estate CDOs will return or the terms of such securities investors will demand or
whether we wili be able to issue CDOs to finance our investments on terms beneficial to us.

The use of CDO financings with over-collateralization requirements may have a negative impact on our cash

flow.

If we issue CDOs, we expect that their terms will generally provide that the principal amount of assets must
exceed the principal balance of the related bonds by a certain amount, commonly referred to as “over-
collateralization.” We anticipate that the CDO terms will provide that, if certain delinquencies and/or losses
exceed the specified levels based on the analysis by the rating agencies (or any financial guaranty insurer) of the
characteristics of the asseis collateratizing the bonds, the required level of over-collateralization may be
increased or may be prevented from decreasing as would otherwise be permitted if losses or delinguencies did
not exceed those levels. Other tests (based on delinquency levels or other criteria) may restrict our ability to
receive net income from assets collateralizing the obligations. We cannot assure you that the perfermance tests
will be satisfied. In advance of completing negotiations with the rating agencies or other key transaction parties
on our future CDO financings, we cannot assure you of the actual terms of the CDO delinquency tests, over-
collateralization terms, cash flow release mechanisms or other significant factors regarding the calculation of net
income to us. Failure to obtain favorable terms with regard to these matters may materially and adversely affect
the availability of net income to us. If our assets fail to perform as anticipated, our over-collateralization or other
credit enhancement expense associated with our CDO financings will increase.
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We may be required to repurchase loans that we have sold or to indemnify holders of our CDOs.

If any of the loans we originate or acquire and sell or securitize do not comply with representations and
warranties that we make about certain characteristics of the loans, the borrowers and the underlying properties,
we may be required to repurchase those loans (including from a trust vehicle used to facilitate a structured
financing of the assets through CDOQs) or replace them with substitute loans. In addition, in the case of loans that
we have sold instead of retained, we may be required to indemnify persons for losses or expenses incurred as a
result of a breach of a representation or warranty. Repurchased loans typically require a significant allocation of
working capital to carry on our books, and our ability to borrow against such assets is limited. Any significant
repurchases or indemnification payments could materially and adversely affect our financial condition, operating
results, and ability to make distributions to stockholders.

Lack of diversification in number of investments increases our dependence on individual investments.

If we acquire larger loans or property interests, our portfolio will be concentrated in a smaller number of
assets, increasing the risk of loss to stockholders if a default or other problem arises. As of December 31, 2007,
we had $82.8 million of investments with a single sponsor and, subsequent to December 31, 2007, these
investments were in default and classified as non-performing.

In a period of rising interest rates, our interest expense could increase while the interest we earn on our fixed-
rate assets would not change, which would adversely affect our profitability.

Our operating results depend in large part on differences between the income from our assets, net of credit
losses, and financing costs. We anticipate that, in most cases, for any period during which our assets are not
match-funded, the income from such assets will respond more slowly to interest rate fluctuations than the cost of
our borrowings, Consequently, changes in interest rates, particularly shori-term interest rates, inay significantly
influence our net income, Increases in these rates will tend to decrease our net income and market value of our
assets. Interest rate fluctuations resulting in our interest expense exceeding our interest income would result in
operating losses for us and may limit or eliminate our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

If credit spreads widen before we obtain long-term financing for our assets, the value of our assets may suffer.

We price our assets based on our assumption about future credit spreads for financing those assets. We have
obtained and will attempt to obtain in the future longer term financing for our assets using structure financing
techniques. Such issuance entail interest rates set at a spread over a certain benchmark, such as the yield on
United States Treasury obligations, swaps or LIBOR. If the spread that investors are paying on our current
structured finance vehicle and will pay on future structured finance vehicles we may engage in over the
benchmark widens and the rates we are charging or will charge on our securitized assets are not increased
accordingly, this may reduce our income or cause losses and affect our ability to make distributions to
stockholders.

Hedging against interest rate exposure may adversely affect our earnings, which could reduce our cash
available for distribution to our stockholders.

We may pursue various hedging strategies to seek to reduce our exposure to losses from adverse changes in
interest rates. Our hedging activity will vary in scope based on the level and volatility of interest rates, the type of
assets held, and other changing market conditions. Interest rate hedging may fail to protect or could adversely
affect us because, among other things:

* interest rate hedging can be expensive, particularly during periods of rising and volatile interest rates;

+ avatlable interest rate hedges may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk for which
protection is sought;
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« the duration of the hedge may not match the duration of the related liability;

« the amount of income that a REIT may earn from hedging transactions (other than through TRSs) to
offset interest rate losses is limited by U.S. federal tax provisions governing REITs;

« the credit quality of the party owing money on the hedge may be downgraded to such an extent that it
impairs our ability to sell or assign our side of the hedging transaction; and

+ the party owing money in the hedging transaction may default on its obligation to pay.

Our hedging activity may adversely affect our earnings, which could reduce our cash available for
distribution to our stockholders.

Declines in the market values of our investments may adversely affect periodic reported results and credit
availability, which may reduce earnings and, in turn, cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

A portion of our assets are classified for accounting purposes as “‘available-for-sale.” Changes in the market
values of those assets will be directly charged or credited to stockholders” equity. As a result, a decline in values
may reduce the book value of our assets. Moreover, if the decline in value of an available-for-sale security is
other than temporary, such decline will reduce earnings.

A decline in the market value of our assets may adversely affect us particularly in instances where we have
borrowed money based on the market value of those assets. If the market value of those assets declines, the
lender may require us to post additional collateral to support the loan. If we were unable to post the additional
collateral, we would have to sell the assets at a time when we might not otherwise choose to do so. A reduction in
credit available may reduce our earnings and, in turn, cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

If we fail to achieve adequate operating cash flow, our ability to make distributions will be adversely affected.

As a REIT, we must distribute annually at least 90% of our net taxable income to our stockholders,
determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains. Our ability to
make and sustain cash distributions is based on many factors, including the return on our investments, operating
expense levels and certain restrictions imposed by Maryland law. Some of the factors are beyond our control and
a change in any such factor could affect our ability to pay future dividends. No assurance can be given as to our
ability to pay distributions to stockholders.

Our reserves for loan losses may prove inadegquate, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

We maintain and regularly evaluate financial reserves in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, or GAAP. Our reserves reflect management’s judgment of the probability and severity of losses. We
cannot be certain that our judgment will prove to be correct and that reserves will be adequate over time to reflect
losses due to unanticipated adverse changes in the economy or events adversely affecting specific assets,
borrowers, industries in which our borrowers operate or markets in which our borrowers or their properties are
located. If our reserves for credit losses prove inadequate, we could suffer losses which would have a material
adverse effect on our financial performance, the market price of our common stock and our ability to make
distributions to our stockholders.

We are subject to the risk that provisions of our loan agreements may be unenforceable.

Our rights and obligations with respect to our loans are governed by written loan agreements and related
documentation. It is possible that a court could determine that one or more provisions of a loan agreement are
unenforceable, such as a loan prepayment provision or the provisions governing our security interest in the
underlying collateral. If this were to happen with respect to a material asset or group of assets we could be
adversely affected.
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Maintenance of our 1940 Act exemption imposes limits on our operations.

We intend to conduct our operations so as not to become regulated as an investment company under the
1940 Act. Because we are a holding company that will conduct our businesses through subsidiaries, the securities
issued by our subsidiaries that are excepted from the definition of “investment company” under
Section 3(c){1)} or Section 3(c)}(7) of the 1940 Act, together with any other investment securitics we may own,
may not have a combined value in excess of 40% of the value of our total assets on an unconsolidated basis. This
requirement limits the types of businesses in which we may engage through our subsidiaries. If we or our
subsidiaries fail to maintain our exceptions or exemptions from the 1940 Act, we could, among other things, be
required either (a) to change the manner in which we conduct our operations to avoid being required to register as
an investment company or {b} to register as an investment company, either of which could have an adverse effect
on our business and the market price for our common stock.

In addition, certain of cur wholly owned subsidiaries intend to qualify for an exemption from registration
under Section 3(c)}5)(C) of the 1940 Act, which generally means that at least 55% of each of their portfolios
must be comprised of qualifying assets and 80% of each of their portfolios must be comprised of qualifying
assets and real estate-related assets under the 1940 Act. To comply with these regulations, we may from time o
time buy or originate whole loans, B Notes or mezzanine loans, where we have the unilateral right to (i} instruct
the servicer to foreclose on a defaulted mortgage loan, (ii) replace the servicer in the event the servicer, in its
discretion, elects not to foreclose on such a loan, and (iii} purchase the A Note in the event of a default on the
meortgage loan and foreclose on the loan, and other qualifying assets. We will treat certain mezzanine loans
(Tier 1 mezzanine loans) as qualifying real estate assets, if, among other conditions, we (i) exercise ongoing
control rights over the management of the underlying property, (ii) have the right to readily cure a default or
purchase the mortgage loan, and (iii} have the right to foreclose on the collateral and, through our ownership in
the property, the owning entity becomes the owner of the underlying property. Although we intend to monitor
our portfolio periodically and prior to each acquisition, there can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain
this exemption from registration. Further, we may not be able to invest in sufficient qualifying and/or real estate-
related assets and future revisions of the 1940 Act or further guidance from the SEC Staff may cause us to lose
our exemption or force us to re-evaluate our portfolio and our business strategy. Such changes may prevent us
from operating our business successfully,

As part of its duties under the management agreement, our Manager periodically evaluates our assets, and
also evaluates prior to an acquisition or origination the structure of each prospective investment, to determine
whether the investment will be a qualifying asset for purposes of maintaining our exemption or exclusion from
registration under the 1940 Act, and will consult with counsel when necessary. Failure to maintain this
exemption or exclusion would require us to significantly restructore our business plan. For example, because
affiliate transactions are prohibited under the 1940 Act, failure to maintain our exemption or exclusion would
force us to terminate our management agreement and all other agreements with affiliates, which could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to operate our business. If the management agreement is terminated, it
could constitute an event of default under our credit facilities and financial institutions would have the right to
terminate their facilities and their obligation to advance funds to us to finance our future investments. In addition,
we may not be able to identify a replacement manager on favorable terms or at all,

Rapid changes in the values of our other real estate-related investments may make it more difficult for us to
maintain our qualification as a REIT or exemption from the 1940 Act.

If the market value or income potential of real estate-related investments declines as a result of increased
interest rates, prepayment rates or other factors, we may need to increase our real estate investments and income
and/or liquidate our non-qualifying assets in order to maintain our REIT qualification or exemption from the
1940 Act. If the decline in real estate asset values and/or income occurs quickly, this may be especially difficult
to accomplish. This difficulty may be exacerbated by the illiquid nature of many of our non-real estate assets. We
may have to make investment decisions that we otherwise would not make absent the REIT and 1940 Act
considerations.
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We face risks related to securities litigation that could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operation. We may face additional litigation in the Sfuture that could also
harm our business.

On October 30, 2007, a class action tawsuit was commenced in the United States District Court for the
District of Connecticut against us and our chief financial officer and former chief executive officer seeking
remedies under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The complaint alleges that the registration statement and
prospectus relating to our October 2006 IPO contained material misstatements and material omissions.
Specificaily, the plaintiff alleges that management had knowledge of certain loan impairments and did not
properly disclose or record such impairments in the financial statements. The plaintiff seeks to represent a class
of all persons who purchased or otherwise acquired our common stock between September 29, 2006 and
August 6, 2007 and seeks damages in an unspecified amount.

In addition, on January 15, 2008 and February 7, 2008, we received complaints from an attorney
representing two stockholders, alleging that certain officers and directors of our company knowingly violated
GAAP for certain of our assets. The stockholders demanded that we take action to recover from such directors
and officers the amount of damages sustained by us as a result of the misconduct alleged therein and to correct
deficiencies in our internal conirols and accounting practices that allowed the misconduct to occur.

We believe that the allegations and claims against us and our directors, chief financial officer and former
chief executive officer are without merit and we intend to contest these claims vigorously. However, if we were
not successful in our defense of such claims, we could be forced to make significant payments to the plaintiffs,
and such payments could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows to the extent such payments are not covered by our insurance carriers. Even if our defense against
such claims were successful, the litigations could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention
and resources, which could adversely affect our business. We are not presently able to estimate potential losses to
us, if any, related to these lawsuits.

We are subject to hostile actions initiated by one of our steckholders, Arbor Realty Trust, Inc., a Maryland
corporation, or Arbor, in connection with a proxy contest, which will increase our expenses and require the time
and attention of our management which could reduce their time available to focus on the day-to-day operations
of our company. As a result, dealing with such hostile actions may have an adverse effect on our business.

On January 28, 2008, Arbor submitted to us a notice to nominate a dissident slate of directors for election at
our 2008 annual stockholders meeting and, without first consulting with us, concurrently filed a complaint in the
United States District Court for the District of Maryland requesting declaratory and injunctive relief to permit
Arbor to submit to us such stockholder notice on the date thereof, although it would not be considered timely
submitted under the advance notice provisions of our by-laws. We responded to Arbor on February 4, 2008 that
our board of directors determined to waive such deficiency and deemed Arbor’s notice to be timely submitted.
Arbor subsequently dismissed this litigation on February 5, 2008.

On February 4, 2008, we received a stockholder demand letter from Arbor, dated as of February 1, 2008,
demanding that we provide, among other things, a list of our stockholders to Arbor for inspection pursuant to
Section 1315 of the New York Business Corporation Law. We promptly responded to Arbor on February 8, 2008
stating that we were uncertain whether Arbor could rely on the New York statute, that its demand, if permissible,
requested more information than the statute entitled it to, and that we had concerns regarding the privacy of our
stockholders. Further, we informed Arbor that since we are incorporated in the State of Maryland and subject to
Maryland law, we respecifully requested that Arbor resubmit its demand letter in accordance with Maryland law
where there would be no uncertainty as to the statutory applicability. On February 26, 2008, Arbor filed a
complaint in the Supreme Court of the State of New York in and for the County of New York seeking relief from
the court that we must comply with the New York Business Corporation Law and produce our list of
stockholders for Arbor’s inspection. On March 10, 2008, we entered into a settlement agreement with Arbor and
this litigation was withdrawn.
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However, we anticipate future lawsuits from Arbor. In addition, we will be engaging in a proxy contest with
Arbor for the election of directors. All of these matters will likely cause us to incur significant costs (irrespective
of the outcome of any litigation or the proxy contest), including additional costs of various outside advisors in
connection with such matters. Additionally, these actions will require additional time and attention of our
management which could reduce their time available to focus on the day-to-day operations of our company and
which in turn could have an adverse effect on our business.

We are highly dependent on information systems and third parties, and systems failures could significantly
disrupt our business, which may, in turn, negatively affect the market price of our common stock and our
ability to pay dividends.

Qur business is highly dependent on communications and information systems. Any failure or interruption
of our systems could cause delays or other problems in our securities trading activities, which could have a
material adverse effect on our operating results and negatively affect the market price of our common stock and
our ability to make distributions to stockholders.

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war may affect the market for our common stock, the industry
in which we conduct our operations and our profitability.

Terrorist attacks may harm our results of operations and your investment. We cannot assure you that there
will not be further terrorist attacks against the U.S. or U.S. businesses. These attacks or armed conflicts may
directly impact the property underlying our asset-based securities or the securities markets in general. Losses
resulting from these types of events are uninsurable!

More generally, any of these events could cause consumer confidence and spending to decrease or result in
increased volatility in the U.S. and worldwide financial markets and economy. Adverse economic conditions could
harm the value of the property underlying our asset-backed securities or the securities markets in general which
could harm our operating results and revenues and may result in the volatility of the value of our securities.

Risks Related To Qur Investments
We may not realize gains or income from our investments,

We seek to generate both current income and capital appreciation. However, the securities we invest in may
not appreciate in value and, in fact, may decline in value, and the debt securities we invest in may default on
interest and/or principal payments. Accordingly, we may not be able to realize gains or income from our
investments. Any gains that we do realize may not be sufficient to offset any other losses we experience. Any
income that we realize may not be sufficient to offset our expenses.

We have incurred substantial impairment of our assets and may incur significant impairments in the future.

Due to a variety of factors, including current adverse market conditions affecting the real estate market, we
have incurred substantial impairments of our assets. These impairments have resulted in significant losses, Our
assets may suffer additional impairments in the future causing us to recognize significant losses. At
December 31, 2007, we had approximately $75 million of watch-list and non-performing assets, net of a $20
million loan loss reserve, representing approximately 4% of our total assets and 35% of our total equity. If we are
unsuccessful in renegotiating, selling or otherwise resolving these matters, we may experience loss of principal
or reduced income available for distributions, Investors and lenders alike could lose confidence in the quality and
value of our assets. These impairments, or the perception that these impairments may occur, can depress our
stock price, harm our liquidity and materially adversely impact our results of operations. We may be forced to
sell substantial assets at a time when the market is depressed in order 1o support or enhance our liquidity. Despite
our need to sell substantial assets, we may be unable to make such sales on favorable terms or at all, further
materially damaging our liquidity and operations. If we are unable to maintain adequate liquidity as a result of
these impairments or otherwise, you could lose some or all of your investment.
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Our real estate investments are subject to risks particular to real property.

We own assets secured by real estate, interests in joint ventures that own real estate do, and in the future and
may own real estate directly. Real estate investments will be subject to various risks, including:

« acts of God, including earthquakes, floods and other natural disasters, which may result in uninsured
losses;

= acts of war or terrorism, including the consequences of terrorist attacks, such as those that occurred on
September 11, 2001;

« adverse changes in national and local economic and market conditions, including the credit and
securitization markets;

- changes in governmental laws and regulations, fiscal policies and zoning ordinances and the related
costs of compliance with laws and regulations, fiscal policies and ordinances;

«  costs of remediation and liabilities associated with environmental conditions such as indoor mold; and

» the potential for uninsured or under-insured property losses.

If any of these or similar events occurs. it may reduce our return from an affected property or investment
and reduce or eliminate our ability to make distributions to stockholders.

Qur assets may include high yield and subordinated corporate securities that have greater risks of loss than
secured senior loans and if those losses are realized, it could adversely affect our earnings, which could
adversely affect our cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

We invest in high yield and subordinated securities. However, we do not have any specific policy with
respect to allocations in high yield and subordinated securities and our charter contains no limitations on the
percentage we may invest in these assets. These investments involve a higher degree of risk than long-term
senior secured loans, First, the high yield securities may not be secured by mortgages or liens on assets. Even if
secured, these high yield securities may have higher loan-to-value ratios than a senior secured loan. Furthermore,
our right to payment and the security interest may be subordinated to the payment rights and security interests of
the senior lender. Therefore, we may be limited in our ability to enforce our rights to collect these loans and to
recover any of the loan balance through a foreclosure of collateral.

Certain of these high yield and subordinated securities may have an interest only payment schedule, with the
principal amount remaining outstanding and at risk until the maturity of the obligation. We do not have any
policy regarding the maximum term (maturity) on these assets. In this case, a borrower’s ability to repay its
obligation may be dependent upon a liquidity event that will enable the repayment of the obligation.

In addition to the above, numerous other factors may affect a company’s ability to repay its obligation,
including the failure to meet its business plan, a downturn in its industry or negative ecoromic conditions. A
deterioration in a company’s financial condition and prospects may be accompanied by deterioration in the
collateral for the obligation. Losses in our high yield and subordinated securities could adversely affect our
eamnings, which could adversely affect cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

High yield and subordinated securities from highly leveraged companies may have a greater risk of loss
which, in turn, could adversely affect cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

Leverage may have material adverse consequences to the companies in which we will hold investments.
These companies may be subject to restrictive financial and operating covenants. The leverage may impair these
companies’ ability to finance their future operations and capital needs. As a result, these companies’ flexibility to
respond to changing business and economic conditions and to business opportunities may be limited. A leveraged
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company’s income and net assets will tend to increase or decrease at a greater rate than if borrowed money were
not used. As a result, leveraged companies have a greater risk of loss. Losses on our investments could adversely
affect our earnings, which could adversely affect cash available for distibution 10 our stockholders.

We retain equity interests of CDO issuances and such interests involve significant risks, including that CDO
equity receives distributions from the CDO only if the CDO generates enough income to first pay the holders
of its debt securities and its expenses.

We retain equity interests of CDQ issuances. However, we do not have any specific policy with respect to
allocations in CDOs and our charter contains no limitations on the percentage we may invest in this asset class. A
CDO is a special purpose vehicle that purchases collateral (such as real estate-related investments, bank loans or
asset-Dacked securities) that is expected 10 generate a siream of interest or other income. The CDO issues various
classes of securities that participate in that income stream, typically one or more classes of debt instruments and a
class of equity securities. The equity is usually entitled to all of the income generated by the CDO after the CDO
pays all of the interest due on the debt securities and its expenses. However, there will be little or no income
available to the CDO equity if there are defaults by the issuers of the underlying collateral and those defaults
exceed a certain amount. In that event, the value of our investment in the CDQs equity could decrease
substantially. In addition, the equity securities of CDOs are generally illiquid, and because they represent a
leveraged investment in the CDO's assets, the value of the equity securities will generally have greater
fluctuations than the values of the underlying collateral.

We may enter into warchouse agreements in connection with CDOs and if the investment in the CDO is not
consummated, the warehoused collateral will be sold and we must bear any loss resulting fromn the purchase
price of the collateral exceeding the sale price.

In connection with CDOs that our Manager structures for us, we expect to enter into warehouse agreements
with investment banks or other financial institutions, pursuant to which the institution will initially finance the
purchase of the collateral that will be transferred to the CDO. Our Manager will select the collateral. If the CDO
transaction is not consummated, the institution may liquidate the warehoused collateral and we would have to
pay any amount by which the original purchase price of the collateral exceeds its sale price, subject to negotiated
caps, if any, on our exposure. In addition, regardless of whether the CDO transaction is consummated, if any of
the warehoused collateral is sold before the consummation, we will have to bear any resulting loss on the sale.
The amount at risk in connection with the warehouse agreements supporting our investments in CDOs, generally
is the amount that we have agreed to invest in the equity securities of the CDO. Although we would expect to
complete the CDO transaction within about three to nine months after the warehouse agreement is signed, we
cannot assure you that we would in fact be able to complete any such transaction, or complete it within the
expected time period.

Increases in interest rates could negatively affect the value of our investments, which could result in reduced
earnings or losses and negatively affect the cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

We invest indirectly in mortgage loans by purchasing CMBS. Under a normal yield curve, an investment in
CMBS will decline in value if long-term interest rates increase, Declines in market value may ultimately reduce
earnings or result in losses to us, which may negatively affect cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

A significant risk associated with our investment in CMBS is that both long-term and short-term interest rales
will increase significantly. If long-term rates increased significantly, the market value of these CMBS would decline
and the duration and weighted average life of the investments would increase. We could realize a loss if the
securities were sold. At the same time, an increase in short-term interest rates would increase the amount of interest
owed on the warehouse agreements we may enter into in order to finance the purchase of CMBS,
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Market values of our investments may decline without any general increase in interest rates for a number of
reasons, such as increases in defaults, increases in voluntary prepayments for those investments that are subject
to prepayment risk, and widening of credit spreads.

Some of our portfolio investments are recorded at fair value as determined in good faith by our management
and, as a result, there is uncertainty as to the value of these investments.

Some of our portfolio investments are in the form of securities that are not publicly traded. The fair value of
securities and other investments that are not publicly traded is not readily determinable. We value these
investments quarterly at fair value as determined in good faith by our management using internal pricing models
and input from counterparties and reported to our board of directors. Because such valuations are inherently
uncertain, may fluctuate over short periods of time and may be based on estimates, our determinations of fair
value may differ materially from the values that would have been used if a ready market for these securities
existed. The value of our common stock could be adversely affected if our determinations regarding the fair
value of these investments were materially higher than the values that we ultimately realize upon their disposal.

Negative covenants contained in our repurchase agreements increase the possibility that we will be unable to
maintain adequate capital and funding and may reduce cash available for distribution.

We historically have obtained a significant portion of our funding for new investments through the use of
repurchase facilities. Our repurchase agreement includes negative covenants that, if breached, may cause
transactions to be terminated early. The repurchase agreements for our repurchase facility does not include
substantive provisions other than those contained in the standard master repurchase agreement as published by
the Bond Market Association. The occurrence of an event of default or termination event would give our
counterparty the option to terminate all repurchase transactions existing with us and make any amount due by us
to the counterparty payable immediately. If we are required to terminate outstanding repurchase transactions and
are unable to negotiate more favorable funding terms, cash will be negatively impacted. This may reduce the
amount of capital available for investing and/or may negatively impact our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders. In addition, we may have to sell assets at a time when we might not otherwise choose to do so.

A prolonged econemic slowdown, a recession or declining real estate values could impair our investments and
harm our operating results.

We believe the risks associated with our business will be more severe during periods of economic slowdown
or recession if these periods are accompanied by declining real estate values. Declining real estate values will
likely reduce our level of, or halt our making of, new mortgage loan originations, since borrowers often use
increases in the value of their existing properties to support the purchase or investment in additional properties.
Borrowers may also be less able to pay principal and interest on our loans if the real estate economy weakens.
Further, declining real estate values significantly increase the likelihood that we will incur losses on our loans in
the event of default because the value of our collateral may be insufficient to cover our cost on the loan. Any
sustained period of increased payment delinquencies, foreclosures or losses could adversely affect both our net
interest income from loans in our portfolio as well as our ability to originate, sell and securitize loans, which
would significantly harm our revenues, results of operations, financial condition, business prospects and our
ability to make distributions to you. During 2007, there was significant volatility in the capital markets and, as a
result, we have not entered into a new investment since July 2007. We believe we are currently in a period of
economic sfowdown and that such conditions will likely persist through the remainder of 2008.

We may be adversely affected by unfavorable economic changes in geographic areas where properties that we
may acquire are concentrated.

Adverse conditions in the areas where the properties underlying our investments are located (including
business layoffs or downsizing, industry slowdowns, changing demographics and other factors) and local real
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estate conditions (such as oversupply of, or reduced demand for, office and industrial properties) may have an
adverse effect on the value of the properties underlying our investments. A material decline in the demand or the
ability of tenants to pay rent for office and industrial space in these geographic areas may result in a material
decline in our cash available for distribution.

+

Joint investments could be adversely affected by our lack of sole decision-making authority and reliance upon
a co-venturer’s financial conditions,

We co-invest with third parties through partnerships, joint ventures, co-tenancies or other entities, acquiring
non-controlling interests in, or sharing responsibility for managing the affairs of, a property, partnership, joint
venture, co-tenancy or other entity. Therefore, we will not be in a position to exercise sole decision-making
authority regarding that property, partnership, joint venture or other entity. Investments in partnerships, joint
ventures, or other entities may involve risks not present were a third party not invelved, including the possibility
that our partners, co-tenants or co-venturers might become bankrupt or otherwise fail to fund their share of
required capital contributions. Additionally, our partners or co-venturers might at any time have economic or
other business interests or goals which are inconsistent with our business interests or goals. These investments
may also have the potential risk of impasses on decisions such as a sale, because neither we nor the partner,
co-tenant or co-venturer would have full control over the partnership or joint venture. Consequently, actions by
such partner, co-tenani or co-venturer might result in subjecting properties owned by the partnership or joint
venture to additional risk. In addition, we may in specific circumstances be liable for the actions of our third-
party partners, co-tenants or Co-venturers.,

Although our existing joint venture agreements do not contain such provisions, and we have suspended new
investments in joint ventures, we may in the future enter into joint venture agreements that contain terms in favor
of our partners that may have an adverse effect on the value of our investments in the joint veatures. For
example, we may be entitled under a particular joint venture agreement to an economic share in the profits of the
Jjoint venture that is smaller than our ownership percentage in the joint venture, our partner may be entitled to a
spectfied portion of the profits of the joint venture before we are entitled to any portion of such profits and our
pariner may have rights to buy our interest in the joint venture, to force us to buy the partner’s interest in the joint
venture or 1o compel the sale of the property owned by such joint venture. These rights may permit our partner in
a particular joint venture to obtain a greater benefit from the value or profits of the joint venture than us, which
may have an adverse effect on the value of our investment in the joint venture and on our financial condition and
results of operations.

Liability relating to environmental matters may impact the value of properties that we may acquire or the
properties underlying our investments.

Under various U.S. federal, state and local Jaws, an owner or operator of real property may become liable
for the costs of removal of certain hazardous substances released on its property. These laws often impose
liability without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the release of such
hazardous substances.

If we acquire properties directly, there may be environmental problems associated with the property of
which we were unaware. The presence of hazardous substances may adversely affect an owner’s ability to sell
real estate or borrow using real estate as collateral. To the extent that an owner of a property underlying one of
our debt investments becomes liable for removal costs, the ability of the owner to make debt payments to us may
be reduced, which in turn may adversely affect the value of the relevant mortgage asset held by us and our ability
to make distributions to stockholders.

If we acquire any properties, the presence of hazardous substances on a property may adversely affect our
ability to sell the property and we may incur substantial remediation costs, thus harming our financtal condition.

In addition, although our leases, if any, will generally require our tenants to operate in compliance with all
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applicable laws and to indemnify us against any environmental liabilities arising from a tenant’s activities on the
property, we nonetheless would be subject to strict liability by virtue of our ownership interest for environmental
liabilities created by such tenants, and we cannot ensure you that any tenants we might have would satisfy their
indemnification obligations under the applicable sales agreement or lease. The discovery of material
environmental liabilities attached to such properties could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations and financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Our hedging transactions may not completely insulate us from interest rate risk.

Subject to maintaining our qualification as a REIT, we engage in certain hedging transactions to limit our
exposure to changes in interest rates and we may also hedge against the decline in the values of our portfolio
position, and therefore may expose ourselves to risks associated with such transactions. We may conduct certain
of our hedging activity in our TRS for REIT qualification purposes. We utilize instruments such as forward
contracts and interest rate swaps, caps, collars and floors to seek to hedge against mismatches between the cash
flows on our assets and the interest payments on our liabilities or fluctuations in the relative values of our
portfolio positions, in each case resulting from changes in market interest rates. Hedging against a decline in the
values of our portfolio positions does not eliminate the possibility of fluctuations in the values of such positions
or prevent losses if the values of such positions decline. However, such hedging can establish other positions
designed to gain from those same developments, thereby offsetting the decline in the value of such portfolio
positions. Such hedging transactions may also limit the opportunity for gain if the values of the portfolio
positions should increase. Moreover, it may not be possible to hedge against an interest rate fluctuation that is 80
generally anticipated that we are not able to enter into a hedging transaction at an acceptable price.

Our board of directors will be respensible for approving the types of hedging instruments we may use,
absolute limits on the notional amount and term of a hedging instrument and parameters for the credit-worthiness
of hedge counterparties. The portfolio managers responsible for each of our targeted asset classes will be
responsible for executing transactions and with our finance and capital market professionals, document the
transactions, monitor the valuation and effectiveness of the hedges, and provide reports concerning our hedging
activities and the valuation and effectiveness of our hedges, to the audit committee of our board of directors no
less often than quarterly. We expect to engage experienced third party advisors to provide us with assistance in
the identification of interest rate risks, the analysis, selection and timing of risk protection strategies, the
administration and negotiation of hedge documentation, settlement or disposition of hedges, compliance with
hedge accounting requirements and measurement of hedge effectiveness and valuation.

The success of our hedging transactions will depend on our Manager’s ability to correctly predict
movements of interest rates. Therefore, while we may enter into such transactions to seek to reduce interest rate
risks, unanticipated changes in interest rates may result in poorer overall investment performance than if we had
not engaged in any such hedging transactions. In addition, the degree of correlation between price movements of
the instruments used in a hedging strategy and price movements in the portfolio positions being hedged may
vary. Moreover, for a variety of reasons, we may not seek to establish a perfect correlation between such hedging
instruments and the portfolio holdings being hedged. Any such imperfect correlation may prevent us from
achieving the intended hedge and expose us to risk of loss.

Hedging instruments often are not traded on regulated exchanges, guaranteed by an exchange or its clearing
house, or regulated by any U.S. or foreign governmental authorities and involve risks and costs.

The cost of using hedging instruments increase as the period covered by the instrument increases and during
periods of rising and volatile interest rates. We may increase our hedging activity and thus increase our hedging
costs during periods when interest rates are volatile or rising and hedging costs have increased.

In addition, hedging instruments involve risk since they often are not traded on regulated exchanges,
guaranteed by an exchange or its clearing house, or regulated by any U.S. or foreign governmental authorities.
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Consequentiy, there are no requirements with respect to record keeping, financial responsibility or segregation of
customer funds and positions. Furthermore, the enforceability of agreements underlying derivative transactions
may depend on compliance with applicable statutory and commedity and other regulatory requirements and,
depending on the identity of the counterparty, applicable international requirements. The business failure of a
hedging counterparty with whormn we enter into a hedging transaction will most likely result in a default. Default
by a party with whom we enter into a hedging transaction may result in the loss of unrealized profits and force us
to cover our resale commitments, if any, at the then current market price, Although generally we will seek to
reserve the right to terminate our hedging positions, it may not always be possible to dispose of or <lose out a
hedging position without the consent of the hedging counterparty, and we may not be able 10 enter into an
offsetting contract in order to cover our risk. We cannot assure you that a liguid secondary market will exist for
hedging instruments purchased or sold, and we may be required to maintain a position until exercise or
expiration, which could result in losses.

Prepayments can adversely affect the yields on our investments.

The yield of our assets may be affected by the rate of prepayments differing from our projections,
Prepayments on debt instruments, where permitted under the debt documents, are influenced by changes in
current interest rates and a variety of economic, geographic and other factors beyond our control, and
consequently, such prepayment rates cannot be predicted with certainty. In periods of declining interest rates,
prepayments on mortgages, and loans generally increase. If we are unable to invest the proceeds of such
prepayments received at similar yields, the yield on our portfolio will decline. In addition, we may acquire assets
at a discount or premium and if the asset does not repay when expected, our anticipated yield may be impacted.
Under certain interest rate and prepayment scenarios we may fail to recoup fully our cost of acquisition of certain
investments.

The mortgage loans we originate and acquire and the mortgage loans underlying the mortgage and asset-
backed securities we originate and acquire are subject to delinquency, foreclosure and loss, which could result
in losses to us.

We originate and acquire commercial mortgage loans. However, we do not have any specific policy with
respect to allocations in commercial mortgage loans and our charter contains no limitations on the percentage we
may invest in this product type. Commercial mortgage loans are secured by multi-family or commercial
properties and are subject to risks of delinguency and foreclosure and risks of loss that are greater than similar
risks associated with loans made on the security of single family residential property. The ability of a borrower to
pay principal of and interest on a loan secured by an income-producing property typically is dependent primarily
upon the successful operation of such property rather than upon the exercise of independent income or assets of
the borrower. i the net operating income of the property is reduced, the borrower’s ability to repay the loan may
be impaired. Net operating income of an income-producing property can be affected by, among other things:
tenant mix, success of tenant businesses, property management decisions, property location and condition,
competition from comparable types of properties, changes in laws that increase operating expense or limit rents
that may be charged, any need to address environmental contamination at the property, the occurrence of any
uninsured casualty at the property, changes in national, regional or local economic conditions and/or specific
industry segments, declines in regional or local real estate values, declines in regional or local rental or
occupancy rates, increases in interest rates, real estate tax rates and other operating expenses, changes in
governmental rules, regulations and fiscal policies, including environmental legislation, acts of God, terrorism,
social unrest and civil disturbances.

In the event of any default under a mortgage loan held directly by us, we will bear a risk of loss of principal
to the extent of any deficiency between the value of the collateral and the principal and accrued interest of the
mortgage loan, which could have a material adverse effect on our cash flow from operations. In the event of the
bankruptey of a mortgage loan borrower, the mortgage loan to such borrower will be deemed to be secured only
to the extent of the value of the underlying collateral at the time of bankruptcy (as determined by the bankruptcy
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court), and the lien securing the mortgage toan will be subject to the avoidance powers of the bankruptcy trustee
or debtor-in-possession to the extent the lien is unenforceable under state law.

Foreclosure of a mortgage loan can be an expensive and lengthy process which could have a substantial
negative effect on our anticipated return on the foreclosed mortgage loan. Accordingly, the CMBS we invest in
are subject to all of the risks of the underlying mortgage loans.

The B Notes we originate and acquire may be subject to additional risks relating to the privately negotiated
structure and terms of the transaction, which may result in losses to us.

We originate and acquire B Notes. However, we do not have any specific policy with respect to allocations
in B Notes and our charter contains no limitations on the percentage we may invest in this product type. B Notes
are mortgage loans that are typically (i} secured by a first mortgage on a single large commercial property or
group of related properties and (ii) subordinated to an A Note secured by the same first mortgage on the same
collateral. As a result, if a borrower defaults, there may not be sufficient funds remaining for B Note owners after
payment to the A Note owners. B Notes reflect similar credit risks to comparably rated CMBS. However, since
each transaction is privately negotiated, B Notes can vary in their structural characteristics and risks. For
example, the rights of holders of B Notes to control the process following a borrower default may be limited in
certain investments. We cannot predict the terms of each B Note investment. Further, B Notes typically are
secured by a single property, and so reflect the increased risks associated with a single property compared to a
pool of properties. B Notes also are less liquid than CMBS, thus we may be unable to dispose of
underperforming or non-performing investments. The higher risks associated with our subordinate position in our
B Note investments could subject us to increased risk of losses.

Investment in non-conforming and non-investment grade loans may involve increased risk of loss.

Except in rare instances, loans we may acquire or originate will not conform to conventional loan criteria
applied by traditional lenders and will not be rated or will be rated as non-investment grade (for example, for
investments rated by Moody’s Investors Service, ratings lower than Baa3, and for Standard & Poor’s, BBB-, or
below). The non-invesiment grade ratings for these loans typically result from the overall leverage of the loans,
the lack of a strong operating history for the properties underlying the loans, the borrowers’ credit history, the
properties’ underlying cash flow or other factors. As a result, loans we originate or acquire may have a higher
risk of default and loss than conventional loans. Any loss we incur may reduce distributions to stockholders and
adversely affect the value of our common stock. We currently anticipate investing primarily in unrated or
non-investment grade assets. There are no limits on the percentage of unrated or non-investment grade assets we
may hold in our portfolio.

Investments in mezzanine loans involve greater risks of loss than senior loans secured by income producing
properties.

We originate and acquire mezzanine loans. However, we do not have any policy with respect to allocations
in mezzanine loans and our charter contains o limitations on the percentage we may invest in this asset class.
Investments in mezzanine loans take the form of subordinated loans secured by second mortgages on the
underlying property or loans secured by a pledge of the ownership interests in the entity that directly or indirectly
owns the property. These types of investments involve a higher degree of risk than a senior mortgage loan
because the investment may become unsecured as a result of foreclosure by the senior lender. In the event of a
bankruptcy of the entity providing the pledge of its ownership interests as security, we may not have full recourse
to the assets of the property owning entity, or the assets of the entity may not be sufficient to satisfy our
mezzanine loan. If a borrower defaults on our mezzanine loan or debt senior to our loan, or in the event of a
borrower bankruptcy, our mezzanine loan will be satisfied only after the senior debt is paid in full. As a result,
we may not recover some or all of our investment, which could result in losses. In addition, mezzanine loans may
have higher loan to value ratios than conventional mortgage loans, resulting in less equity in the property and
increasing the risk of loss of principal.
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We evaluate the collectibility of both interest and principal of each of our loans, if circumstances warrant, to
determine whether they are impaired. A loan is impaired when, based on current information and events, it is
probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the existing contractual terms. When a
loan is impaired, the amount of the loss accrual is calculated by comparing the carrying amount of the investment
to the value determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at the loan’s effective interest rate or, as a
practical expedient, to the value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. There can be no assurance
that our estimates of collectible amounts will not change over time or that they will be representative of the
amounts we actually collect, including amounts we would collect if we chose to sell these investments before
their maturity. If we collect less than our estimates, we will record charges which could be material.

Bridge loans involve a greater risk of loss than traditional morigage loans.

We provide bridge loans secured by first lien mortgages on a property to borrowers who are typically
seeking short-term capital to be used in an acquisition or renovation of real estate. The borrower has usually
identified an undervalued asset that has been under-managed or is located in a recovering market. If the market in
which the asset is located fails to recover according to the borrower’s projections, or if the borrower fails to
improve the quality of the asset’s management or the value of the asset, the borrower may not receive a sufficient
return on the asset to satisfy the bridge loan, and we may not recover some or all of our investment.

In addition, owners usually borrow funds under a conventional mortgage loan to repay a bridge loan. We
may therefore be dependent on a borrower’s ability to obtain permanent financing to repay our bridge loan,
which could depend on market conditions and other factors. Bridge loans are also subject to risks of borrower
defaults, bankruptcies, fraud, losses and special hazard losses that are not covered by standard hazard insurance.
In the event of any default under bridge loans held by us, we bear the risk of loss of principal and non-payment of
interest and fees to the extent of any deficiency between the value of the mortgage collateral and the principal
amount of the bridge loan. To the extent we suffer such losses with respect to our investments in bridge loans, the
value of our company and the price of our common stock may be adversely affected.

Preferred equity investments involve a greater risk of loss than traditional debt financing.

We may make preferred equity investments. However, we do not have any specific policy with respect 1o
allocations in preferred equity investments and our charter contains no limitations on the percentage we may
invest in this asset class, Preferred equity investments are subordinate to debt financing and are not secured.
Should the issuer default on our investment, we would only be able to proceed against the entity thar issued the
preferred equity in accordance with the terms of the preferred security, and not any property owned by the entity.
Furthermore, in the event of bankruptcy or foreclosure, we would only be able to recoup our investment after any
lenders to the entity are paid. As a result, we may not recover some or all of our investment, which could result in
losses.

Loans to owners of net lease properties may generate lpsses.

We may make loans to owners of net leased real estate assets. The value of our investments and the income
from our investments in loans to owners of net lease properties, if any, will depend upon the ability of the
applicable tenant to meet its obligations to maintain the property under the terms of the net lease. If a tenant fails
or becomes unable to so maintain a property, the borrower would have difficulty making its required loan
payments to us. In addition, under many net leases the owner of the property retains certain obligations with
respect to the property, including among other things, the responsibility for maintenance and repair of the
property, to provide adequate parking, maintenance of common areas and compliance with other affirmative
covenants in the lease, If the borrower were to fail to meet these obligations, the applicable tenant could abate
rent or terminate the applicable lease, which may result in a loss of our capital invested in, and anticipated profits
from, the property to the borrower and the borrower would have difficulty making its required loan payments to
us. In addition, the borrower may find it difficult to lease property to new tenants that may have been suited 1o
the particular needs of a former tenant.
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Our investments in subordinated loans and subordinated CMBS are generally in the “second loss” position
and therefore subject to losses.

We intend to acquire subordinated loans and invest in subordinated CMBS. In the event a borrower defaults
on a loan and lacks sufficient assets to satisfy our loan, we may suffer a loss of principal or interest. In the event
a borrower declares bankruptcy, we may not have full recourse to the assets of the borrower, or the assets of the
borrower may not be sufficient to satisfy the loan. In addition, certain of our loans may be subordinate to other
debt of the borrower. If a borrower defaults on our loan or on debt senior to our loan, or in the event of a
borrower bankruptcy, our loan will be satisfied only after the senior debt is paid in full. Where debt senior to our
loan exists, the presence of intercreditor arrangements may limit our ability to amend our loan documents, assign
our loans, accept prepayments, exercise our remedies (through “standstill periods”) and control decisions made in
bankruptcy proceedings relating to borrowers.

In general, fosses on an asset securing a mortgage loan included in a securitization will be borne first by the
equity holder of the property, then by a cash reserve fund or letter of credit, if any, and then by the “first loss”
subordinated security holder and then by the “second loss” subordinated security holder. In the event of default
and the exhaustion of any equity support, reserve fund, letter of credit and any classes of securities junior to those
in which we invest, we will not be able to recover all of our investment in the securities we purchase. In addition,
if the underlying mortgage portfolio has been overvalued by the originator, or if the values subsequently decline
and, as a result, less collateral is available to satisfy interest and principal payments due on the related CMBS, the
securities in which we invest may effectively become the “first loss” position behind the more senior securities,
which may result in significant losses to us. The prices of lower credit quality securities are generally less
sensitive (o interest rate changes than more highly rated investments, but more sensitive to adverse economic
downturns or individual issuer developments. A projection of an economic downturn, for example, could cause a
decline in the price of lower credit quality securities because the ability of obligors of mortgages underlying
CMBS to make principal and interest payments may be impaired. In such event, existing credit support in the
securitization structure may be insufficient to protect us against loss of our principal on these securities.

An economic downturn could increase the risk of loss on our investments in subordinated mortgage-backed
securities. The prices of lower credit-quality securities, such as the subordinated mortgage-backed securities in
which we plan to invest, are generally less sensitive to interest rate changes than more highly rated investments,
but are more sensitive to adverse economic downturns or individua! property developments. An economic
downturn or a projection of an economic downturn could cause a decline in the price of lower credit quality
securities because the ability of obligors of mortgages underlying mortgage-backed securities to make principal
and interest payments may be impaired. In such event, existing credit support to a securitized structure may be
insufficient to protect us against loss of our principal on these securities.

We may enter into derivative contracts that could expose us to contingent liabilities in the future,

Subject to maintaining our qualification as a REIT, part of our investment strategy involves entering into
derivative contracts that could require us to fund cash payments in the future under certain circumstances, e.g. ,
the early termination of the derivative agreement caused by an event of default or other early termination event,
or the decision by a counterparty to request margin securities it is contractually owed under the terms of the
derivative contract. The amount due would be equal to the unrealized toss of the open swap positions with the
respective counterparty and could also include other fees and charges. These economic losses will be reflected in
our financial results of operations, and our ability to fund these obligations will depend on the liguidity of our
assets and access to capital at the time, and the need to fund these obligations could adversely impact our
financial condition.




Qur investments in debt securities are subject to specific risks relating to the particular issuer of the securities
and to the general risks of investing in subordinated real estate securities.

Our investments in debt securities involve special risks. REITs generally are required to invest substantially
in real estate or real estate-related assets and are subject to the inherent risks associated with real estate-related
investments discussed herein. Qur investments in debt are subject to the risks described above with respect to
mortgage loans and CMBS and similar risks, including:

* risks of delinquency and foreclosure, and risks of loss in the event thereof;
» the dependence upon the successful operation of and net income from real property;
+ risks generally incident to interests in real property; and

+ risks that may be presented by the type and use of a particular commercial property.

Debt securities are generally unsecured and may also be subordinated to other obligations of the issuer. We
may also invest in debt securities that are rated below investment grade. As a result, investments in debt
securities are also subject to risks of:

e limited liquidity in the secondary trading market;
+ substantial market price volatility resulting from changes in prevailing interest rates;
+ subordination to the prior claims of banks and other senior lenders to the issuer;

+ the operation of mandatory sinking fund or call/redemption provisions during periods of declining
interest rates that could cause the issuer to reinvest premature redemption proceeds in lower yielding
assets;

» the possibility that earnings of the debt security issuer may be insufficient to meet its debt service; and

« the declining creditworthiness and potential for insolvency of the issuer of such debt securities during
periods of rising interest rates and economic downturn.

These risks may adversely affect the value of outstanding debt securities and the ability of the issuers
thereof to repay principal and interest,

We may make investments in non-U.S. dollar denominated securities, which subject us to currency rate
exposure and the uncertainty of foreign laws and markets.

We may purchase CMBS denominated in foreign currencies. We expect that our exposure, if any, would be
principally to the British pound and the Euro. A change in foreign currency exchange rates may have an adverse
impact on returns on our non-dollar denominated investments. Although we may hedge our foreign currency risk
subject to the REIT income qualification tests, we may not be able to do so successfully and may incur losses on
these investments as a result of exchange rate fluctuations. Investments in foreign countries also subject us to
risks of multiple and conflicting tax laws and regulations and political and economic instability abroad, which
could adversely affect our receipt of interest income on these investments.

The lack of liquidity in our investments may adversely affect our business.

We have made investments, and expect to make additional investments in securities that are not publicly
traded. A portion of these securities may be subject to legal and other restrictions on resale or will otherwise be
less liquid than publicly traded securities. The illiquidity of our investments may make it difficult for us to sell
such investments if the need arises. In addition, if we are required to liquidate all or a portion of our portfolio
quickly, we may realize significantly less than the value at which we have previously recorded our investments.
In addition, we may face other restrictions on our ability to liquidate an investment in a business entity to the
extent that we or our Manager has or could be attributed with material non-public information regarding such
business entity.
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Our due diligence may not reveal all of a borrower’s liabilities and may not reveal other weaknesses in its
business.

Before investing in a company or making a loan (o a borrower, we assess the strength and skills of such
entity’s management and other factors that we believe are material to the performance of the investment. In
making the assessment and otherwise conducting customary due diligence, we rely on the resources available to
us and, in some cases, an investigation by third parties. This process is particularly important and subjective with
respect to newly organized entities because there may be little or no information publicly available about the
entities. There can be no assurance that our due diligence processes will uncover all relevant facts or that any
investment will be successful.

Risks Related To Our Trading

We have not established a minimum distribution and payment level and we cannot assure you of our ability to
mabke distributions in the future.

We expect to make quarterly distributions to our stockholders in amounts such that we distribute all or
substantially all of our taxable income in each year, subject to certain adjustments. We have not established a
minimum distribution payment level, and our ability to make distributions may be adversely affected by the
risk factors described herein. All distributions will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will
depend on our earnings, our financial condition, maintenance of our REIT status and other factors as our board of
directors may deem relevant from time to time. We may not be able to make distributions in the future, or we
may reduce our distributions as compared to historical levels; particularly if our revenues decline due to a
reduction in our total assets from repayments or asset sales. In addition, some of our distributions may include a
return of capital. To the extent that we decide to make distributions in excess of our current and accumulated tax
earnings and profits, such distributions would generally be considered a return of capital for federal income tax
purposes. A return of capital is not taxable, but it has the effect of reducing the holder’s basis in its investment.

The market price and trading volume aof our common stock may be volatile.

The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations. In
addition, the trading volume in our common stock may fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur.
If the market price of our common stock declines significantly, you may be unable to resell your shares at or
above the initial public offering price or the price you paid in the market. We cannot assure you that the market
price of our common stock will not fluctuate or decline significantly in the future. Some of the factors that could
negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in the price or trading volume of our common stock
include:

* actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly operating results or distributions;

= changes in our funds from operations or earnings estimates or publication of research reports about us
or the real estate or specialty finance industry;

* increases in market interest rates that lead purchasers of our shares of common stock to demand a
higher yield,

* changes in market valuations of similar companies;

= adverse market reaction to any increased indebtedness we incur in the future;

« additions or departures of our Manager’s key personnel;

* changes to our management agreement or replacing our Manager;

* actions by institutional stockholders;

* hostile merger and acquisition activities such as unsolicited hostile offers or dissident nomination of

director slates;

46




« speculation in the press or investment community; and

» general market and economic conditions, including the current state of the credit and capital markets.

Broad market fluctuations could negatively impact the market price of our commen stock.

The stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected the market price
of many companies in industries similar or related to ours and that have been unrelated to these conpanies’
operating performances. These broad market fluctuations could reduce the market price of our common stock.
Furthermore, our operating results and prospects may be below the expectations of public market analysts and
investors or may be lower than those of companies with comparable market capitalizations, which could lead to a
material decline in the market price of our common stock.

Future offerings of debt securities, which would rank senior to our common stock upon our liquidation, and
future offerings of equity securities, which would dilute our existing stockholders and may be senior to our
common stock for the purposes of dividend and liquidating distributions, may adversely affect the market price
of our common stock.

In the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources by making offerings of debt or additional
offerings of equity securities. Upon liquidation, holders of our debt securities and shares of preferred stock, if
any, and lenders with respect to other borrowings will receive a distribution of our available assets prior to the
holders of our common stock. Additional equity offerings may dilute the holdings of our existing stockholders or
reduce the market price of our common stock, or both. Qur preferred stock, if issued, could have a preference on
liquidating distributions or a preference on dividend payments that could limit our ability to make a dividend
distribution to the holders of our common stock. Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock (including
shares of our common stock issued pursuant to our incentive plan), or the perception that these sales could occur,
could have a material adverse effect on the price of our common stock. Because our decision to issue securities in
any future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or
estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offerings. Thus, holders of our common stock bear the risk of
our future offerings reducing the market price of our common stock and diluting their stock holdings in us.

Your interest in us may be diluted if we issue additional shares.

Existing stockholders do not have preemptive rights to any common stock issued by us in the future.
Therefore, you may experience dilution of their equity investment if we sell additional common stock in the future,
sell securities that are convertible into common stock or issue shares of common stock, including shares issued as
incentive compensation under our management agreement, or options exercisable for shares of common stock.

Future sales of shares of our common stock may depress the price of our shares.

We cannot predict the effect, if any, of future sales of our common stock or the availability of shares for
future sales on the market price of our common stock. Any sales of a substantial number of our shares in the
public market, or the perception that sales might occur, may cause the market price of our shares to decline.

An increase in market interest rates may have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.

One of the factors that investors may consider in deciding whether to buy or sell shares of our common
stock is our distribution rate as a percentage of our share price relative to market interest rates. If the market price
of our common stock is based primarily on the eamings and return that we derive from our investments and
income with respect to our investments and our related distributions to stockholders, and not from the market
value of the investments themselves, then interest rate fluctuations and capital market conditions will likely
affect the market price of our common stock. For instance, if market rates rise without an increase in our
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distribution rate, the market price of our common stock could decrease as potential investors may require a
higher distribution yield on our common stock or seek other securities paying higher distributions or interest. In
addition, rising interest rates would result in increased interest expense on our variable rate debt, thereby
adversely affecting cash flow and our ability to service our indebtedness and pay distributions.

Risks Related To Our Organization and Structure

Our charter and bylaws and the provisions of Maryland law contain provisions that may inhibit potential
acquisition bids that you and other stockholders may consider favorable, and the market price of our common
stock may be lower as a result,

Cur charter and bylaws and the provisions of Maryland law contain provisions that may have an anti-
takeover effect and inhibit a change in our board of directors. These provisions include the following:

There are ownership limits and restrictions on transferability and ownership in our charter. In order to
qualify as a REIT for each taxable year beginning after December 31, 2005, not more than 50% of the
value of our outstanding stock may be owned, directly or constructively, by five or fewer individuals
during the second half of any calendar year and our shares must be beneficially owned by 100 or more
persons during at least 335 days of a taxable year of 12 months or during a proportionate part of a
shorter taxable year. Our charter generally prohibits any persen from beneficially or constructively
owning more than 9.8% by number or value, whichever is more restrictive, of our outstanding shares of
common stock or more than 9.8% by number or value, whichever is more restrictive, of the outstanding
shares of any class or series of our capital stock, subject to important exceptions. This restriction may:

» discourage a tender offer or other transactions or a change in the composition of our board of
directors or control that might involve a premium price for our shares or otherwise be in the best
interests of our stockholders; or

+ result in shares issued or transferred in violation of such restrictions being automatically
transferred to a trust for a charitable beneficiary and thereby resulting in a forfeiture of ownership
of the additional shares.

Qur charter permits our board of directors to issue stock with terms thar may discourage a third party
Sfrom acquiring us. Our charter permits our board of directors to amend the charter without stockholder
approval to increase the total number of authorized shares of stock or the number of shares of any class
or series and 1o issue common or preferred stock, having preferences, conversion or other rights, voting
powers, restrictions, limitations as to distributions, qualifications, or terms or conditions of redemption
as determined by our board, Thus. our board could authorize the issuance of stock with terms and
conditions that could have the effect of discouraging a takeover or other transaction in which holders of
some or a majority of our shares might receive a premium for their shares over the then-prevailing
market price of our shares. .

Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act. Maryland law provides that “control shares” of a corporation
acquired in a “control share acquisition” will have no voting rights excepl to the extent approved by a
vote of two-thirds of the votes eligible to be cast on the matter under the Maryland Control Share
Acquisition Act. “Control shares” means voting shares of stock that, if aggregated with all other shares
of stock owned by the acquiror or in respect of which the acquiror is able to exercise or direct the
exercise of voting power (except solely by virtue of a revocable proxy), would entitle the acquiror to
exercise voting power in electing directors within one of the following ranges of voting power:
one-tenth or more but iess than one-third, one-third or more but tess than a majority, or a majority or
more of all voting power. A “control share acquisition” means the acquisition of control shares, subject
to certain exceptions.

If voting rights or control shares acquired in a control share acquisition are not approved at a stockholders’
meeting or if the acquiring person does not deliver an acquiring person statement as required by the Maryland
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Control Share Acquisition Act, then subject to certain conditions and limitations, the issuer may redeem any or
all of the control shares for fair value. If voting rights of such control shares are approved at a stockholders’
meeting and the acquiror becomes entitled to vote a majority of the shares of stock entitled to vote, all other
stockholders may exercise appraisal rights. Our bylaws contain a provision exempting acquisitions of our shares
from the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act. However, our board of directors may amend our bylaws in the
future to repeal or modify this exemption, in which case any control shares of our company acquired in a control
share acquisition will be subject to the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act.

s Business Combinations. Under Maryland law, *business combinations” between a Maryland
corporation and an interested stockholder or an affiliate of an interested stockholder are prohibited for
five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested
stockholder. These business combinations include a merger, consolidation, share exchange, or, in
circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity
securities. An interested stockholder is defined as:

s+ any person who beneficially owns ten percent or more of the voting power of the corporation’s
shares; or

« an affiliate or associate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the
date in question, was the beneficial owner of ten percent or more of the voting power of the then
outstanding voting stock of the corporation.

A person is not an interested stockholder under the statute if the board of directors approved in advance the
transaction by which such person otherwise would have become an interested stockholder. However, in
approving a transaction, the board of directors may provide that its approval is subject to compliance, at or after
the time of approval, with any terms and conditions determined by the board.

After the five-year prohibition, any business combination between the Maryland corporation and an
interested stockholder generally must be recommended by the board of directors of the corporation and approved
by the affirmative vote of at least:

+ eighty percent of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of voting stock of the
corporation; and

» two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation other than shares
held by the interested stockholder with whom or with whose affiliate the business combination is to be
effected or held by an affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder.

These super-majority vote requirements do not apply if the corporation’s common stockholders receive a
minimum price, as defined under Maryland law, for their shares in the form of cash or other consideration in the
same form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its shares.

‘The statute permits various exemptions from its provisions, including business combinations that are
exempted by the board of directors prior to the time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested
stockholder. Qur board of directors has adopted a resolution which provides that any business combination
between us and any other person is exempted from the provisions of the Act, provided, that the business
combination is first approved by the board of directors. This resolution, however, may be altered or repealed in
whole or in part at any time. If this resolution is repealed, or the board of directors does not otherwise approve a
business combination, this statute may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and increase the
difficulty of consummating any offer.

*  Our charter and bylaws contain other possible anti-takeover provisions. Our charter and bylaws
contain other provisions that may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in
control of us or the removal of existing directors and, as a result, could prevent our stockholders from
being paid a premium for their common stock over the then-prevailing market price.
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= Maryland law allows a staggered board without a stockholder vote, Maryland law permits a public
Maryland corporation that meets certain requirements to add certain anti-takeover provisions to its
charter without a stockhoelders vote, including a classified or staggered board of directors.

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited,
which could limit your recourse in the event of actions not in your best interests.

Our charter limits the liability of our directors and officers to us and our stockholders for money damages,
except for liability resulting from:

+ actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services; or

+ afinal judgment based upon a finding of active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or officer that
was material to the cause of action adjudicated.

In addition, our charter authorizes us to obligate our company to indemnify our present and former directors
and officers for actions taken by them in those capacities to the maximum extent permitied by Maryland law. Our
bylaws require us to indemnify each present or former director or officer, to the maximum extent permitted by
Maryland law, in the defense of any proceeding to which he or she is made, or threatened to be made, a party by
reason Of his or her service to us. In addition, we may be obligated 10 fund the defense costs incurred by our
directors and officers. :

Our access to confidential information may restrict our ability to take action with respect to some investments,
which, in turn, may negatively affect the potential return to stockholders.

We, directly or through our Manager, may obtain confidential information about the companies in which we
have invested or may invesi. If we do possess confidential information about such companies, there may be
restrictions on the ability to dispose of, increase the amount of, or otherwise take action with respect to an
investment in those companies. Our management of investment funds could create a conflict of interest to the
extent our Manager is aware of inside information concerning potential investment targets. We will implement
compliance procedures and practices designed to ensure that inside information is not used for making
investment decisions on behalf of the funds and to monitor funds invested. We cannot assure you, however, that
these procedures and practices will be effective. In addition, this conflict and these procedures and practices may
limit the freedom of ocur Manager to make potentially profilable investments, which could have an adverse effect
on our operations. These limitations imposed by access to confidential information could therefore negatively
affect the potential market price of our common stock and the ability to distribute dividends.

Tax Risks
Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities,

To qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we must continually satisfy various tests regarding
the sources of our income, the nature and diversification of our assets, the amounts we distribute to our stockholders
and the ownership of our stock. In order to meet these tests, we may be required to forego investments we might
otherwise make. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our investment performance.

QOur gqualification as a REIT and exemption from U.S. federal income tax with respect to certain assets may be
dependent on the accuracy of legal opinions rendered to or statements by the issuers of securities in which we
invest.

When purchasing securities, we may rely on opinions of counsel for the issuer of such securities, or
statements made in related offering documents, for purposes of determining whether such securities represent
debt or equity securities for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and therefore to what extent those securities
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constitute REIT real estate assets for purposes of the REIT asset tests and produce income which qualifies under
the 75% REIT gross income test. In addition, when purchasing CDO equity, we may rely on opinions of counsel
regarding the qualification of the CDO for exemption from U.S. corporate income tax and the qualification of
interests in such CDO as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The inaccuracy of any such opinions or
statements may adversely affect our REIT gualification and result in significant corporate-level tax.

Certain financing activities may subject us to U.S. federal income tax and increase the tax liability of our
stockholders and limit the manner in which we effect securitizations.

We have and will likely continue to enter into transactions that will result in us or a portion of our assets
being treated as a “taxable mortgage pool” for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Specifically, we have and may
in the future continue to securitize whole loans, B Notes, mezzanine loans or CMBS assets that we acquire and
such securitizations will likely result in us owning interests in a taxable mortgage pool. We have and expect to
enter into such transactions at the REIT level, We are taxed at the highest corporate income tax rate on a portion
of the income arising from a taxable mortgage pool that is allocable to the percentage of our stock held by
“disqualified organizations,” which are generally certain cooperatives, governmental entities and tax-exempt
organizations that are exempt from tax on unrelated business taxable income. To the extent that common stock
owned by “disqualified organizations” is held in record name by a broker/dealer or other nominee, the broker/
dealer or other nominee would be liable for the corporate level tax on the portion of our excess inclusion income
allocable to the common stock held by the broker/dealer or other nominee on behalf of the “disqualified
organizations.” We expect that disqualified organizations will own our shares, Because this tax would be
imposed on us, all of our investors, including investors that are not disqualified organizations, would bear a
portion of the tax cost associated with the classification of us or a portion of our assets as a taxable mortgage
pool. A regulated investment company or other pass-through entity owning our common stock in record name
will be subject to tax at the highest corporate tax rate on any excess inclusion income allocated to their owners
that are disqualified organizations.

In addition, if we realize excess inclusion income and allocate it 1o stockholders, this income cannot be
offset by net operating losses of our stockholders. If the stockholder is a tax-exempt entity and not a disqualified
organization, then this income would be fully taxable as unrelated business taxable income under Section 512 of
the Internal Revenue Code. If the stockholder is a foreign person, it would be subject to U.S. federal income tax
withholding on this income without reduction or exemption pursuant to any otherwise applicable income tax
treaty. If the stockholder is a REIT, a regulated investment company, RIC, common trust fund, or other pass-
through entity its allocable share of our excess inclusion income could be considered excess inclusion income of
such entity. Accordingly, such investors should be aware that a significant portion of our income may be
considered excess inclusion income. Finally, if we fail to qualify as a REIT, our taxable mortgage pool
securitizations will be treated as separate taxable corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Failure to qualify as a REIT would subject us to U.S. federal income tax, which would reduce the cash
available for distribution to our stockholders.

We operate in a mannér that is intended to cause us to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. However, the U.S. federal income tax laws governing REITs are extremely complex, and
interpretations of the U.S. federal income tax laws governing qualification as a REIT are limited. Qualification as
a REIT requires us to meet various tests regarding the nature of our assets and our income, the ownership of our
outstanding stock, and the amount of our distributions on an ongoing basis. While .we operate in such a way as to
qualify as a REIT, given the highly complex nature of the rules governing REITs, the ongoing importance of
factual determinations, and the possibility of future changes in our circumstances, no assurance can be given that
we will so qualify for any particular year.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any calendar year and we do not qualify for certain statutory relief
provisions, we would be required to pay U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income. We might need to
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borrow money or sell assets in order to pay that tax. Qur payment of income tax would decrease the amount of
our income available for disiribution to our stockholders. Furthermore, if we fail to maintain our qualification as
a REIT and we do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions, we no longer would be required to distribute
substantially all of our net income to our stockholders. Unless our failure to qualify as a REIT were eligible for
relief under U.S. federal tax laws, we could not re-elect 1o qualify as a REIT until the fifth calendar year
following the year in which we failed to qualify.

Even if we qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we may be required to pay some federal,
state and local taxes on our income or property and, in certain cases, a 100% penalty tax in the event we sell
property, including mortgage loans, as a dealer or if a TRS of ours, inctuding CBRE Realty Finance TRS, Inc.,
enters into agreements with us on a basis that is determined to be other than an arm’s-length basis. In addition,
any TRS we own, including CBRE Realty Finance TRS, Inc., will be required to pay federal, state and local
income taxes on its taxable income, including income from the sale of any loans that we do not hold in our
portfolio, as well as an other applicable taxes.

Failure to make required distributions would subject us to tax, which would reduce the cash available for
distribution to our stockholders.

In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute to our stockholders, each calendar year, at least 90% of our
net taxable income, determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gain,
To the extent that we satisfy the 90% distribution requirement, but distribute less than 100% of our taxable
income, we will be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on our undistributed income. In addition, we will
incur a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if any, by which our distributions in any calendar year are
less than the sum of:

*  85% of our ordinary income for that year;
*  95% of our capital gain net income for that year; and

*  100% our undistributed taxable income from prior years.

We intend to distribute our net taxable income to our stockholders in a manner intended to satisfy the 90%
distribution requirement and to avoid both corporate income tax and the 4% nondeductible excise tax. However, there
is no requirement that taxable REIT subsidiaries distribute their after-tax net income to their parent REIT or their
stockholders and CBRE Realty Finance TRS, Inc., our TRS, may determine not to make any distributions to us.

Qur taxable income may substantially exceed our net income as determined based on generally accepted
accounting principles, or GAAP, because, for example, realized capital losses will be deducted in determining our
GAAP net income, but may not be deductible in computing our taxable income. In addition, we may invest in assets
that generate taxable income in excess of economic income or in advance of the corresponding cash flow from the
assets, referred to as phantom income. For example, we may invest in debt instruments or notes whose face value
may exceed its issue price as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes (“original issue discount,” or OID),
such that we will be required to include in our income a portion of the OID each year that the instrument is held
before we receive any corresponding cash. Although some types of phantom income are excluded to the extent they
exceed 5% of our REIT taxable income in determining the 90% distribution requirement, we will incur corporate
income tax and the 4% nondeductible excise tax with respect to any phantom income items if we do not distribute
those items on an annual basis. As a result of the foregoing, we may generate less cash flow than taxable income in
a particular year, In that event, we may be required to use cash reserves, incur debt, or liquidate non-cash assets at
raies or times that we regard as unfavorable in order to satisfy the distribution requirement and to avoid corporate
income tax and the 4% nondeductible excise tax in that year,
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Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates.

Tax legislation enacted in 2003 reduced the maximum U.S. federal tax rate on certain corporate dividends
paid to individuals and other non-corporate taxpayers to 15% (through 2010). Dividends paid by REITs to these
stockholders are generally not eligible for these reduced rates. Although this legislation does not adversely affect
the taxation of REITs or dividends paid by REITs, the more favorable rates applicable to non-REIT corporate
dividends could cause investors who are individuals, trusts and estates to perceive investments in REITs to be
relatively less attractive than investments in the stocks of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends, which could
adversely affect the value of the stock of REITS, including our common stock.

Liguidation of assets may jeopardize our REIT gqualification.

To continue to qualify as a REIT, we must comply with requirements regarding our assets and our sources
of income. If we are compelled to liquidate our mortgage loan and preferred equity investments to repay
obligations to our lenders, we may be unable to comply with these requirements, ultimately jeopardizing our
qualification as a REIT, or we may be subject to a 100% tax on any resultant gain if we sell assets that are treated
as dealer property or inventory.

The stock ownership diversification rules applicable to REITs under the Internal Revenue Code and the stock
ownership limitation imposed by our charter may inhibit market activity in our common stock and may restrict
our business combination opportunities in which our stockholders might receive a premium for their shares.

In order for us to qualify as a REIT for each taxable year beginning after December 31, 2005, no more than
50% in value of our outstanding capital stock may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals
at any time during the last half of any calendar year. “Individuals” for this purpose include natural persons,
private foundations, some employee benefit plans and trusts, and some charitable trusts. Our charter generally
prohibits any person from directly or indirectly owning more than 9.8% by number or value, whichever is more
restrictive, of our outstanding shares of common stock or more than 9.8% by number or value, whichever is more
restrictive, of the outstanding shares of any class or series of our capital stock, subject to important exceptions.

This ownership limitation could have the effect of discouraging a takeover or other transaction in which
holders of our common stock might receive a premium for their shares over the then prevailing market price or
which holders might believe to be otherwise in their best interests.

Our ownership of and relationship with our TRS is limited and a failure to comply with the limits may
jeopardize our REIT qualification and may result in the application of a 100% excise tax.

A REIT may own up to 100% of the stock of one or more TRSs. A TRS may earn income that would not be
qualifying income if earned directly by the parent REIT. Both the subsidiary and the REIT must jointly elect to
treat the subsidiary as a TRS. A corporation of which a TRS directly or indirectly owns more than 35% of the
voting power or value of the stock will automatically be treated as a TRS. Overall, no more than 20% of the
value of a REIT’s assets may consist of stock or securities of one or more TRSs. A TRS will pay federal, state
and local income tax at regular corporate rates on any net taxable income that it earns. In addition, the TRS rules
limit the deductibility of interest paid or accrued by a TRS to its parent REIT to assure that the TRS is subject to
an appropriate level of corporate taxation. The rules also impose a 100% excise tax on certain transactions
between a TRS and its parent REIT that are not conducted on an arm’s-length basis.

Our TRS, CBRE Realty Finance TRS, Inc., will pay federal, state and local income tax on its taxable
income, and its after-tax net income is available for distribution to us but is not required to be distributed to us.
The aggregate value of the TRS stock and securities owned by us will be less than 20% of the value of our
attractive total assets (including the TRS stock and securities). Furthermore, we will monitor the value of our
investments in TRSs for the purpose of ensuring compliance with the rule that no more than 20% of the value of
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our assets may consist of TRS stock and securities (which is applied at the close of each calendar quarter). In
addition, we scrutinize all of our transactions with TRSs for the purpose of ensuring that they are entered into on
arm’s-length terms in order to avoid incurring the 100% excise tax described above. The value of the securities
of that we hold in our TRSs may not be subject 1o precise valuation. Accordingly, there can be no complete
assurance that we will be able to comply with the 20% limitation discussed above or to avoid application of the
100% excise tax discussed above.

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively.

The REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code substantially limit our ability to hedge our investments.
Except to the extent provided by Treasury regulations, any income from a hedging transaction we enter into in
the normal course of our business primarily to manage risk of interest rate or price changes or currency
fluctuations with respect to borrowings made or to be made, or ordinary obligations incurred or to be incurred, to
acquire or carry real estate assets, which is clearly identified as specified in Treasury regulations before the close
of the day on which it was acquired, originated, or entered into, including gain from the sale or disposition of
such a transaction, will not constitute gross income for purposes of the 95% gross income test (and wiil generally
constitute non-qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test). To the extent that we enter into
other types of hedging transactions, the income from those transactions is likely to be treated as non-qualifying
income for purposes of both of the gross income tests. As a result, we might have to limit our use of
advantageous hedging techniques or implement those hedges through CBRE Realty Finance TRS, Inc. This could
increase the cost of our hedging activities or expose us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates
than we would otherwise want to bear.

The tax on prohibited transactions will limit our ability to engage in transactions, including certain methods
of securitizing mortgage loans, that would be treated as sales for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

A REIT’s net income from prohibited transactions is subject to a 100% tax. In general, prohibited
transactions are sales or other dispositions of property, other than foreclosure property, but including mortgage
ioans, held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business. We might be subject to this tax if
we were to sell or securitize Joans in a manner that was treated as a sale of the loans for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. Therefore, in order to avoid the prohibited transactions tax, we may choose not to engage in certain
sales of loans and may limit the structures we utilize for our securitization transactions even though such sales or
structures might otherwise be beneficial for us.

It may be possible to reduce the impact of the prohibited transaction tax and the holding of assets not
qualifying as real estate assets for purposes of the REIT asset tests by conducting certain activities, holding
non-qualifying REIT assets or engaging in CDO transactions through our TRSs, subject to certain limitations as
described below. To the extent that we engage in such activities through TRSs, the income associated with such
activities may be subject to full corporate income tax.

We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes that could reduce the market price of our
common stock.

At any time, the 1.8, federal income tax laws or regulations governing REITs or the administrative
interpretations of those laws or regulations may be amended. We cannot predict when or if any new U.S. federal
income tax law, regulation or administrative interpretation, or any amendment to any existing U.S. federal income
tax law, regulation or administrative interpretation, will be adopted, promulgated or become effective and any such
law, regulation or interpretation may take effect retroactively. We and our stockholders could be adversely affected
by any such change in, or any new, U.S. federal income tax law, regulation or administrative interpretation.
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If we make distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits, those distributions
will be treated as a return of capital, which will reduce the adjusted basis of your stock, and to the extent such
distributions exceed your adjusted basis, you may recognize a capital gain.

Unless you are a tax-exempt entity, distributions that we make to you generally will be subject 1o tax as
ordinary income to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits as determined for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. If the amount we distribute to you exceeds your allocable share of our current and
accumulated earnings and profits, the excess will be treated as a return of capital to the extent of your adjusted basis
in your stock, which will reduce your basis in your stock but will not be subject to tax. To the extent the amount we
distribute to you exceeds both your allocable share of our current and accumulated earnings and profits and your
adjusted basis, this excess amount will be treated as a gain from the sale or exchange of a capital asset.

Forward-Looking Information

This report includes certain statements that may be deemed to be “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements relate to
expectations, beliefs, projections, future plans and strategies, anticipated events or trends and similar expressions
concerning matters that are not historical facts. We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the
safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in Section 27A of the Securities Act and
Section 21E of the Exchange Act. In some cases, you can identify forward looking statements by terms such as
“anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “project,” “should,”
“will” and “would” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology.

The forward-looking statements are based on our beliefs, assumptions and expectations of our future
performance, taking into account all information currently available to us. These beliefs, assumptions and
expectations can change as a result of many possible events or factors, not all of which are known to us or are
within our control. If a change occurs, our business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations may
vary materially from those expressed in our forward-looking statements. You should carefully consider these
risks along with the following factors that could cause actual results to vary from our forward-looking
statemnents:

= our future operating results;
» our business operations and prospects;

« general volatility of the securities markets in which we invest and the market price of our common
stock;

» changes in our business strategy,

» our ability to begin making investments in the future;

« availability, terms and deployment of short-term and long-term capital;
» availability of quéliﬁed personnel;

+ changes in our industry, interest rates, the debt securities, credit and capital markets, the general
economy or the commercial finance and real estate markets specifically;

» the performance and financial condition of borrowers and corporate customers;
» increased rates of default and/or decreased recovery rates on our investments;

* increased prepayments of the mortgage and other loans underlying our mortgage-backed or other asset-
backed securities;

» changes in governmental regulations, tax rates and similar matters;
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* the status of our class action lawsuits, any stockholder derivative lawsuits, other lawsuits relating to
Arbor’s hostile activity and any future litigation that may arise;

* the outcome of a potential proxy fight over our director nominees;

* the ultimate proceeds from the sale of assets undertying our $40.0 million mezzanine investment and
$42.8 million B-Note investment;

* legislative and regulatory changes (including changes to laws governing the taxation of REITs);
* availability of investment opportunities in real estate-related and other securities;

* the degree and nature of our competition;

* the adequacy of our cash reserves and working capital; and

* the timing of cash flows, if any, from our investments.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result
of future events, new information or otherwise.

The risks included here are not exhaustive. Other sections of this report may include additional factors that
could adversely affect our business and financial performance. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and
rapidly changing environment. New risk factors emerge from time to time and it is not possible for management
to predict all such risk factors, nor can it assess the impact of all such risk factors on our business or the extent to
which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in
any forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance on
forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results,

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Qur principal office is located at City Place 1, 185 Asylum Street, 3 1st Floor, Hartford, CT 06103 and our
telephone number is (860} 275-6200. We believe that our office facilities are suitable and adequate for our
business as it is conducted. Our website is located at hrtp:/Awvww.chrerealtyfinance.com. The information found
on, or otherwise accessible through, our website is not incorporated into, and does not form a part of, this
prospectus or any other report or document we file with or furnish to the SEC.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On October 30, 2007, a class action lawsuit was commenced in the United States District Court for the
Disirict of Connecticot against CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. and our chief financial officer and former chief
executive officer seeking remedies under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The complaint alleges that the
registration statement and prospectus relating to our October 2006 initial public offering contained material
misstatementis and material omissions. Specifically, the plaintiff alleges that management had knowledge of
certain loan impairments and did not properly disclose or record such impairments in the financial statements.
The plaintiff seeks to represent a class of all persons who purchased or otherwise acquired our common stock
between September 29, 2006 and August 6, 2007 and seeks damages in an unspecified amount.

In addition, on January 15, 2008 and February 7, 2008, we received complaints from an attorney
representing two stockholders, atleging that certain officers and directors of our company knowingly violated

generally accepted accounting principles for certain of our assets. The stockholders demanded that we take action
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to recover from such directors and officers the amount of damages sustained by us as a result of the misconduct
alleged therein and to correct deficiencies in our internal controls and accounting practices that allowed the
misconduct to occur.

We believe that the allegations and claims against us and our directors, chief financial officer and former
chief executive officer are without merit and we intend to contest these claims vigorously. An adverse resolution
of the action could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations in the
period in which the lawsuits and claims are resolved. We are not presently able to estimate potential losses to us,
if any, related to these lawsuits and claims.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.
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PARTII

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock began trading on the NYSE on September 27, 2006 under the symbol “CBF.” As of
March 14, 2008, the reported closing sale price per share of common stock on the NY SE was $3.58 and we had
30,920,225 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding that were held by approximately 58 holders of
record. The table below sets forth the quarterly high and low closing sales prices of our common stock on the
NYSE since our initial public offering and the distributions paid by us with respect to the periods indicated.

Quarter Ended High ~ _Low
September 30,2006 . .. .. ... e 81560 $14.50
December 31,2000 .. ... oooo e $1839 31470
March 31, 2007 ... e $16.86 $12.88
June 30, 2007 . e $13.49  $11.89
September 30, 2007 .. .. . e $1269 § 4.25
December 31, 2007 ... .. e $ 737 §$ 378

There had been no public trading market for our commen stock prior to our October 2006 initial public
offering. Shares of our common stock issued to qualified institutional buyers in connection with our June 20035
private offering were eligible for trading in the PORTAL (SM) Market, or PORTAL, a subsidiary of the
NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc., which permits secondary sales of eligible unregistered securities to qualified
institutional buyers in accordance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act. From June 9, 2005 through
September 27, 2006, the high and low sales prices for our common stock was $15.00 per share.

Distributions

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes commencing with our taxable
year ended on December 31, 2005. U.S. federal income tax law requires that a REIT distribute with respect to
each year at least 90% of its REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid
and excluding any net capital gain. We will not be required to make distributions with respect to income derived
from the activities conducted through CBRE Realty Finance TRS, Inc., our TRS, that are not distributed to us. To
the extent our TRS’s income is not distributed and is instead reinvested in the operations of our TRS, the value of
our equity interest in our TRS will increase. The aggregate value of the securities that we hold in our TRS may
not exceed 20% of the total value of our gross assets. Distributions from our TRS to us will qualify for the 95%
gross income test, but will not qualify for the 75% gross income test. Therefore, distributions from our TRS to us
in no event will exceed 25% of our gross income with respect to any given taxable year.

To satisfy the requirements to qualify as a REIT and generaltly not be subject to U.S. federal income and
excise tax, we intend to make regular quarterly distributions of all or substantially alt of our net income to
holders of our common stock out of assets legally available therefor. Any future distributions we make will be at
the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon our earnings and financial condition, maintenance
of REIT gualification, applicable provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law, and such other factors as
our board of directors deems relevant,
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The following table shows the distributions declared in 2006 and 2007:

Cash Distribution

Record Date Payment Date Declared per Share
April 14, 2006 April 25, 2006 $0.17
June 30, 2006 July 17, 2006 $0.18

September 18, 2006 QOctober 11, 2006 $0.28
December 29, 2006 January 16, 2007 $0.19
March 30, 2007 April 16, 2007 $0.21
Tune 29, 2007 July 16, 2007 50.21
September 28, 2007 October 15, 2007 $0.17
December 31, 2007 January 15, 2008 $0.21

To the extent that our cash available for distribution is less than 90% of our REIT taxable income, we may
consider various funding sources to cover any such shortfall, including borrowings. selling certain of our assets
or future offerings. Our distribution policy enables us to review the alternative funding sources available to us
from time to time.

The following table summarizes information, as of December 31, 2007, relating to our equity compensation
plans pursuant to which shares of our common stock or other equity securities may be granted from time to time.

{c}

Number of securities
(a) (b) remaining available for
Number of securities Weighted average future issuance under
to be issued upon exercise price of equity compensation
exercise of outstanding outstanding plans (excluding
options, warrants and options, warrants securities reflected in
Plan category rights and rights column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holderst) ........... 979,102 3$13.04 33,892
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders .. ... N/A N/A N/A
Total ..o 979,102 $13.04 33,892

1 Includes information related to our 2005 equity incentive plan.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

On June 9, 2005, we completed our private offering of 20,000,000 shares of our common stock pursuant to
Rule 144A, Regulation D and Regulation S under the Securities Act, resulting in gross proceeds of $300.0
million and net proceeds of approximately $282.5 million, which were used primarily to fund investments. Credit
Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Banc of America Secunities LLC and Citigroup
Global Markets Inc. served as the initial purchasers/placement agents in the private offering.

We issued 357,700, 134,000 and 567,655 shares of our common stock in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively,
for stock-based compensation in connection with our 2005 equity incentive plan. We also issued options to
purchase shares of 136,000, 95,400 and 813,600 shares of our common stock in 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The options have a term of five years from the date of grant and become exercisable in three equal
annual installments beginning on the first anniversary of the date of the grant. These transactions were not
registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, pursuant to the exemption contemplated by Section 4(2)
thereof for transactions not involving a public offering.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Summary Consolidated Financial Infermation

The following table presents summary consolidated financial information for the year ended December 31,
2007, the year ended December 31, 2006 and for the period May 10 (inception) through December 31, 2003. Since
the information presented below is only a summary and does not provide all of the information contained in our
historical consolidated financial statements, including the related notes, you should read it in conjunction with
Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and our
consolidated financial statements, including the related notes, included in Item 8.

For the Period
For the Year For the Year May 10, 2005
Ended Ended (inception) through

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
(in thousands, except per share and share data)

Revenues:
[nvestment iNCOME ... ....coiiiiirennnnenrnnnn. $129.416 $64,631 % 9342
Property operating income . ...........c.....0.... 7,004 6,100 —_
Otherincome ........... ... ... it renn.. 4,609 3,322 3,057
Total revenue . . .....covr e 141,029 74,053 12,399
Expenses:
Interest eXpense .. .ot i it 93,852 42181 2,664
Managementfees........ ... ... ... i, 7,695 6,515 3,158
Property operating expenses ...................... 3,950 3,110 —

Other general and administrative expenses {(including
$1,292, $3,867 and $1,770, respectively, of stock-

based compensation) ............. ... ... ... 9,351 10,404 5,549
Depreciation and amortization .................... 2,053 1,532 —_—
Provisionforloan loss . ... ... o nnn 19,650 — —_
Loss on impairment of asset ................0.0... : 7,764 — —

Total expenses .. ........couviiiianineran.. 144,315 63,742 11,371
Gain (loss) onsaleof investment . ................. (500} 258 —
Gain (loss)onderivatives .......... . i iiel.. (1,923 3,552 24
Income from continuing operations before equity
in net loss of unconsolidated joint ventures .. .. (5,709) 14,121 1,052
Equity in net loss of unconsclidated joint
411111 -1 TR (5.,721) {453) —
Net income (loss) before minority interest .. ..... (11,430) 13,668 1,052
Minority interest .. ... .. ... ... . .o .. (132) (75) —_
Income from continuing operations ............ (11,298) 13,743 1,052
Discontinued operations
Operating results from discontinued operations ... .... (4,739) — —
Loss on impatrment of asset held forsale ............ (54,729) — —
Loss from discontinued operattons .. ............... {59,468) -— —_
Netincome (loss) ...........vvvniiniinnn.. $(70,766) $13,743 $ 1,052
Basic earnings per share
Income (loss) from continuing operations ........... $ {037 $ 06t $ 0405
Loss from discontinued operations ................. (1.96) -— —
Net income (Jos8} ...t ens § (233 $ 0.60 § 005
Diluted earnings per share
Income from continuing operations ................ $ 037 $ 0.60 $ 005
Loss from discontinued operations ... .............. (1.96) — —
Netincome (Ioss) ........ . ciiiitiniiieinnnnnn. $ (233 $ 0.60 $ 005
Weighted average shares of common stock ouistanding
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding . . . 30,287 22,688 20.000
Diluted weighted average common shares and common
share equivalents outstanding ................... 30,287 22,837 20,108
Dividends per commen share $  0.80 $ 082 $ 0.9




; As of

As of

Asof

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:("

Cash and equivalents . .......... ... ....co.ovn. $ 25954
Total investments, NEL . ... ... vt e reeeeennns $1.664.210
Total ASSELS .« oo e $2,069,299
Debt-repurchase obligations ................... $ 144,183
Mortgages payable . ....... .. oo $ 54,899

Junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures
held by trusts that issued trust preferred

SECUTIHES .o vvr it ie i $ 50,000

Bonds payable ....... ... i $1,339,500

' Total liabilities .. ......... ... it $1,855,820
Minority interest .............oeeeeniiiiaann $ 663

Stockholders™ equity ....... ... ... il $ 212816

{in thousands)

¥ 17933
$1,369,609
$1,522,689
$ 433,438
$ 52,194

$ 50,000
$ 508,500
$1,110,006
$ 813
$ 411,870

$ 49.377
$538,068
$623,718
$304,825
$ 25,001

$ —

$343,651
$ 436
$279,631

(M  Aggregates our (i) loans and other lending investments, net; (iiy CMBS, at fair value and (iii) real estate, net
line items from our balance sheet. The real estate, net represents two joint venture investments as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006 {one as of December 31, 2005) that are considered VIEs that we consolidate
under FIN 46R, because we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary of the VIEs. These interests are
reflected on our balance sheet separately as real estate, net of $64,721 as of December 31, 2007, $66,277 as
of December 31, 2006 and $31,923 as of December 31, 2005, mortgage indebtedness of $54,899 as of
December 31, 2007, $52,194 as of December 31, 2006 and $25,001 as of December 31. 2005, and minority
interest of $663 as of December 31, 2007, $813 as of December 31, 2006 and $436 as of December 31,
2005, with other amounts of $3,719 as of December 31, 2007, $2,085 as of December 31,2006 and $1,803
as of December 31, 2005, net, in relevant other balance sheet line items which in the aggregate net out to
$12,878 as of December 31, 2007, $15,355 as of December 31, 2006 and $8,289 as of December 31, 2005.
We disclose the net amount above in the consolidated balance sheet data under total investments, net.
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

CBRE Realty Finance, Inc, was organized in Maryland on May 10, 2005, as a commercial real estate
specialty finance company focused on originating and acquiring whole loans, bridge loans, subordinate interests
in whole loans, or B Notes, commercial mortgage-backed securities, or CMBS and mezzanine {oans, primarily in
the United States. As of December 31, 2007, we also own interests in eight joint venture assets, two of which are
consolidated in the consolidated financial statements and two direct real estate projects as a result of the
foreclosure by us of two mezzanine loans. We commenced operations on June 9, 2005. We are a holding
company and conduct our business through wholly-owned or majority-owned subsidiaries.

Unless the context requires otherwise, all references to “we,” “our,” and “us™ in this annual report mean
CBRE Realty Finance, Inc., a Maryland corporation, our wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries and our
ownership in joint venture assets and real estate projects.

We are externally managed and advised by CBRE Realty Finance Management, LLC, our Manager, an
indirect subsidiary of CB Richard Ellis Group, Inc., or CBRE, and a direct subsidiary of CBRE Melody &
Company, or CBREIMelody. As of December 31, 2007, CBREIMelody also owned an approximately 4.5%
interest in the outstanding shares of our comman stock, In addition, certain of our executive officers and directors
owned an approximately 6,2% interest in the outstanding shares of our common stock.

We have elected to qualify to be 1axed as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for U. S. federal income tax
purposes commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2005. As a REIT, we generalty will not be
subject to U. 8. federal income tax on that portion of income that is distributed to stockholders if at least 90% of
the our REIT taxable income is distributed to our stockholders. We conduct our operations so as to not be
regulated as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or the 1940 Act.
We also conduct business through our wholly-owned taxable REIT subsidiary, or TRS, CBRE Realty Finance
TRS, Inc.

Our objective is to grow our portfolio and provide attractive total returns to our investors over time through
a combination of dividends and capital appreciation. Our business primarily focuses on originating, acquiring,
investing in, financing and managing a diversified portfolio of commercial real estate related loans and securities,
Our investment focus is on opportunities in North America.

Historically we have generally matched our assets and liabilities in terms of base interest rates (generally
30-day LIBOR) and expected duration. When markets permit, we generally issue collateralized debt obligations,
or CDOs, which enable us to secure term financing and match fund our assets and liabilities to achieve our
financing and return objectives.

We seek to capitalize on both the market knowledge and insight provided by CBRE’s domestic and global
reach, origination capabilities, broad range of commercial real estate services, servicing platform and access to
existing business relationships, as well as the broad commercial real estate experience of our management team.
In addition, with respect to most of our investments, we utilize CBRE’s market insight and other services to
assist our underwriting.

During 2007, we experienced a number of changes due to company specific and industry wide
developments and have actively taken actions 1o address such changes, which include (i) in April 2007, we
announced the resignation of our former CEQO and President, Keith Gollenberg, who was replaced in September
2007 by our current CEO and President, Kenneth J. Witkin, (3i) in May 2007, we determined to focus solely on
core operations and ceased making equity real estate investments through joint ventures arrangements since we
did not believe we were receiving appropriate value for such investments in the marketplace combined with the
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dilutive effect of such investments on our ability to pay dividends and (iii) in July 2007, when concerns over the
sub-prime residential markets began impacting liguidity and valuations in the commercial real estate market, we
suspended new investment activity due to the uncertainty about our ability to secure short-term financing under
repurchase agreements and long-term financing through the issuance of collateral debt obligations. As we await
the credit and capital markets to improve and stabilize, our primary focus has been securing our liquidity by
paying down and terminating outstanding repurchase agreements and managing our existing portfolio of assets to
minimize credit risks.

The current credit and capital market environment is unstable and we continue to review and analyze the
impact on potential avenues of liquidity. We are considering plans to restart our lending program and will resume
origination activities when we are comfortable with the expected pricing of, and have reasonable access to,
capital both in the debt and equity credit and capital markets that will enable us to achieve our growth objectives.
We continue to explore equity and debt capital raising options as well as other strategic alternatives. As a result
of the rapidly changing and evolving markets that continue to create challenges in our industry, we may
experience (i) lower loan originations and margins, (ii) reduced access to and increased cost of financing and
(iii) as our portfolio is reduced by scheduled maturities and prepayments, reduced funds available for distribution
as dividends.

As we continue o assess the impact of the credit markets on our long-term business strategy, we have been
primarily focused on actively managing our existing investment portfolio. As of December 31, 2007, the net
carrying value of our investments was approximately $1.7 billion, including origination costs and fees and net of
repayments and sales of partial interests in loans and CMBS, with a weighted average spread to 30-day LIBOR
of 307 basis points for our floating rate investments and a weighted average yield of 7.11% for our fixed rate
investments. Our portfolio is comprised solely of commercial real estate debt and equity investments with no
sub-prime exposure. We have long-term financing in place through our first CDO issuance, which provides
approximately $509.0 million of financing with an average cost of 90-day LIBOR plus 50.6 basis points and our
second CDO issuance which provides $831.0 million of financing with an average cost of 90-day LIBOR plus
40.6 basis points. Our CDOs contain reinvestment periods of five years during which we can use the proceeds of
loan repayments to fund new investments. As of December 31, 2007, we had approximately 3.2 years and 4.2
years remaining in our reinvestment period for our first and second CDO, respectively.

On December 31, 2007, we had approximately $163.0 million of cash and cash equivalents available, of
which $26.0 million was unrestricted. We have long-term financing for 86% (95% at March 17, 2008) of our
portfolio in place through our existing CDOs and mortgage loans. In order to effectively match-fund our
investment portfolio we have been aggressively reducing amounts outstanding under our repurchase facility with
Wachovia Bank, National Association, or Wachovia. Liquidity is a measure of our ability to meet potential cash
requirements, including ongoing commitments to repay borrowings, fund loans and other investments, pay
dividends, fund debt service and for other general corporate purposes. Our primary sources of funds for shoit-
term liquidity, including working capital, distributions and additional investments consist of (i) cash flow from
operations; (ii) proceeds from our existing CDOs; (jii) proceeds from principal and interest payments on our
investments; (iv) proceeds from potential loan and asset sales; (v) proceeds from potential joint ventures; and to a
lesser extent (vi) new financings or additional securitization or CDO offerings and (vii} proceeds from additional
common or preferred equity offerings or offerings of trust preferred securities. We believe these sources of funds
will be sufficient to meet our liguidity requirements.

Due to recent market turbulence, we do not anticipate having the ability in the near term to access equity
capital through the public markets or debt capital through warehouse lines, new CDO issuances, or new trust
preferred issuances. We continue to explore equity and debt capital raising options as well as other sirategic
alternatives; however, in the event we are not able to successfully secure financing, we will rely on cash flows
from operations, principal payments on our investments, and proceeds from potential joint ventures and asset and
loan sales 1o satisfy these requirements. If we (i) are unable to renew, replace or expand our sources of financing
on substantially similar terms, (ii) are unable to execute asset and loan sales on time or to receive anticipated
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proceeds there from, (iil) fully utilize available cash or (iv) are unable to secure a joint venture on favorable
terms or at all, it may have an adverse effect on its business, results of operations and ability to make
distributions to its stockholders,

Our current and future borrowings may require us, among other restrictive covenants, to keep uninvested
cash on hand, to maintain a certain portion of our assets free from liens and to secure such borrowings with our
assets. These conditions could limit our ability to do further borrowings. If we are unable to make required
payments under such borrowings, breach any representation or warranty in the loan documents or violate any
covenant contained in a loan document, our lenders may accelerate the maturity of our debt or require us to
pledge more collateral. If we are unable to pay off its borrowings in such a situation, (1) we may need to
prematurely sell the assets securing such debt, (i) the lenders could accelerate the debt and foreclose on our
assets that are pledged as collateral to such lenders, {iii) such lenders could force us into bankruptcy, or (iv) such
lenders could force us to take other actions as to protect the value of their collateral. Any such event would have
a material adverse effect on our liquidity and the value of our common stock.

As of December 31, 2007, our investment portfolio (excluding our two direct real estate assets) of
approximately $1.7 billion in assets, including origination costs and fees, and net of repayments and sales of
partial interests in loans, consisted of the following:

Weighted Average
Carrying Number of Percent of Total Yield to

Security Description Value Investments  Investments Coupon Maturity LTV

{In thousands) -
Wholeloanst , ... ... ... . ... ..... $ 881,089 41 52.3% 6.78% 6.58% 69%
BNotes ... . ..o, 218,317 3 13.0% 7.96% 8.29% 67%
Mezzanineloans ..................... 282,297 14 16.8% 9.70% 2.41% 73%
CMBS ... 236,134 67 14.0% 5.99% 7.17% —
Joint venture investments® .. ... ... ... .. 66,023 _ 8 39% — — —
Total investments .................... $1,683,860 141 100.0%
Loanlossreserve ..................... (19,650)
Total investments, net .. ............... 51,664,210

t)  Includes originated whole loans, acquired whole loans and bridge loans.

@ Includes our equity investment in two limited liability companies which are deemed to be VIEs and which
we consolidate in our audited financial statements because we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary of
these VIEs under FIN 46R.

Qutlook

Qur business strategy of originating and acquiring investments is affected by general U.S. commercial real
estate fundamentals and the overall U.8. economic environment. Further, our strategy is influenced by the
specific characteristics of the underlying real estate assets that serve as collateral for our investments. We have
designed our strategy to be flexible so that we can adjust our investment activities and portfolio weightings given
changes in the U.5. commercial real estate capital and property markets and the U.S. economy.

Beginning in the third quarter of 2007, the global economy was impacted by the deterioration of the U.S.
sub-prime residential mortgage market and the weakening of the U.S. housing markets, both of which have
become worse than many economists had predicted. The significant increase in the foreclosure activity and rising
interest rates in mid-2007 depressed housing prices further as problems in the sub-prime markets spread to the
other mortgage markets. The well-publicized problems in the residential markets spread to other financial
markets, causing corporate credit spreads (or cost of funds) to widen dramatically. Banks and other lending
institutions started to tighten lending standards and restrict credit. The structured credit markets, including the
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CMBS and CDO markets, have seized up as investors have shunned the asset class owning to sub-prime and
transparency worries. In particular, the short-term, three to five year floating rate debt market has effectively shut
down and as the turmoil continues to spread, almost all fixed income capital markets have been negatively
impacted and liquidity in these markets remains severely limited. While delinquencies in the commercial real
estate markets remain quite low, the lack of liquidity in the CMBS and other commercial mortgage markets is
negatively impacting sales and financing activity. It is widely believed that if the credit crisis continues for
several more quarters, commercial real estate values will be negatively impacted, as the higher cost or lack of
availability of debt financing become a reality for real estate owners. While we believe these conditions are
temporary and the commercial real estate market has strong fundamentals over the fong-term, we are unable to
predict how long these trends will continue and what long-term impact it may have on the market.

In the short-term, we believe the current environment of rapidly changing and evolving markets will provide
increasing challenges to both our industry and our company. While we continue to believe the commercial
lending business has strong long-term fundamentals and is being adversely affected by recent volatility in the
credit and capital markets, due to these uncertainties, we may experience the following: (i) lower or no loan
originations and lower margins, (ii) reduced access to, if at all, and increased cost of, financing, and (iii) reduced
cash available for distribution to stockholders, particularly as our portfolio is reduced by scheduled maturities
and prepayments.

During 2007, we experienced a number of changes due to company specific and industry wide
developments and have actively taken actions to address such changes, which include (i) in April 2007, we
announced the resignation of our former CEO and President, Keith Gollenberg, who was replaced in September
2007 by our current CEO and President, Kenneth J. Witkin, (ii) in May 2007, we determined to focus solely on
our core operations and cased making equity real estate investments through joint ventures arrangements since
we did not believe we were receiving appropriate value for such investments in the marketplace combined with
the dilutive effect of such investments on our ability to pay dividends and (iii) in July 2007, when concerns over
the sub-prime residential markets began impacting liquidity and valuations in the commercial real estate market,
we suspended new investments, due to the uncertainty about our ability to secure short-term financing under
repurchase agreements and long-term financing through the issuance of collateral debt obligations.

Given the recent volatility in the credit and capital markets and the effects on our liquidity, we have not
entered into a new investment since July 2007. The current credit and capital market environment is unstable and
we continue to review and analyze the impact on potential avenues of liquidity. We are considering plans to
restart our lending program and will resume origination activities when we are comfortable with the expected
pricing of, and have reasonable access 1o, capital both in the debt and equity credit and capital markets that will
enable us to achieve our growth objectives. The current financial turmoil has also started to impact our
borrower’s ability to service their debt and refinance their loans as they mature. As we await the credit and
capital markets to improve and stabilize, our primary focus has been securing our liquidity by paying down
outstanding repurchase agreements and managing our existing portfolio of assets to minimize credit risks.

-

Due to our status as a REIT, we are required to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to
stockholders. As our loans are repaid and/or we sell our loans, if we do not begin lending again, we will
experience declines in the size of the investment portfolio over time. A reduction in the size of our investment
portfolio would also result in reduced income available for distribution and perhaps to a lower dividend as
compared to historical standards.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we received approximately $322 million of proceeds from a
combination of (i) scheduled principal payments and maturities, (i} loan prepayments and (iii) loan sales. We
expect this trend to continue in 2008 and we expect to make a limited number of new investments in 2008 to
fully utilize capacity on our existing CDOs. Our CDOs contain reinvestment periods of five years during which
we can use the proceeds of loan repayments to fund new investments. As of December 31, 2007, we have
approximately 3.2 years and 4.2 years remaining in our reinvestment period for our first and second CDO,
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respectively. The volome of any new investment activity would be substantially lower than our historical
production. However, since credit spreads have increased significantly since the issuance of our CDOs we expect
higher margins for any new investments based on current credit spreads and market conditions.

On December 31, 2007, we had approximately $163.0 million of cash and cash equivalents available, of
which $26.0 million was unrestricted. We have long-term financing for 86% (95% at March 17, 2008) of our
portfolio in place through our existing CDOs and mortgage loans. In order to effectively match-fund our
investment portfolio, we have been aggressively reducing amounts under our repurchase facility with Wachovia
going from $217.0 million at September 30, 2007 to $145.0 million at December 31, 2007, Subsequent to
December 31, 2007, we have further reduced the Wachovia obligation to approximately $31.0 million.
Additionally, we repaid and terminated our repurchase facilities with Deutsche Bank and Bank of America. We
expect the availability of warehouse lines, which we use to finance loan originations that will ultimately be
packaged in CDO offerings, will be limited in the near-term due to reduced liquidity in the CDO market and a
lesser appetite for new CDO issuances. As we await the recovery of these traditional avenues of liquidity, we are
considering several alternative equity and debt capital raising options as well as analyzing our fundamentat
business model.

Results of Operations

The Company also noted that it has retained Goldman Sachs as its financial advisor to assist the Company
with its sirategic and operational initiatives.

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2007 to the year ended December 31, 2006
Revenues

Investment income is generated on cur whole loans and bridge loans, subordinate interests in whole loans,
mezzanine loans and CMBS investments. Investment income increased by $64.8 million to $129.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007, from $64.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, as the overall average
investment portfolio increased to $1.5 billion December 31, 2007, from $922.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006. Specifically, the primary components of the increase for the year ended December 31, 2007
was generated by our whole loans ($36.]1 million), B Notes ($5.6 million), mezzanine loans ($10.4 million) and
CMBS ($10.0 million).

Property operating income increased by $0.9 million to $7.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007,
from $6.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, which primarily represents the inclusion of twelve
months of rental income for the Loch Raven joint venture, which was acquired on March 28, 2006.

Other income increased by $1.3 million to $4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, from $3.3
mitlien for the year ended December 31, 2006, which represents interest earned on cash balances primarily from
overnight repurchase investments.

Expenses

Interest expense increased by $51.7 million to $93.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, from
$42.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. The primary components of interest expense included $65.3
million of interest on our CDO financings, $18.5 million of interest on berrowings on our warehouse facilities,
$3.2 million of interest on our consolidated real estate joint venture mortgages, and $4.1 million of interest on
our trust preferred securities. The primary reason for the increase in 2007 was due to higher average outstanding
debt resulting from the issnance of our second CDO in 2007.

Management fees increased by $1.2 million to $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, from
$6.5 million for December 31, 2006. The increase is due primarily to an increased average equity balance from
which management fees are derived, due to additional equity raised through our October 2006 TPO.
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Property operating expenses increased by $0.9 million to $4.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2007, from $3.1 million for December 31, 2006, which primarily represents operating expenses from our two
consolidated joint ventures. The increase is due primarily to the inclusion of twelve months of expenses for the
Loch Raven joint venture, which was acquired on March 28, 2006.

General and administrative expenses decreased by $1.0 million to $9.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007, from $10.4 million for December 31, 2006. The largest component of the decrease was
stock-based compensation expense, which decreased $2.6 million from the prior period driven by a lower stock
price at December 31, 2007 from which the fair value of unvested restricted stock and options is derived.
Offsetting the overall decrease was an increase in professional fees of approximately $1.1 million which
increased primarily due to implementation of Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 and having a full
year of public company reporting requirements.

The management fees, expense reimbursements, formation costs and the relationship between our Manager,
our affiliates and us are discussed further in “‘Related Party Transactions.”

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by $0.5 million to $2.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007 from $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, which primarily represents
depreciation and amortization from our two consolidated joint ventures. The increase is due primarily to the
inclusion of twelve months of expenses for the Loch Raven joint venture, which was acquired on March 28,
2006.

Loss on impairment of loan

Loss on impairment of toan increased to $7.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $0 for the
year ended December 31, 2006. After taking control and possession of the Monterey property, management
estimated the fair value of the Monterey property at the date of foreclosure and concluded the carrying value
exceeded the estimated fair value of net assets acquired and, as a result, an impairment of $7.8 million was
recorded.

Provision for loan losses

The provision for loan losses increased to $19.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 from 30 for
the year ended December 31, 2006. The loan loss reserve in 2007 is due to three loans that are either on the
watch-list or are non-performing, where management estimated the loans may not be fully recoverable based on
current market conditions and specific facts and circumstances for each loan.

Gains (losses) on sale of investments

Losses on sale of investments changed by $0.8 million 1o a loss of $0.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007, from a gain of $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. The loss in 2007 is
related to the sale of a loan investment.

Gains (losses) on derivatives

Loss on derivatives changed by $5.5 million to a loss of $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007
from a gain of $3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. The $3.6 million was a realized gain related to
the termination of interest rate swaps in conjunction with our first CDO transaction and the sale of an A note in
the first quarter of 2006. $1.5 million realized of the realized losses in 2007 was due to a terminated interest rate
swap that was settled in connection with the sale of a toan investment that was being hedged.
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Loss on impairment of assets held for sale

Subsequent to foreclosure of the Monterey and Rodgers Forge properties, there was significant deterioration
in the Baltimore area and metropolitan DC area condominium markets as well as a severe dislocation of the
capital and credit markets precipitated by the sub-prime lending crisis. As a result of these events, management
determined that its original business plans to convert the Rodgers Forge and Monterey properties to
condominiums were no longer viable and that the properties may be impaired. Based on the management
estimate of future undiscounted cash flows as apartment properties, the long-lived assets of the Rodgers Forge
and Monterey properties were no longer fully recoverable. Impairment losses of $17.7 million and $37.0 million,
respectively, on the Rodgers Forge and Monterey properties were determined based on the difference between
the carrying values of the long-lived assets and their estimated fair market values. The estimated fair market
values were based on discounted cash flow projections which assumed the properties were sold when stabilized
and were supported by third party offers to purchase the Rodgers Forge property and an independent third party
appraisal for the Monterey property.

Operating resulis from discontinued operations

Operating results from discontinued operations consist primarily of rental income, rental expenses and
interest expenses attributable to rental operations of Rodgers Forge and Monterey properties that were
consolidated by us after the properties were foreclosed upon in May of 2007,

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2000 to the period from May 10, 2005 (inception) through
December 31, 2005

Revenues

Investment income is generated on our whole loans and bridge loans, subordinate interests in whole loans,
mezzanine loans and CMBS investments. Investment income increased by $55.3 to $64.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006, from $9.3 million for the period May 10, 2005 (inception) through December 31,
2005, as the overall investment portfolio increased to $1.4 billion at December 31, 2006, from $538.1 million at
December 31, 2003. Specifically, the increase for the year ended December 31, 2006 was generated by our whole
loans ($21.1 million), B Notes ($12.3 million), mezzanine loans ($12.7 million) and CMBS ($9.2 million).

Real estate operating income increased by $6.1 million to $6.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2006, from none for the period May 10, 2005 (inception} through December 31, 2005, which primarily represents
rental income from our two consolidated joint ventures.

Other income increased by $0.3 million to $3.3 mitlion for the year ended December 31, 2006, from $3.0
million for the period May 10, 2005 (inceptien) through December 31, 2003, which represents interest earned on
cash balances primarily from overnight repurchase investments.

Expenses

Interest expense increased by $39.5 million to $42.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, from
$2.7 million for the period May 10, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2005, of which $22.6 million
represents interest on our first CDO financing, which had a weighted average spread to 30-day LIBOR of 51
basis points {or 5.86%), $12.5 million represents interest on borrowings on our warehouse facilities, which had a
weighted average spread to 30-day LIBOR of 69 basis points (or 6.04%), $2.7 million represents interest on our
consolidated real estate joint venture mortgages, and $1.7 million represents interest on our trust preferred
securities. The primary components of the remaining balance in interest expense is comprised of $1.1 million of
net swap interest income related to our derivative coatracts, $0.5 million amortization of deferred interest
expense related to a development project, $1.2 million of amortization of deferred financing costs related,
primarily, to the clesing of our warehouse facilities and our CDO financing and $0.4 million of servicing fees.
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Management fees increased by $3.4 million 10 $6.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, from
$3.1 million for the period May 10, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2005. $2.5 million was attributable
to the fact that the 2006 reporting pericd was for four full quarters, $0.7 million was attributable to the additional
equity raised through our October 2006 initial public offering, or our IPQ, and $0.2 million attributable to the
management fee charged on our trust preferred securities from July 27, 2006 to September 27, 2006, which
represents fees paid or payable to our Manager under our management agreement.

Property operating expenses increased by $3.1 million to $3.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2006, from none for the period May 10, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2005, which primarilv represents
operating expenses from our two consolidated joint ventures,

General and administrative expenses increased by $4.9 million to $10.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006, from $5.5 million for the period May 10, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2005, of
which the primary drivers of the increase were attributable to $2.6 million from professional fees, insurance, and
general overhead costs, $1.1 million from purchase and acquisition investment activity, offset by a decrease in
formation costs of $0.9 million which represent direct organizational, administrative and consulting expenses
incurred prior to May 10, 2005 related to establishing our structure and operations. Of these costs, $0.4 million
were reimbursed to an affiliate of our Manager, CBREIMelody, from the proceeds of our June 2005 private
offering. Stock-based compensation expenses increased $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This
represents the cost of restricted stock and options granted to our Manager, our executive officers and directors
and certain persons related to our Manager. The restricted stock for our independent directors vest one year from
the date of grant and for all other grantees will vest equally over a three-year period. The shares of restricted
stock receive dividends as declared and paid. The compensation expense recorded for the year ended
December 31, 2006 represents a ratable portion of the expense based on the fair value of these shares and options
over their vesting period.

The management fees, expense reimbursements, formation costs and the relationship between our Manager,
our affiliates and us are discussed further in “Related Party Transactions.”

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by $1.5 million to $1.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006, from none for the period May 10, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2005, which
primarily represents depreciation and amortization from our two consolidated joint ventures.

Guains on derivatives

Gains on derivatives increased by $3.6 million to $3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, from
none for the period May 10, 2005 {inception) through December 31, 2005. The $3.6 million was a realized gain
related to the termination of interest rate swaps in conjunction with our CDO transaction and the saie of an A
note in the first quarter of 2006.

Gains on sale of investments

Gains on sale of investments increased by $0.3 million to $0.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2006, of which $0.4 million was a realized gain related to the sale of a CMBS investment and $0.1 million was a
realized loss related to the sale of an A note.
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Risk Management
As of December 31, 2007, we had the following watch list and non-performing loans (in thousands):

Investment Type Classification Carrying Value * % of Total Assets
BN . . Non-Performing $42,830 2.0%
Wholeloan ... i e Watch 11,949 0.6%
Mezzanine Loan ......... ... ... i Watch 40,000 1.9%
Total ..o $94,779 4.5%

* At December 31, 2007, we had a $19.7 million loan loss reserve against these assets.

Non-Performing Loans

Non-performing loans include all loans on non-accrual status and repossessed real estate collateral. We
transfer loans to non-accrual status at such time as: (1) management determines the borrower is incapable of
curing, or has ceased efforts towards curing the cause of a default; (2) the loan becomes 90 days delinquent;

(3) the loan has a maturity default; or (4} the net realizable value of the loan’s underlying collateral approximates
our carrying value of such loan. Interest income is recognized only upon actual cash receipt for loans on
non-accrual status,

A $42.8 million investment classified as non-performing is secured by a class A parcel of land in New York
City, or the Drake, that is intended to be developed into a mixed use retail site. The B-Note was originaltly due on
October 1, 2007 and was extended for 60-days with the sponsor funding an additional $150 million of cash
equity. Interest on the loan has been paid through December 31, 2007 at the contractual rate. The ultimate value
of the loan is dependent on several factors that are outside of our control, such as the ultimate use of the project,
the timing of completion and negotiations with potential tenants, and adverse events not currently anticipated
could have a material impact on the value of the underlying collateral and ultimate realizability of the loan
balance. Given the recent state of the credit and capital markets and uncertainty in the commercial real estate
markets, the estimated collateral value is a significant estimate. The value of the collateral could be less than our
current estimate of fair value, due to lack of liquidity in credit markets, declines in the value of commercial real
estate, insufficient time to market or develop the property or other factors, which could result in a partial or full
loss in the value of our position.

Watch List Assets

We conduct a quarterly comprehensive credit review, resulting in an individual risk classification being
assigned to each asset. This review is designed to enable management to evaluate and proactively manage asset-
specific credit issues and identify credit trends on a portfolio-wide basis as an “early warning system.”

The first watch list asset is a whole loan for a class B office property located in a suburb of Chicago,
IMlinois, As of December 31, 2007, the borrower of the whole loan had several defaults under the loan agreement
that management does not expect the borrower will have the ability to cure and, as a result, foreclosure of this
property is probable. Management obtained an independent, third party appraisal of the collateral value of this
property which indicated that the fair value of the collateral, net of expected selling costs, was less than our
carrying value as of December 31, 2007 and, as a result, we recorded a reserve to reduce the value of the loan to
the fair value of the collateral. Subsequent to December 31, 2007, this asset was non-performing.

The second watch list asset is for a mezzanine loan that has an aggregate carrying value of $40.0 million, or
EOP. The loan was due on February 9, 2008 and is collateralized by four class A office properties located in New
York City. The sponsor of this investment is also the sponsor of the Drake disclosed above as a non-performing
loan. Subsequent to December 31, 2007, this asset was non-performing when principal was not repaid in full
upon maturity. Based on management’s estimated fair market value of the collateral, the estimated loan to value
ratio of our position is approximately 100%. Given the recent state of the credit and capital markets and
uncertainty in the real estate market, the estimated collateral value of the four underlying assets is a significant
estimate. The value of the loan is contingent on events that are outside of our control and adverse events not
currently anticipated could have a material impact on the value of the underlying collateral and ultimate
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realizability of the loan balance. The proceeds from a sale of the underlying properties could be less than our
estimate of fair value, due 1o lack of liquidity in credit markets, declines in the value of commercial real estate,
insufficient time to market the property or other factors, which could result in a partial or full loss in the value of
our investment. If the fair market value of the collateral decreases 5% or approximately $150 million from our
estimates, our loan would be fully impaired.

Loan Loss Reserve

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we had a loan loss reserve for non-performing loans and watch-list
assets of $19.7 million and $0, respectively. We estimated the loan loss reserve based on constderation of current
economic conditions and trends, the intent and wherewithal of the sponsors, the quality and estimated value of
the underlying collateral and other factors.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

Liquidity is a measurement of our ability to meet potential cash requirements, including ongoing
commitments to repay borrowings, meet future funding requirements from our existing loan portfolio, pay
dividends, fund debt service, fund new investments and for other general business needs. Our primary sources of
funds for short-term liquidity, including working capital, distributions, debt service, and additional portfolio
funding consist of (i) cash flow from operations; (ii) proceeds from our existing CDOs; (jii) proceeds from
principal and interest payments on our investments; {iv) proceeds from potential loan and asset sales; (v)
proceeds from potential joint ventures; and to a lesser extent (vi) new financings or additional securitization or
CDO offerings and (vii) proceeds from additional common or preferred equity offerings or offerings of trust
preferred securities. Due to recent market turbulence, we do not anticipate having the ability in the near-term to
access equity capital through the public markets or debt capital through warehouse lines, new CDO issuances, or
new trust preferred issuances. Therefore, we will rely primarily on cash flows from operations, principal and
interest payments on our investments, restricted cash available to fund future loan commitments in our first CDO,
our line of credit available to fund loan commitments in our second CDO, and proceeds from potential joint
ventures, asset sales and alternative sources of financing, if any. We believe these sources of funds will be
sufficient to meet our liquidity requirements described above for at least the next twelve months.

As of December 31, 2007, we have long-term financing in place for approximately 86% (95% at March 17,
2008) of our portfolio, primarily through our existing CDOs. While financing for our existing portfolio is secure,
our ability to meet our business objectives over the long-term will require us to obtain additional debt financing
and equity capital in addition to the sources currently available to us described above. If we (i) are unable to
replace our existing sources of financing on substantially similar terms, (ii} are unable to execute asset and loan
sales or to receive anticipated proceeds therefrom, (iii) fully utilize available cash or (iv) are unable to secure a
joint venture on favorable terms or at all, it may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
ability to make distributions to our stockholders. Qur borrowings may require us, among other restrictive
covenants, to keep uninvested cash on hand, maintain a certain portion of our assets free from liens and to secure
such borrowings with our assets. These conditions would limit our ability to do further borrowings. If we are
unable to make required payments under such borrowings, breach any representation or warranty in the loan
documents or violate any covenant contained in a loan document, our lenders may accelerate the maturity of our
debt or require us to pledge more collateral. If we are unable to pay off our borrowings in such a situation, (i) we
may need to prematurely sell the assets securing such debt, (ii) the lenders could foreclose on our assets that are
pledged as collateral to such lenders, (iii) such lenders could force us into bankruptcy or (iv) such lenders could
force us to take other acts to protect the value of their collateral. Any such event would have a material adverse
effect on our liquidity and the value of our common stock.

To qualify as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Internal Revenue Code,
we must distribute annually at least 90% of our taxable income. These distribution requirements limit our ability
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to retain earnings and thereby replenish or increase capital for operations. However, we believe that cash flows
from operations will provide us with financial flexibility at levels sufficient to meet current and anticipated
liquidity requirements, including paying required distributions to our stockholders and servicing our debt
obligations and general working capital. As our loans are repaid and/or we sell our loans, if we do not begin
lending again, we will experience decline in the size of our investment portfolio over time. A reduction in the
size of our investment portfolio would also result in reduced income available for distribution and perhaps to a
lower dividend as compared to historical standards.

On December 31, 2007, we had approximately $163.0 million of cash and cash equivalents available, of
which $26.0 million was unrestricted. We have $1.3 billion of long-term financing in place for 86% (95% at
March 17, 2008) of our portfolio through our existing CDOs and mortgage loans, priced at a spread to LIBOR of
46 basis points through our CDO bonds payable, supporting our existing portfolio of assets. In order to
effectively match-fund our investment portfolio, we have been aggressively reducing amounts under our
repurchase facility with Wachovia going from $217.0 million at September 30, 2007 to $145.0 million at
December 31, 2007. Subsequent to December 31, 2007, we have further reduced the Wachovia obligation to
approximately $31.1 million. We expect the availability of warehouse lines, which we use to finance loan
originations that will ultimately be packaged in CDO offerings, will be limited in the near-term due to reduced
liquidity in the CDO market and a lesser appetite for new CDO issuances. As we await the recovery of these
traditional avenues of liquidity, we are considering several alternative equity and debt capital raising options as
well as analyzing our fundamental business model.

Capitalization

Our authorized capital stock consists of 150,000,000 shares of capital stock, $0.01 par value per share, of
which we have authorized the issuance of up to 100,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per shares,
and 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share.

On June 9, 2005, we completed our private offering of 20,000,000 shares of common stock resulting in
gross proceeds of $300.0 million and net proceeds of approximately $282.5 million, which were used primarily
to fund investments.

On September 27, 2006, we priced our [PO of common stock, with public trading of our common stock
commencing on September 28, 2006. We sald 11,012,624 shares of our common stock in our PO at a price of
$14.50 per share, which includes the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase an additional
1,436,429 shares of common stock. Of these shares, 9,945,020 were sold by us and 1,067,604 were sold by
selling stockholders. Net proceeds from both our IPO and the over allotment option, after underwriting discounts
and commissions of approximately $8.7 million and other offering expenses of approximately $2.4 million, were
approximately $133.2 million, which we received on October 3, 2006. The net proceeds were vsed to repay debt
on the Wachovia Warehouse Interim Facility (as defined below).

On March 7, 2007, 130,200 shares of restricted stock and options to purchase 66,500 shares of the our
common stock with an exercise price of $13.08 per share were issued to certain employees of our Manager under
the 2005 equity incentive plan. Options granted under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan are exercisable at the fair
market value on the date of the grant and, expire five years from the date of the grant, subject to termination of
employment, are not transferable other than at death, and are exercisable ratably over a three year period
commencing one year from the date of the grant.

In August 2007, 60,000 shares of restricted stock were issued to certain of our officers under the 2005
Equity Incentive Plan.

In September 2007, 75,000 shares of restricted stock and options to purchase 24,000 shares of our common
stock with an exercise price of $5.89 per share were issued to our newly hired president and chief executive
officer under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.
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In December 2007, 92,500 shares of restricted stock and options to purchase 45,500 shares of our common
stock with an exercise price of $5.34 per share were issued to certain employees of our Manager under the 2005
Equity Incentive Plan.

As of December 31, 2007, 33,892 awards were available for issuance, and 975,205 restricted shares and
990,903 options have been issued, net of forfeitures, under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan. These restricted
shares and options have a vesting period of three years from the date of grant (except with respect to 2,668
restricted shares granted to our independent directors which vested one year from the date of grant).

Warehouse Lines

We historically financed our portfolio of securities and loans through the use of repurchase agreements.
Currently, we have no warehouse facilities in place that will allow future borrowings, Below is a description of
warechouse lines that we have used since inception.

DB Warehouse Facility

We had a $400.0 million master repurchase agreement, or the DB Warehouse Facility, with Deutsche Bank
AG Cayman Islands Branch. or Deutsche Bank, which had an initial repurchase date of August 29, 2006. On
August 6, 2007, the master repurchase agreement was amended to change the repurchase date 1o September 5,
2007. On September 5, 2007, we entered into an amendment to our master repurchase agreement with Deutsche
Bank to amend the final repurchase date to Seplember 28, 2007. On September 28, 2007, the outstanding
borrowings under the master repurchase agreement were paid in fuil and the agreement was terminated.

Bank of America Warehouse Facilities

In January and February 2006, we entered into two facilities with Bank of America Securities, LLL.C and
Bank of America N.A. that provided $450.0 million of aggregate borrowing capacity. These facilities were
terminated on April 2, 2007.

Wachovia Warehouse Facility

In July 2006, we entered into a mortgage loan purchase agreement with Wachovia, that provided $175.0
million of aggregate borrowing capacity. The borrowings under this facility were paid off on October 4, 2006 and
this facility was terminated.

In August 2006, we entered into a master repurchase agreement with Wachovia, that provided $300.0
million of aggregate borrowing capacity. On December 15, 2006 and February 8, 2007, the aggregate borrowing
capacity was increased to $500.0 million and $700.0 million, respectively, and the increase period expired on
April 2, 2007. After the expiration of the increase period, the maximum borrowing capacity was $300.0 million,
On June 29, 2007, the aggregate borrowing capacity was increased to $400.0 million and the increase period
expired on December 31, 2007 and the maximum borrowing capacity was reduced to $300.0 million. The
Wachovia Warehouse Facility has an initial fixed repurchase date of August 24, 2009, which may be extended
for a period not to exceed 364 days upon our written request to the buyer at least 30 days, but no more than 60
days, prior to the initial repurchase date, if (i) no default or event of default (as defined in the repurchase
agreement) has occurred or continuing and (i1) upon our payment to Wachovia of a certain extension fee. Based
on our investment activities, this facility provided for an advance between 50% and 95% based upon the
collateral provided under a borrowing based calculation. Advances under this facility bore interest only, which is
reset monthly, with a range of pricing spreads from 20 to 200 basis points over 30-day LIBOR. This facility
previously financed our origination or acquisition of whole loans, subordinate mortgage interests and CMBS. As
of December 31, 2007, and December 31, 2006, the outstanding balance under this facility was approximately
$144.2 million and $361.8 million, respectively, with a weighted average borrowing rate of 6,.28% and 6.03%,
respectively. On April 2, 2007, in conjunction with our second CDO transaction, we paid off $517,701 of the
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outstanding debt. We do not expect to make any additional borrowings under this facility. As of December 31,
2007, the borrowings under this facility were collateralized by the following investments (dollars in thousands):

Number
M of Investments  Carrying Value
Whole Loans . .. ... e 4 $100,856
Subordinated Debt . ... . 1 $ 36,500
Mezzanine LOAnS . ... ... ... e 3 $ 75,000
CMB S . e e e e 1 $ 4,121

The Wachovia Warehouse Facility contains certain covenants, the most material of which are requirements
that we maintain a minimum consolidated tangible net worth of no less than the sum of $250,000 and 75% of the
net proceeds of the issuance of any capital stock of any class, a ratio of total consolidated total indebtedness to
consolidated total assets not to exceed 0.80 to 1.0, minimum consolidated liquidity of not less than $15,060 and
consolidated interest coverage ratio not less than 1.4 to 1.0, In March 2008, we received from Wachovia a waiver
of financial covenants which we were not in compliance with as of December 31, 2007: {i) we are required to
have a ratio of total consolidated indebtedness to consolidated total assets not to exceed 0.80 to 1, (it) we are
required to have a consolidated interest coverage ratio of not less than 1.4 to 1.0 and (jii) we may not incur
standard trade payables in excess of $500,000. We were in compliance with all other covenants and conditions as
of December 31, 2007.

On January 24, 2008, we amended the Wachovia Warehouse Facility effective as of October 15, 2007.
Under the amendment, the facility will terminate by March 31, 2009 and the maximum amount cutstanding
under the facility will be an amount equal to (i) $86.0 million through and until March 30, 2008, (ii) $50.0
million from and after March 31, 2008 through and until June 29, 2008, (iii) $35.0 million from and after
June 30, 2008 through and until September 29, 2008, (iv) $20.0 million from and after September 30, 2008
through and until December 30, 2008, (v) $10.0 million from and after December 31, 2008 through and until
March 30, 2009 and (vi) $0 from and after March 31, 2009. Additionally, the initial termination date can be
extended by Wachovia for a period not to exceed 180 days upon receiving a written request from us at least 30
days but not earlier than 60 days prior to the initial termination date, provided, that certain conditions are
satisfied. The agreement contains certain restrictive covenants, including that (i) at no time shall the ratio of our
consolidated total indebtedness to our consolidated total assets for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter be
greater than 0.85 to 1.00. In connection with the execution of this amendment, we agreed to pay a modification
fee to Wachovia in the aggregate amount of $0.7 million in three equal monthly installments.

On January 23, 2008, we and CBRE Realty Finance Holdings, LLC as guarantors, entered into an Amended
and Restated Guarantee Agreement replacing in its entirety the Guarantee Agreement, dated as of August 24,
2006, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to the Guarantee Agreement, daied as of March 13, 2007 and by
Amendment No. 2 to the Guarantee Agreement, dated as of June 29, 2007, in connection with the Wachovia
Warehouse Facility. Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Guarantee Agreement, the guarantors, among other
things, unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee to Wachovia the prompt and complete payment and
performance of the obligations under the Wachovia Warchouse Facility by the us when due. In addition, so long
as no default, event of default or margin deficit has occurred and be continuing, the guarantors may make
distributions solely to the extent necessary to preserve the status of us as a REIT. In addition, at no time shall the
ratio of our consolidated total indebtedness to our consolidated total assets for the immediately preceding fiscal
quarter be greater than 0.85 to 1.00 and at no time shall our fixed charge coverage ratio for the immediately
preceding fiscal quarter was be less than 1.20 to 1.00. According to the Amended and Restated Guarantee
Agreement, at no time on or before March 31, 2008 shail our consolidated liquidity of our be less than $5.0
million, and at no time on or after April 1, 2008 shal} our consolidated liquidity of the Company be less than
$10.0 million. Additionally, at no time shall our consolidated tangible net worth at the end of the last day of the
immediately preceding fiscal quarter be less than the sum of (x) $250.0 million (y) 75% of the net proceeds from
the issuance by us or any of our subsidiaries of any capital stock of any class subsequent to the our [PO. Finally,
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neither we nor CBRE Realty Finance Holdings, LLC shall at any time incur any indebtedness in excess of the
sum of (i) $1.0 million (ii) customary and standard construction trade payables incurred by the guarantors in the
ordinary course of business and (iii) indebtedness owed to Wachovia.

Collateralized Debt Obligations

For longer-term funding, while not currently available, we intend to utilize securitization structures,
particularly CDOs, as well as other match-funded financing structures. CDOs are multiple class debt securities,
or bonds, secured by pools of assets, such as whole loans, B Notes, mezzanine loans, CMBS and REIT debt. We
believe CDO financing structures are an appropriate financing vehicle for our targeted real estate asset classes,
because they will enable us to obtain long-term cost of funds and minimize the risk that we have to refinance our
liabilities prior to the maturities of our investments while giving us the flexibility to manage credit risk.

In March 2006, we closed our first CDO transaction totaling approximately $600.0 million. We retained
100% of the equity interests in our CDO subsidiary that issued the CDO notes consisting of preference and
common shares as well as 100% of the non-rated debt tranches. The notes issued by our CDO subsidiary are
secured initially by a portfolio of whole loans, B Notes, mezzanine loans and CMBS. The structure contains a
five-year reinvestment period during which we can use the proceeds of loan repayments to fund new investments.
Our Manager acts as the collateral manager for our CDO subsidiary but does not receive any fees in connection
therewith. We acted as the advancing agent in connection with the issuance of the CDO notes.

In April 2007, we closed our second CDO transaction totaling approximately $1.0 billion. We sold $880.0
million of bonds with an average cost of 90-day LIBOR plus 40.6 basis points and retained 100% of the equity
interests in our CDO subsidiary that issued the CDO notes consisting of preference and common shares as weil
as 100% of the non-rated debt tranches. The notes issued by our CDO subsidiary are secured initially by a
portfolio of whole loans, B Notes, mezzanine loans and CMBS. The structure contains a five-year reinvestment
period during which we can use the proceeds of loan repayments to fund new investments. Our Manager acts as
the collateral manager for our CDO subsidiary but does not receive any fees in connection therewith. We acted as
the advancing agent in connection with the issuance of the CDO notes.

As of December 31, 2007, our CDO subsidiaries are leveraged as follows:

Carrying
Amount at Weighted Average
12/31/07 Stated Maturity Interest Rate ILxpected Life (years)
CDOIBonds ........coieeee i $508,500  3/25/2046 5.44% 6.6
CDOHBonds ... ... ... . ........... $831,000  4/07/2052 5.65% 7.4

Mortgage Indebtedness

On December 14, 2003, our consolidated joint venture, Springhouse Apartments, LLC, obtained a $26.2
million loan in connection with the acquisition of real estate located in Prince George’s County, Maryland. The
loan is collateralized by the aforementioned property, is guaranteed by Bozzuto and Associates Inc., our joint
venture partner, matures on December 14, 2008, and bears interest at 30-day LIBOR plus 1.75%. As of
December 31, 2007, the outstanding balance was $25.7 million with an interest rate of 6.35%.

On March 28, 2006, our consolidated joint venture, Loch Raven Village Apartments-II, LLC, obtained a
$29.2 million loan in connection with the acquisition of real estate located in Baltimore, Maryland. The loan is
collateralized by the aforementioned property, is guaranteed by Bozzuto and Associates Inc., our joint venture
partner, matures on April 1, 2009, and bears interest at a fixed rate of 3.96%. As of December 31, 2007, the
outstanding balance was $29.2 million,
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On May 4, 2007, we assumed a $36.3 million mortgage loan in conjunction with the Rodgers Forge
foreclosure. The loan matures on April 16, 2009 and bears interest equal to one-haif of one percent (0.50%)
above the Prime Rate. As of December 31, 2007, we were in technical default of certain covenants in this loan,
As of December 31, 2007, the outstanding balance was $36.3 million, which is included in the liabilities held for
sale in the consolidated balance sheet. Subsequent to December 31, 2007, we sold the Rodgers Forge property
and the buyer assumed the mortgage in full.

On May 9, 2007, we assumed a $103.9 million mortgage loan in conjunction with the Monterey foreclosure.
As of December 31, 2007, we were in default of certain covenants in this loan. As of the date hereof, the lender
has not taken any formal or informal action in respect thereof. The loan matured on February 1, 2008 and bears
interest at six-month LIBOR plus 3.25%. As of December 31, 2007, the outstanding balance was $104.0 million,
which is included in the liabilities held for sale in the consolidated balance sheet. In November 2007, we halted
making interest payments to the senior lender of Monterey. While we are in the process of negotiating a sale of
the Monterey, which would include assumption of the mortgage by the buyer, the senior lender could foreclose
on our position prior to the consummation of such sale.

Jurnior Subordinated Debentures

In July 2006, we completed the issuance of $50.0 million in unsecured trust preferred securities through a
newly formed Delaware statutory trust, CBRE Realty Finance Trust |, or CRFT I, which is one of our wholly-
owned subsidiaries. The securities bear interest at a fixed rate of 8.10% for the first ten years ending July 2016.
Thereafter the rate will float based on the 90-day LIBOR plus 249 basis points. The base management fee that we
pay to our Manager pursuant to the management agreement is based on gross stockholders’ equity which our
board of directors had previously determine to include the trust preferred securities, We paid a base
management fee on the trust preferred securities to the Manager from July 26, 2006 to September 27, 2006 in the
amount of approximately $0.2 million. However, as per resolution of our board of directors, beginning
September 28, 2006, we no longer pay such a fee on trust preferred securities to the Manager.

CRFT lissued $1.55 million aggregate liquidation amount of common securities, representing 100% of the
voting common stock of CRFT I to us for a total purchase price of $1.55 million. CRFT 1 used the proceeds from
the sale of trust preferred securities and the common securities to purchase our junior subordinated notes. The
terms of the junior subordinated notes match the terms of the trust preferred securities. The notes are subordinate
and junior in right of payment to all present and future senior indebtedness and certain other financial
obligations. We realized net proceeds from the offering of approximately $48.8 million.

Contractual Obligations

The table below summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007. The table excludes
contractual commitments related to our derivatives, which we discuss in “Qualitative and Quantitative
Disclosures about Market Risk,” and the incentive fee payable under the management agreement that we have
with our Manager, which we discuss in Related Party Transactions because those contracts do not have fixed and
determinable payments.

Contractual commitments

(in thousands)
Payments due by period
Less than 1-3 3.5 More than
Total 1 year years years 5 years

CDOlIbondspayable ................c.0vivuuon.. $ 508500 $ — $ — $— § 508500
CDOIlbondspayable ........................... 831,000 — — — 831,000
Wachovia Warehouse Facility® _.................. 144,183 144,183 —_ — —_
Mortgage payable@ . ... ... oo ool 195,124 129,704 65420 — —
Trust preferred securities .. ............ ... ia... 50,000 — — — 50,000
Base management fees® . ......... ... ... 0l 6,388 6,388 — — —
Total .. e $1,735,195 $280,275 $65420 $—  $1,389,500




Y Subsequent to December 31, 2007, this balance has been reduced to $31.1 million.

@ Non-recourse to us,

@) Calculated only for the next 12 months based on our current gross stockholders’ equity, as defined in our
management agreement,

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we had approximately $53.1 million and $4 1.0 million, respectively, of
equity interest in six joint ventures as described in Note 7 1o our financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2007, included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Dividends

To qualify as a REIT, we must pay annual dividends to our stockholders of at least 90% of our net taxable
income, determined before taking into consideration the dividends paid deduction and net capital gains. We
intend to continue to pay regular quarterly dividends to our stockholders. Before we pay any dividend, whether
for U.S. federal income tax purposes or otherwise, which would only be paid out of available cash to the extent
permitted under our secured credit facilities, we must first meet both our operating requirements and scheduled
debt service on our warehouse lines and other debt payable.

Related Party Transactions
Management Agreement

On June 9, 2005, we entered into a management agreement with our Manager, which provides for an initial
term through December 31, 2008 with automatic one-year extension options for each anniversary date thereafter
and is subject to certain termination rights. After the initial term, our independent directors will review our
Manager’s performance annually and the management agreement may be terminated subject to certain
termination rights. Our executive officers own approximately 26.1% of the Manager. We pay our Manager an
annual management fee monthly in arrears equal to 1/12th of the sum of (i) 2.0% of our gross stockholders’
equity (as defined in the management agreement), or equity, of the first $400.0 million of our equity, (ii) 1.75%
of our gross stockholders’ equity in an amount in excess of $400.0 million and up to $800.0 million and
(iii) 1.5% of our gross stockholders’ equity in excess of $800.0 million. Additionally, from July 26, 2006 to
September 27, 2006, we considered the outstanding trust preferred securities as part of gross stockholders’ equity
in calculating the base management fee. Qur Manager uses the proceeds from its management fee in part to pay
compensation to its officers and employees who, notwithstanding that certain of them also are our officers,
receive no cash compensation directly from us. For the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, we paid
approximately $7.8 million and $6.3 million, respectively, to our Manager for the base management fee under the
management agreement. As of December 31, 2007, $0.5 million of management fees were accrued and
constituted the management fee payable on our balance sheet.

In addition to the base management fee, our Manager may receive quarterly incentive compensation. The
purpose of the incentive coinpensation is provide an additional incentive for our Manager to achieve targeted
levels of Funds From Operations (as defined in the management agreement) (after the base management fee and
before incentive compensation) and to increase our stockholder value. Our Manager may receive quarterly
incentive compensation in an amount equal to the product of: (i) twenty-five percent (25%?) of the dollar amount
by which (A} our Funds From Operations (after the base management fee and before the incentive fee) per share
of our common stock for such quarter (based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding for such
quarter) exceeds (B} an amount equal to (1) the weighted average of the price per share of our common stock in
our June 2005 private offering and the prices per share of our common stock in any subsequent offerings
(including our IPO}, multiplied by (2) the greater of (a) 2.25% or (b) 0.75% plus one-fourth of the Ten Year
Treasury Rate (as defined in the management agreement) for such quarter, multiplied by (ii) the weighted
average number of shares of our common stock outstanding during the such quarter. We will record any
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incentive fees as a management fee expense in the period when earned and when payments of such amounts have
become probable and reasonably estimable in accordance with the management agreement. No amounts had been
paid or were payable for incentive compensation under the management agreement as of December 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2006.

The management agreement also provides that we will reimburse our Manager for various expenses
incurred by our Manager or its affiliates for documented expenses of our Manager or its affiliates incurred on our
behalf, including but not limited to costs associated with formation and capital raising activities and general and
administrative expenses. Without regard to the amount of compensation received under the management
agreement, our Manager is responsible for the salaries and bonuses of its officers and employees. For the year
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, we paid or had payable $0.8 million and $0.8 million, respectively, to our
Manager for expense reimbursements, of which $0.1 million were accrued and are included in other liabilities on
our balance sheet as of December 31, 2007.

GEMSA Servicing

GEMSA Loan Services, L.P., which we refer to as GEMSA, is utilized by us as a loan servicer. GEMSA is a
joint venture between CBREIMelody and GE Capital Real Estate. GEMSA is a rated master and primary
servicer, Qur fees for GEMSA’s services are at market rates.

For the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, we paid or had payable an aggregate of approximately
$251,000 and $82,000, respectively, to GEMSA in connection with its loan servicing of a part of our portfolio.
Such fees were at market rates.

Affiliates

In connection with our June 2005 private offering, we entered into a license agreement with CBRE and one
of its affiliates pursuant to which they granted us a non-exclusive, royalty-free license to use the name “CBRE.”
Under this agreement, we have a right to use the “CBRE” name, as long as our Manager or one of its affiliates
remains our manager and our manager remains an affiliate of CBRE. Other than with respect to this limited
license, we have no legal right to the “CBRE” name. CBRE has the right to terminate the license agreement if its
affiliate is no longer acting as our manager. In the event the management agreement is terminated, we would be
required to change our name to eliminate the use of the words “CBRE.”

As of December 31, 2007, an affiliate of the Manager, CBRE Melody of Texas, LP and its principals,
owned 1,100,000 shares of our common stock (which were purchased in our June 2005 private offering), 300,000
shares of restricted common stock, and had options (o purchase an additional 500,000 shares of common stock.

Funds from Operations

Funds from Operations, or FFO, which is a non-GAAP financial measure, is a widely recognized measure of
REIT performance. We compute FFQ in accordance with standards established by the National Association of
Real Estate Investment Trusts, or NAREIT, which may not be comparable to FFO reported by other REITs that
do not compute FFQ in accordance with the NAREIT definition, or that interpret the NAREIT definition
differently than we do. The revised White Paper on FFO approved by the Board of Governors of NAREIT in
April 2002 defines FFO as net income (loss) (computed in accordance with GAAP), excluding gains (or losses)
from debt restructuring and sales of properties, plus real estate related depreciation and amortization and after
adjustments for unconsclidated/uncombined partnerships and joint ventures. We present FFO because we
consider it an important supplemental measure of our operating performance and believe that it is frequently used
by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of REITs. We also use FFO as one
of several criteria to determine performance-based equity bonuses for members of our senior management team.
FFO is intended to exclude GAAP historical cost depreciation and amortization of real estate and related assets,
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which assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes ratably over time. Historically, however, real estate
values have risen or fallen with market conditions. Because FFO excludes depreciation and amortization unique
to real estate, gains and losses from property dispositions and extraordinary items, it provides a performance
measure that, when compared year over year, reflects the impact to operations from trends in occupancy rates,
rental rates, operating costs, interest costs, providing perspective not immediately apparent from net income. We
consider gains and losses on the sale of debt investments to be a normal part of its recurring operations and
therefore does not exclude such gains or losses while arriving at FFO. FFO does not represent cash generated
from operating activities in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income
(determined in accordance with GAAP), as a measure of our liquidity, nor is it indicative of funds available to
fund our cash needs, including our ability to make cash distributions,

FFO for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and for the period May 10, 2005 {(inception) through
December 31, 2005 are as follows (doliars in thousands):

For the Period
For the For the Muay 10, 2005
Year Ended Year Ended (inception) through

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

Funds from operations:

Net income (loss) .................... § (70,766) $ 13,743 £ 1,052
Depreciation .................... — — —_
Real estate depreciation and amortization:
Consolidated partnerships .......... 1,859 1,492 —
Unconsolidated ventures .. ......... 10,391 2,027 —
Discontinued operations ........... 213 — —
Funds from operations ................ $ (58,303) $ 17,262 $ 1,052
Cash flows provided by operating
activities ................ ... $ 29,407 5§ 7925 $ 4,752
Cash flows used in investment activities . . $(542,000) $(860,191) $(564,998)
Cash flows provided by financing
activities ............. ..o, $ 521,165 $ 820,822 $ 609,623

Critical Accounting Policies

Our critical accounting policies are those that have the most impact on the reporting of our financial
condition and results of operations and those requiring significant judgments and estimates. We believe that our
judgments and assessments are consistently applied and produce financial information that fairky presents our
results of operations. Our most critical accounting policies cancern our accounting and valuation of our
investments, revenue recognition and derivative valuation and are as follows.

Loans and Other Lending Investments

L.oans held for investment are intended to be held to maturity and, accordingly, are carried at amortized cost,
including unamortized loan origination costs and fees, and net of repayments and sales of partial interests in
loans, unless such loan or investment is deemed to be impaired. Al such time as we invest in joinl venture and
other interests that allow us to participate in a percentage of the underlying property’s cash flows from operations
and proceeds from a sale or refinancing, we must determine whether such investment should be accounted for as
a loan, real estate investment or equity method joint venture in accordance with AICPA Practice Bulletin No, 1
on acquisition, development and construction, or ADC, arrangements.

Our Manager evaluates our assets on a regular basis to determine if they continue to satisfy our investment
criteria. Subject to certain restrictions applicable to REITs and to maintain our exclusion from regulation as an
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investment company, we sell our investments opportunisticaily and use the proceeds of any such sales for debt
reduction, additional acquisitions or working capital purposes.

Variable Interest Entities

In December 2003, Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation, or FIN, No. 46R “Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities,” or FIN 46R, was issued as a modification of FIN No. 46 “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities.” FIN 46R, which became effective in the first quarter of 2004, clarified the
methodology for determining whether an entity is a VIE and the methodology for assessing who is the primary
beneficiary of a VIE. VIEs are defined as entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a
controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without
additional subordinated financial support from other parties. If an entity is determined to be a VIE, it must be
consolidated by the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the enterprise that absorbs the majority of the
entity’s expected losses, receives a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns, or both. Generally, expected
losses and expected residual returns are the expected negative and positive variability, respectively, in the fair
value of the variable interest entities’ net assets.

When we make an investment, we assess whether we have a variable interest in a VIE and, if so, whether we
are the primary beneficiary of the VIE. These analyses require considerable judgment in determining the primary
beneficiary of a VIE since they involve subjective probability weighting of various cash flow scenarios. Incorrect
assumptions or estimates of future cash flows may result in an inaccurate determination of the primary beneficiary.
The result could be the consolidation of an entity acquired or formed in the future that would otherwise not have
been consolidated or the non-consolidation of such an entity that would otherwise have been consolidated.

We have evaluated our investments in CMBS, loans and other lending investments, and joint venture
interests to determine whether they are variable interests in VIEs. For each of the investments, we have evaluated
the sufficiency of the entities’ equity investment at risk to absorb expected losses, and whether as a group, does
the equity have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest.

FIN 46R has certain scope exceptions, one of which provides that an enterprise that holds a variable interest
in a qualifying special-purpose entity, or QSPE, does not consolidate that entity unless that enterprise has
unilateral ability to cause the entity to liquidate. SFAS No. 140 “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of
Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities,” or SFAS 140, provides the requirements for an entity to be
considered a QSPE. To maintain the QSPE exception, the entity must continue to meet the QSPE criteria both
initially and in subsequent periods. An entity’s QSPE status can be impacted in future periods by activities by its
transferor(s) or other involved parties, including the manner in which certain servicing activities are performed.
To the extent our CMBS investments were issued by an entity that meets the requirements to be considered a
QSPE, we record the investments at purchase price paid. To the extent the underlying entities are not QSPEs, we
follow the guidance set forth in FIN 46R as the entities would be considered VIEs.

We have analyzed the governing pooling and servicing agreements for each of our CMBS investments and
believe that the terms are industry standard and are consistent with the QSPE criteria. However, there is
uncertainty with respect to QSPE treatment due to ongoing review by accounting stam::lard rulemakers, potential
actions by various parties involved with the QSPE, as discussed above, as well as varying and evolving
interpretations of the QSPE criteria under SFAS 140. Additionally, accounting standard rulemakers continue to
review the FIN 46R provisions related to the computations used to determine the primary beneficiary of a VIE.

Our maximum exposure to loss as a result of its investments in these VIEs was approximately $279.0
million and $222.3 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The financing structures, including loans and other lending investments, that we offer to our borrowers on
certain of its loans involve the creation of entities that could be deemed VIEs and, therefore, could be subject 1o
FIN 46R. Management has evaluated these entities and has concluded that none of them are VIEs that are subject
to consolidation under FIN 46R.

80




We have identified one mezzanine loan as a variable interest in a VIE and has determined that we are not
the primary beneficiary of this VIE and as such the VIE should not be consolidated in our consolidated financial
statements, Our maximum exposure to loss would not exceed the carrying amount of this investment of $42.8
million. Our maximum exposure to loss, including the amortized cost of CMBS, as a result of our investments in
these VIEs was $279.0 million as of December 31, 2007.

We have determined that two of our joint venture investments are VIEs in which we are deemed to be the
primary beneficiary and under FIN 46R have consolidated these investments as real estate investments. The
primary effect of the consolidation is the requirement that we reflect the gross real estate assets and the gross
mortgage loan payable of these entities in our financial statemets.

Valuation and Impairment of Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities

CMBS are classified as available-for-sale securities and are carried on our balance sheet at fair value. As a
result, changes in fair value are recorded as a balance sheet adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive
income, which is a component of stockholders’ equity, rather than through our income statement. Estimated fair
values are based on market prices from a third parties that actively participate in the CMBS market. We also use
a discounted cash flow model that utilizes prepayment and loss assumptions based upon historical experience,
economic factors and the characteristics of the underlying cash flow in order to substantiate the fair value of the
securities, The assumed discount rate is based upon the yield of comparable securities. We also may, under
certain circumstances, adjust these valuations based on our knowledge of the securities and the underlying
collateral. These valuations are subject to significant variability based on market conditions, such as interest rates
and credit spreads. Changes in market conditions, as well as changes in the assumptions or methodology used to
determine fair value, could result in a significant increase or decrease in the recorded amount of our investment.
As fair value estimates may vary to some degree, we must make certain judgments and assumptions about the
appropriate price used to calculate the fair values for financial reporting purposes. Different judgments and
assumptions could result in different valuations. If available-for-sale securities were classified as trading
securities, there could be substantially greater volatitity in earnings from period-to-period as these investments
would be marked to market and any reduction in the value of the securities versus the previous carrying value
would be considered an expense on our income statement.

In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, 99-20, we also assess whether unrealized losses
on securities, if any, reflect a decline in value which is other than temporary and, accordingly, write the impaired
security down to its value through earnings. For example, a decline in value is deemed to be other than temporary
if it is probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of a security
which was not impaired at acquisition. Temporary declines in value generally result from changes in market
factors, such as market interest rates, or from certain macroeconomic events, including market disruptions and
supply changes, which do not directly impact our ability to collect amounts contractually due. Significant
judgment is required in this analysis. As of December 31, 2007, we had approximately $61.4 million of
unrealized losses on CMBS securities. If we had come to the conclusion that all of our CMBS securities had
experienced other than temporary impairment, our net loss would have increased by $61.4 million. To date, no
such write-downs have been made.

Revenue Recognition

Interest income on loan investments is recognized over the life of the investment using the effective interest
method. Fees received in connection with loan commitments are deferred until the loan is funded and are then
recognized over the term of the loan as an adjustment to yield. Fees on commitments that expire unused are
recognized at expiration,

Income recognition is suspended for debt tnvestments when receipt of income is not reasonably assured at
the earlier of (i} management determining the borrower is incapable of curing, or has ceased efforts towards
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curing the cause of a default; (i) the loan becomes 90 days delinquent; (iii} the loan has a maturity default; or
(iv) the net realizable value of the loan’s underlying coltateral approximates our carrying value of such loan.
Income recognition is resumed when the loan becomes contractually current and performance is demonstrated to
be resumed. While income recognition is suspended, interest income is recognized only upon actual receipt.

Interest income on CMBS is recognized using the effective interest method as required by EITF 99-20.
Under EITF 99-20 management estimates, at the time of purchase, the future expected cash flows and determines
the effective interest rate based on these estimated cash flows and our purchase prices. On a quarterly basis, these
estimated cash flows are updated and a revised yield is calculated based on the current amortized cost of the
investment. In estimating these cash flows, there are a number of assumptions that are subject to uncertainties
and contingencies. These inclide the rate and timing of principal payments (including prepayments, repurchases,
defaults and liquidations), the pass through or coupon rate and interest rate fluctuations. In addition, interest
payment shortfalls due to delinquencies on the underlying mortgage loans, and the timing of and magnitude of
credit losses on the mortgage loans underlying the securities have to be estimated. These uncertainties and
contingencies are difficult to predict and are subject to future events that may impact management’s estimates
and our interest income.

If the current period cash flow estimates are lower than the previous period, and fair value is less than the
carrying value of CMBS, we will write down the CMBS to fair market value and record the impairment charge in
the current period earnings. After taking into account the effect of the impairment charge, income is recognized
using the market yield for the security used in establishing the write-down.

Reserve for Possible Credit Losses

The expense for possible credit losses in connection with debt investments represents the increase in the
allowance for possible credit losses to the level that management estimates to be adequate considering
delinquencies, loss experience and collateral quality. Other factors considered relate to geographic trends and
project diversification, the size of the portfolio and current economic conditions.

We must periodically evaluate loans for possible impairment. Loans and other investments are considered
impaired, for financial reporting purposes, when it is deemed probable that we will be unable to collect all
amounts due according to the contractual terms of the original agreement, or, for loans acquired at a discount for
credit quality when it is deemed probable that we will be unable to collect as anticipated.

Specific valuation allowances are established for impaired loans based on the fair value of collateral on an
individual loan basis. The fair value of the collateral may be determined by (i) independent appraisal, (ii) internal
company models, (iii) market bids or (iv) a combination of these methods. Valuation of collateral and the
resulting loan loss reserve is based on assumptions such as expected operating cash flows, expected capitalization
rates, estimated time the property will be held, discount rates and other factors. Significant judgment is required
both in determining impairment and in estimating the resulting loss allowance. Changes in market conditions, as
well as changes in the assumption or methodology used to determine fair value, could result in a significant
change in the recorded amount in our investment. Further, if actual results are not consistent with the Company’s
assumptions and judgments used in estimating future cash flows and asset fair values, the Company may be
exposed to losses greater than those estimated and such differences could be material to the results of operations.

If upon completion of the valuation, the fair value of the underlying collateral securing the impaired loan is
less than the net carrying value of the loan, an allowance is created with a corresponding charge to the provision
for loan losses. The allowance for each loan is maintained at a level we believe is adequate to absorb probable
losses. As of December 31, 2007, we have a loan loss reserve of $19.7 million.

Manager Compensation

The management agreement provides for the payment of a base management fee to our Manager and an
incentive fee if our financial performance exceeds certain benchmarks. The base management fee and the
incentive fee are accrued and expensed during the period for which they are calculated and earned.
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Derivative Instruments

We recognize all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives that do not qualify, or are not
designated as hedge relationships, must be adjusted to fair value through income. Derivative instruments
designated in a hedge relationship to mitigate exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types
of forecasted transactions, arc considered cash flow hedges. Cash flow hedges are accounted for by recording the
fair value of the derivative instrument on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability. To the extent hedges are
effective, a corresponding amount, adjusted for swap payments, is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income within stockholders’ equity. Amounts are then reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
income to the income statement in the period or periods the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings.
Ineffectiveness, if any, is recorded in the income statement. We periodically review the effectiveness of each
hedging transaction, which involves estimating future cash flows, at least quarterly as required by SFAS
Statement No. 133, or SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended
by FASB Statement No. 138 “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities of an
Amendment of FASB 133" and FASB Statement No. 149 “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instrument and Hedging Activities.” Derivative instruments designated in a hedge relationship to mitigate
exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a particular risk,
such as interest rate risk, will be considered fair value hedges under SFAS 133. We currently have no fair value
hedges outstanding. Fair values of derivatives are subject to significant variability based on changes in interest
rates. The results of such variability could be a significant increase or decrease in our derivative assets, derivative
liabilities, book equity, and/or earnings.

Stock-Based Payment

We have issued restricted shares of common stock and options to purchase common stock, or equity awards,
to our directors, our Manager, employees of our manager and other related persons. We account for stock-based
compensation relaied to these equity awards using the fair value based methodology under FASB Statement
No. 123(R), or SFAS 123(R), “Share Based Payment” and EITF 96-18 “Accounting for Equity Instruments that
are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services.”
Compensation cost for restricted stock and stock options issued is initially measured at fair value at the grant
date, remeasured at subsequent dates to the extent the awards are unvested, and amortized into expense over the
vesting period on a straight-line basis.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 157, or SFAS
No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.” This statement clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability. SFAS No. 157 establishes a
fair value hierarchy, giving the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to
unobservable data. SFAS No. 157 applies whenever other standards require assets or liabilities to be measured at
fair value. This statement is effective in fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We do not expect
adoption of this pronouncement will have a significant impact on our financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 159, or SFAS No. 159,
“The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Including an Amendment of FASB
Statement No. 115.” Entities are now permitted to measure many financial instraments and certain other assets
and liabilities on an instrument-by instrument basis. This statement is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s
first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2007. Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of a fiscal
year that begins on or before November 15, 2007, provided the entity also elects to apply the provision of SFAS
No. 159. We have elected to adopt the provisions of SFAS 159 on certain assets and liabilities. We expect the
adoption of SFAS 159 will result in an increase in our net book value in Q1 2008.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Financial Accounting Standard No. 141R, “Business Combinations,”
or SFAS No. 141R. SFAS 14IR broadens the guidance of SFAS 141, extending its applicability to all
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transactions and other events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses. It broadens
the fair value measurement and recognition of assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and interests transferred as a
result of business combinations and stipulates that acquisition related costs be expensed rather than included as
part of the basis of the acquisition. SFAS 141R expands required disclosures to improve the ability to evaluate
the nature and financial effects of business combinations. SFAS 141R is effective for all transactions entered into
on or after January 1, 2009. We are currently evaluating whether the adoption of SFAS No. 14[R will have a
significant impact on our financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Financial Accounting Standard No. 160 “Noncontrolling Interests in
Consolidated Financial Statements — An Amendment of ARB No. 51,7 or SFAS No. 160. SFAS 160 requires a
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary to be reported as equity and the amount of consolidated net income,
specifically attributable to the noncontrolling interest to be identified in the consolidated financial statements.
SFAS 160 also provides for consistency in the manner of reporting changes in the parent’s ownership interest and
requires fair value measurement of any noncontrolling equity investment retained in a deconsolidation. SFAS
160 is effective on January 1, 2009. We are currently evaluating whether the adoption of SFAS No. 160 will have
a significant impact on our financial statements.

ITEM 7A.QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK
Market Risk

Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates,
commodity prices, equity prices and real estate values. The primary market risks that we are exposed to are real
estate risk, interest rate risk, market value risk and prepayment risk.

Real Estate Risk

Commercial mortgage assets, commercial property values and net operating income derived from such
properties are subject to volatility and may be affected adversely by a number of factors, including, but not
limited to, national, regional and local economic conditions (which may be adversely affected by industry
slowdowns and other factors), local real estate conditions (such as an oversupply of housing, retail, industrial,
office or other commercial space); changes or continued weakness in specific industry segments; construction
quality, age and design; demographic factors; retroactive changes to building or similar codes; and increases in
operating expenses (such as energy costs). In the event net operating income from such properties decreases, a
borrower may have difficulty repaying our loans, which could result in losses to us. In addition, decreases in
property values reduce the value of the collateral and the potential proceeds available to a borrower to repay our
loans, which could also cause us to suffer losses. Even when the net operating income is sufficient to cover the
related property’s debt service, there can be no assurance that this will continue to be-the case in the future.

Beginning in the third quarter of 2007, the global economy was impacted by the delenoratlon of the U.S.
sub-prime residential mortgage market and the weakening of the U.S. housing markets, both of which have
become worse than many economists had predicted. The significant increase in the foreclosure activity and rising
interest rates in mid-2007 depressed housing prices further as problems in the sub-prime markets spread to the
near-prime mortgage markets. The well-publicized problems in the residential markets spread to other financial
markets, causing corporate credit spreads (or cost of funds) to widen dramatically. Banks and other lending
institutions started to tighten lending standards and restrict credit. The structured credit markets, including the
CMBS and CDO markets, have seized up as investors have shunned the asset class owning to sub-prime and
transparency worries. In particular, the short-term, three to five year floating rate debt market has effectively shut
down and as the turmoi! continues to spread, almost all fixed income capital markets have been negaiively
impacted and liquidity in these markets remains severely limited. While delinquencies in the commercial real
estate markets remain quite low, the lack of liquidity in the CMBS and other commercial mortgage markets is
negatively impacting sales and financing activity. It is widely believed that if the credit crisis continues for
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several more quarters, commercial real estate values will be negatively impacted, as the higher cost or lack of
avatlability of debt financing become a reality for real estate owners. While we believe these conditions are
temporary and the commercial real estate market has strong fundamentals over the long-term, we are unable to
predict how long these trends will continue and what long-term impact it may have on the market.

In the short-term, we believe the current environment of rapidly changing and evolving markets will provide
increasing challenges to our industry and our company. While we continue to believe the commercial lending
business has strong long-term fundamentals and is being adversely affected by the recent volatility in the credit
and capital markets, due to these uncentainties, we may experience the following: (i) lower or no loan
originations and lower margins, (i} reduced access to, if at all, and increased cost of, financing, and (iii) as our
portfolio is reduced by scheduled maturities and prepayments, reduced cash available for distribution to
stockholders.

Given the recent volatility in the credit and capital markets and the affects of our liquidity, we have not
entered into a new investment since July 2007. The current credit and capital market environment is unstable and
we continue 1o review and analyze the impact on potential avenues of liquidity. We are considering plans to
restart our lending program and will resume origination activities when we are comfortable with the expected
pricing of, and have reasonable access to, capital both in the debt and equity credit and capital markets that will
enable us to achieve our growth objective. The current financial turmoil has also started to impact our borrower’s
ability to service their debt and refinance their loans as they mature. As we await the credit and capital markets to
improve and stabilize, our primary focus has been securing our liquidity by paying down and terminating
outstanding repurchase agreements and managing our existing portfolio of assets to minimize credit risks.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is highly sensitive to many factors, including governmental monetary and tax policies,
domestic and international econemic and political considerations and other factors beyond our control. A
hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates along the entire interest rate curve for the year ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006 would have increased our net interest expense by approximately $5.4 million and
$2.5 million, respectively, and increased our investment income by approximately $6.2 million and $3.0 million,
respectively. In 2007, due primarily to the uncertainty in the credit markets, there was significant volatility in
interest rates and we expect this volatility to continue in 2008.

Our operating results will depend in large part on differences between the income from our loans and our
borrowing costs. We generally match the interest rates on our loans with like-kind debt, so that fixed rate loans
are financed with fixed rate debt and floating rate loans are financed with floating rate debt, directly or through
the use of interest rate swaps or other financial instruments. The objective of this strategy is to minimize the
impact of interest rate changes on our net interest income. Currently most of our borrowings, with the exception
of the two most junior classes of our CDO bonds (aggregating $44.25 million) and one of our consolidated joint
venture mortgages payable of $29.2 million are variable-rate instruments, based on 30-day LIBOR.

In the event of a significant rising interest rate environment and/or economic downturn, defaults could
increase and result in credit losses to us, which could adversely affect our liquidity and operating results. Further,
such delinquencies or defaults could have an adverse effect on the spreads between interest-earning assets and
interest-bearing liabilities.

We invest in CMBS, which are designated as available-for-sale on our balance sheel. The majority of our
CMBS investments are fixed rate securities. In order to minimize the exposure to interest rate risk we utilize interest
rate swaps to convert the floating rate debt to fixed rate debt, which matches the fixed interest rate of the CMBS.

As of December 31, 2007, we have 30 interest rate swap agreements outstanding with a total notional value
of $978.8 million and three basis swap agreements outstanding with a total notional value of $194.7 million to
hedge our exposure on forecasted outstanding LIBOR-based debt. The market value of these intcrest rate swaps
and basis swaps is dependent upon existing market interest rates and swap spreads, which change over time. If
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there were a 100 basis point decrease in forward interest rates, the fair value of these interest rate swaps and basis
swaps would have decreased by approximately $45.4 million at December 31, 2007. If there were a 100 basis
point increase in forward interest rates, the fair value of these interest rate swaps would have increased by
approximately $42.5 million at December 31, 2007.

Our hedging transactions using derivative instruments also involve certain additional risks such as counterparty
credit risk, the enforceability of hedging contracts and the risk that unanticipated and significant changes in interest
rates will cause a significant loss of basis in the contract. The counterparty to our derivative arrangements are Credit
Suisse International, Deutsche Bank AG, and Wachovia Bank N.A. with a senior unsecured debt credit rating of
Aa3 by Moody’s with which we and our affiliates may also have other financial relationships. As a result, we do not
anticipate that the counterparty will fail to meet their obligations. There can be no assurance that we wil! be able to
adequately protect against the foregoing risks and will ultimately realize an economic benefit that exceeds the
related amounts incurred in connection with engaging in such hedging strategies.

We utilize interest rate swaps to limit interest rate risk. Derivatives are used for hedging purposes rather
than speculation. We do not enter into financial instruments for trading purposes. The following table sets forth
our derivative instruments as of December 31, 2007:

Estimated
Value at

Notional Maturity December 31,
Type of Hedge Amount Swap Rate Trade Date Date 2007
Pay-FixedSwap ................ $1,856,400 .. 5.115%  19-Oct-06 01-Nov-11  $(83,220) .
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 5,950,000 ... 5.193%  30-Jan-07. Ol-Feb-12  $(292,563)
Pay-FixedSwap ................ 2,125,000 ... 5.036%  07-Feb-07 07-Feb-12 $(91,875) .
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 11,070,000 .. 5.000% 16-Feb-07  01-Mar-12 $(466,075)
Pay-FixedSwap ................ 23,800,000 .. 5391%  25-Jun-07 18-Jun-12 $(1,409,053)
Pay-FixedSwap ................ 4,128,000 ... 5.536%  18-Jul-07 . 10-Aug-17  $(346.453)
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 9,100,000 ... 5.132%  15-Feb-06 17-Feb-12 $(378,007)
Pay-FixedSwap ................ 26,950,500 .. 5.193% 28-Mar-06  13-Apr-16  $(1,542,843)
Pay-FixedSwap ................ 4,250,000 ... 5.524% 07-Jul-06 . 11-Jul-11.  $(239,728)
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 1,171,703 ... 5.191% 17-Aug-06  01-Sep-11  $(54,438) .
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 178,994,577 . 5.055% 16-Mar-06  25-Oct-11 $(5,314,078)
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 44,736,359 .. 5.663% 12-May-06  25-Feb-18  $(3,751,533)
Pay-FixedSwap ................ 36,075,000 .. 5171%  19-Sep-06 25-Sep-11 $(1,547,350)
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 28,151,274 .. 4947%  15-Dec-06 25-Oct-11 $(1,016,019)
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 14,300,000 .. 5.419%  20-Jun-07 25-Dec-08  $(196,230)
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 15,300,000 .. 5467%  20-Jun-07 18-Jun-12 $(954,169)
Pay-FixedSwap ................ 336,278,707 . 4.909% 02-Mar-07  07-Apr-21 $(11,257,057)
BasisSwap ............ooiiin.. 58,112,000 .. 5.338% 02-Mar-07  07-Jan-10 $72.486 ...
BasisSwap .......... ..ol 20,090,738 .. 5333%  02-Mar-07 15-Sep-11 $4288 . ...
Basis SWap ... ...ooeeiinis 116450000 .  5.335% 02-Mar-07  07-Apr-10  $48,280 ...
Pay-FixedSwap ................ 28,260,000 .. 4.842%  02-Mar-07 07-Oct-11 $(927.376)
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 25,000,000 .. 4.842% 02-Mar-07  07-Oct-1] $(818,131)
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 13,500,000 .. 4.842% 02-Mar-07  09-Apr-12  ${(463.821)
Pay-FixedSwap ................ 25,000,000 .. 4.842%  02-Mar-07 09-Jan-12 $(849,230)
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 23,610,000 .. 4.842%  02-Mar-07  09-Apr-12  $(816,603)
Pay-FixedSwap ................ 16,200,000 .. 4.842% 02-Mar-07  07-Jul-15.  $(536,164)
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 2,835,000 ... 4.842% 02-Mar-07  07-Oct-11 $(93,726) .
Pay-FixedSwap ................ 12,000,000 .. 4.842%  02-Mar-07  (09-Jan-12 $(396,711)
Pay-FixedSwap ................ 17,000,000 .. 3.472%  20-Jun-07 18-Jun-12 $(1,063,713)
Pay-FixedSwap ................ 7,550,000 . .. 5.679%  28-Jun-07 01-Oct-17 $(722,124)
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 28,760,000 .. 5.600%  28-Tun-07 07-Oct-17 $(2,514,864)
Pay-Fixed SWap . ............... 8500,000 ...  5.654% 16-Aug-07  07-Jun-17  $(776,257)
Pay-Fixed Swap ................ 26,400,000 .. 5.390%  28-Sep-07 07-Oct-17 $(1,483,147)
Total ... .. ..o $1,173475,258 ... L. .. $(40,277,504)
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Market Value Risk

Our available-for-sale CMBS are reflected at their estimated fair value with unrealized gains and losses
excluded from earnings and reported in other comprehensive income pursuant to SFAS 115. The estimated fair
value of these CMBS fluctuates primarily due to changes in interest rates, the creditworthiness of the mortgages
securing these CMBS and other factors. Generally, in a rising interest rate environment, the estimated fair value
of the fixed rate CMBS would be expected to decrease; conversely, in a decreasing interest rate environment, the
estimated fair value of the fixed rate CMBS would be expected to increase. In 20077, while benchmark interest
rates decreased, we experienced declines in the fair market value of our CMBS securities pritnarily due to
(i) increased overall credit spreads, which is the spread over risk-free interest rates that investors demand for a
particular security and (it} decreased liquidity in the CMBS markets. The increase in credit spreads is the result
of the volatility in the credit markets primarily driven by concerns over the sub-prime credit rarkets.

Prepayment Risk

As we receive repayments of principal on loans and other lending investments or CMBS, premiums paid on
such investments are amortized against interest income using the effective yield method through the expected
maturity dates of the investments. In general, an increase in prepayment rates will accelerate the amortization of
purchase premiums, thereby reducing the interest income earned on the investments. Conversely discounts
received on such investments are accreted into interest income using the effective yield method through the
expected maturity dates of the investments. In general, an increase in prepayment rates will accelerate the
accretion of purchase discounts, thereby increasing the interest income earned on the investments.

Geographic Concentration Risk

As of December 31, 2007, approximately 30.0%, 9.0%, 47.0% and 8.0% of the outstanding balance of our
loan investments had underlying properties in the East, the South, the West, and the Midwest, respectively, as
defined by NCREIF, while the remaining 6.0% of the outstanding loan investments had underlying properties
that are located throughout the rest United States.

Inflation -

Virtually all of our assets and liabilities are interest rate sensitive in nature. As a result, interest rates and
other factors influence our performance more so than does inflation, Changes in interest rates do not necessarily
correlate with inflation rates or changes in inflation rates. Further, our financial statements are prepared in
accordance with GAAP and our distributions are determined by our board of directors based primarily on our net
income as calculated for tax purposes, in each case, our activities and balance sheet are measured with reference
to historical cost and or fair market value without considering inflation.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. (the
Company) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders® equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the two years in the period
ended December 31, 2007 and for the period May 10, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2005, Our audits
also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index to Financial Statements and Schedule under
Item 8. These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Cur
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An andit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the
overall financial staterent presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
December 31, 2007 and for the period May 10, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2005, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule,
when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material
respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have andited, in accordance with the standards of the Poblic Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 17, 2008 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

{s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
March 17, 2008

89




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.

We have audited CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s internal controt over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007,
based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in Item 9A of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K under the heading Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating cffectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in Item 9A of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management’s assessment of and
conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of the
Rodgers Forge and Monterey properties, which is included in the 2007 consolidated financial statements of CBRE
Realty Finance, Inc. and constituted $154,426 thousand and $4,557 thousand of total and net assets, respectively, as of
December 31, 2007 and $2,028 thousand and $4,739 thousand of revenues and net loss, respectively, for the year then
ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. also did not include an
evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Rodgers Forge and Monterey.

In our opinion, CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO cniteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the 2007 consolidated financial statements of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. and our report dated March
17, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

fs/ Ernst & Young LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
March 17, 2008
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CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

Assets:

Cashandcashequivalents ....... ... ... .. i i
Restricted cash . ... .. i e e
Loans and other lending investments, net ........... ... ... i,
Commercial mortigage-backed securities, at fairvalue .. ........................
Real eslale, DBt .. ... e e e e i
Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures . . ....... ... ... .. il
Derivative assets, at fair value ... .. ... o i e
Accrued IREEreSt . . .. e e
O er AS8BS .. oot e e e

Total A8t . ... ittt e e e

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity:
Liabilities:

Collateralized debt obligations . ........ .. ... . ... i
Repurchase obligations ... ... . i i i et e e
Mortgage notes payable .. .. ... . L e
Note Payable . ... .. ... e
Derivative liabilities, at fairvalue . .. ... ... ... . ... .. i e s
Management feespayable .. ... ... . e
Dividends payable . .. ... . e
Accounts payable and accrued expenses . ... ... ... i i e e
Other liabilities .. ... ... o e

Junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures held by trust that issued trust

preferred securities ... ... ... .. e e
Liabilities related to assets held forsale . ... ... ... ... ... .

Total Habilities ... .o e e

Stockholders®’ Equity:
Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share; 50,000,000 shares authorized, no shares

issued or outstanding at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively . .

Common stock par value $.01 per share; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 30,920,225
and 30,601,142 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2007 and

December 31, 2006, respectively ... ... ..o e
Additional paid-in-capital ....... ... ... e
Accumulated other comprehensive loss ........ ... ... ... ... . .. . i,
Accumulated deficit ... ... ... e

Total stockholders’ equity .. ... ... ..ottt i
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .......... ... ... . ... . ...

December 31, December 31,

2007 2006

$ 25954 8 17933
137,004 59,520
1,362,054 1,090,874
236,134 222,333
65,495 66,277
53,145 41,046
125 373
9,304 6.656
25,658 17,677

154,426 —

$2,069,299 $1,522,689

$1,339,500 $ 508,500

144,183 433,438
54,899 52,194
21,736 —
40,403 7,549

566 712
6,493 5,814
8,439 4,739

39,732 47,060

50,000 50,000
149,869 —

1,855.820 1,110,006

663 813

309 306

422,275 420,986

(106,406) (1,469)
(103,362} (7,953)
212,816 411,870

$2,069,299 $1,522,689

The accompanying noies are an integral part of these financial statements,
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CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
{Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

For the period
May 10, 2005
For the year  For the year  (inception)
ended ended through
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2007 2006 2005
Revenues
INVEStMENE INMCOME . ot e vttt et e tereaasnane e rnananananes $129,416 $64,631 § 9,342
Propetty Operating inCome ...\ voenve e 7,004 6,100 —
OO INCOIMIE -« ot ottt et e st e e e ittt ian e 4,609 3,322 3,057
TOtal FEVEIUES . . . v oottt et taim e e ae e iansananen 141,029 74,053 12,399
Expenses
[OEETESE EXPEIMSE & . v v v v vve e m it emne e 93,852 42,181 2,664
Management fEes . ... ... n e 7,695 6,515 3,158
Property Operating €Xpenses . . ..o .euantr o 3,950 3,110 —
Other general and administrative (including $1,292, $3,867 and $1,770,
respectively, of stock-based compensation) ............ .. ... 9,351 10,404 5,549
Depreciation and amortization ........... ... o il 2,053 1,532 —_
Loan loss provisions . ... .. ..ot 19,650 — —
Loss on impairment of 88St .. .. ... . o 7,764 — —
Total EXPENSES .. ..ot 144,315 63,742 11,371
Gain (loss) on sale of investment ............ . ...t (500) 258 —
Gain (loss) on derivatives . ... .. ... it (1,923) 3,552 24
Income (loss) from continuing operations before equity in net loss of
unconsolidated joint ventures income taxes and discontinued
OPETALIONS . o oottt e aan i mat e e (5.709) 14,121 1,052
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated joint ventures ................. (5.,721) (453) —
Income {loss) before minority interest and discontinued operations .. .. (11,430) 13,668 1,052
MINOrity IMMErESt ... ...ttt e e (132) (75) —_
Income (loss) from continuing operations ......... ...t (11,298) 13,743 1,052
Discontinued Operations:
Operating results from discontinued operations . ................... (4,739) — —
Loss on impairment of assets held forsale .................. ..., (54,729) — —
Loss from discontinued operations . ......... ... (59,468) — —
Net income (JOSS) ..ot nre et et e a i ia e $(70,766)  $13,743 $ 1,052
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding ... ............. 30,287 22,688 20,000
Diluted weighted average common shares and common share
equivalents outstanding . ......... .o 30,287 22,837 20,108
Basic earnings per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations . ............ ... ... ..., $ (03 $ 06l $ 005
Loss from discontinued operalions . ... .....c..vseerarnnuennnaes (1.96) — —_
Net income (IOSS) .+ . vvr i iee ettt imiee e eian s $ (233 § 061 $ 005
Diluted earnings per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations ................... ..., $ 37y $ 060 $ 005
Loss from discontinued operations . .......... .. coiiiiiiniaai (1.96) — —
Netincome (l0S8) ...t e it et $ (2.33) 0.60 0.05
Dividends per common share . ............c.ooiiiieoaiiiniian, $ 0.80 $ 082 $ 019

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
{Amounts in thousands, except per share and share data)

Accumulated

__CommonStock  , 445i0nal Other
Par Paid- Comprehensive Accumulated Comprehensive
Shares Value In-Capital Loss Deficit Total Income (loss)

Balance at May 10, 2005

(inception) .............. 1,000 $— § I % — $ — 3 1§ —
Redemption of common

SIOCK ..o (1,0000 — (1) — — n —
Net proceeds from common

stock offering . ............ 20,000,000 200 2827265 _ — 282,465 —
Issuance of restricted shares of

commonstock . ........... 567,755 6 —_ — — 6 —
Stock-based compensation . ... —_ _ 1,764 — — 1,764 —
Netincome ................ 1,052 1,052 1,052
Net unrealized loss on

CMBS .................. {2.415) (2415 (2,415)
Net unrealized gain on

derivative instruments ... ... 667 667 667
Cash dividends declared or

paid ....... ... ...l {3,508) (3,908}
Balance at Pecember 31,

2005 ... ... 20,567,755 206 284,029 (1,748) (2,856) 279,631 (696)
Issuance of restricted shares of

commonstock ............ 134,000 1 — — — 1 —
Net proceeds from common

stock offering . . ........... 0,945,020 99 133,090 _ —_ 133,189 —
Stock-based compensation . ... — — 3,867 — — 3,867 —
Netincome ................ 13,743 13,743 13,743
Net unrealized gain on

CMBS .................. 5,959 5,959 5,959
Net unrealized loss on

derivative instruments ... ... (5.680) (5,680) (5,680)
Cash dividends declared or

paid ... (18,840) (18,840)
Forfeitures of common stock

awards ... ... (45,633) — — — — — —
Balance at December 31,

2006 . ..., ., 30,601,142 306 420,986 (1,469) (7,953) 411,870 14,022
Issuance of restricted shares of

common stock ............ 357,700 3 3) — — — —
Stock-based compensation . . .. — — 1,292 — — 1,292 —_—
Netloss ................... (70,766)  (70,766) (70,766}
Net unrealized loss on

CMBS .................. (64,775) 64,775 (64,775)
Net unrealized loss on

derivative instruments . .. ... (40,162) (40,162) (40,162)
Cash dividends declared or

paild ... ..l (24,643) {(24,643)
Forfeitures of common stock

awards .................. (38,617) — — — — _ —_—
Balance at December 31,

2007 ... ..., 30,920,225 $309 $422275  $(106.406)  $(103,362) $212.816  $(175,703)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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o

CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Amounts in thousands)

For the
period
May 10, 2005
For the year  For the year  (inception)
ended nded throu;

€l
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Operating Activities
INEEINCOMIE (JOS5) + v v vttt vt r ot ettt ettt et s a et ettt e b a e s $ (70.766) $ 13,743 § 1,052
Loss from discontinued OPETtiONS . ...y u it e ot ettt et et e e e 59,467 — -
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in} operating activities:
Equity in net Joss of unconsolidated JOIDt VENTITES . .. ... .. oen ittt et 5,665 453 —
Premium (discount) aMOMIZAION. TIE ...\ u it e st v e et s e et o et iem st taeataertantesionasseran (413 1,199 1,562
L0t 4 TaS T 3,106 RO8 (179
LI T 1,570 1,181 —
Stock-based COMPENSILON .. .. .. .. ...ttt aaata s st e 1,292 3,867 1,770
Loss on impairment of originated IoAn .. .0 i s 7.764 — —
Provision For I0a0 J0SSES . . ...ttt e e e e e e e 19,650 — —
Realized (gain)} loss onsale of INVESIMENT ..o o v v e oot e e e e s 500 {258) —
Realized (gain} 1oss on derivalIVES ...\t u e s oo e e e e e s 1,736 (3,577 —
Unrealized (2ain) 1055 0 demivalIVES . . ..o vttt e o eyt io ot e et c e e e 187 25 (7}
Changes in operating assets and lizbilities:
[T E g s ey o 4 N 407 (218) —
F T T 1 S (3,858) (3,204) (3,452)
L0 T 3.738 (5,103) (2.853)
Management fees Puyible ..o vt e b (146} 243 469
Accounts payable and acerued EXPENSES .o i e e 4,952 616 4123
OhEr THABRLIEIES . o vttt ittty v e ettt e e e e e e et e e e 767 {1.850) 2.267
Nel cash provided by operating activities, cONtiNUENE OPErAtiONS .. ... .. .. .ot it i ir e rnaaeans 35.618 7,925 4,752
Net cash used in operating activities, discontinued Operations . ............. . itiiiiiiiiiuir s (6,211) — —
Net cash provided by Operaling activItIes .. .. vvvvuen it oneere vt e et e e a et ia e as 29,407 7,925 4752
Investing Activities . ... ..o ... . e s
PUICRASE OF M B L L vttt ittt ettt e ettt et ettt e e e e (91,238)  (140,210) (83,747}
Repayment of CMBS principal ... ... . . i e e e 10,095 2,022 —
Proceeds from sale of CMBS .. ... i e e e e s 4,085 4,807 —
Origination and purchase of loans . .............. ...l N (673,341)  (854,491) (478,445
Repayment of loan PrnCipal ... .. ..o o e e 205,435 165,153 28,694
Proceeds rom sale 0F JOANS .. ... oottt ittt it ettt e e e et 16,715 44,642 —
Real e5HIte ACqQUISTON . ... . o i i e e e e {1.099) (35,785) (31,923
Investment in unconsalidated JOINE VERIUTES .. ... .. ottt et it em e e e e e et (17.763) (41,499) —
Cash and cash equivalents from acquired INVESEMENIS .. ... .. . o i i e e 73 — —
T Lo 1= - (81.891) (47.812) (3.239)
L0 T Y =T (7.920) 42982 3,662
Net cash used in investing aclivities, continuing Operations ... .. ... ... iuovuittianainreaneaneanaeaaiieiiaineees (536.849) (560,191}  (564.998)
Net cash used in investing activities, discontinued OpErALONS . ... ... . ittt i (5.241) — —_
Net cash used in investng aCtiVIIES . ...y u vttt oo e e e (542,090) (860,191) {564,998)
Financing Activilies
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of offering Costs .. ... ... oo e e — 133,190 282,465
Proceeds Trom issuance of K0S . ... it ittt e e e 831,000 308,500 —
Proceeds from borrowings under repurchase agreements . ... ... i e s 481,194 869,973 314,179
Repayments of borrowings under repurchase agreements . . ... ... ... o i s (770,449)  (741,360) (9,354)
Proceeds from issuance of trust preferred SECURItIEs .. ... ... o i i i e _— 50,000 —
Proceeds from mortgage I0ANS ... ... ..o i e 2741 27,192 25,001
Proceeds from note payable . ... .o o e e e e e e 23,000 — —
Repayments of note payable .. ... . (1,264) —
Proceeds from settlement of derivalives ... .o i e e s — 6,501 —
Payments from settlement of derivatives . ..o e e e s (9,525) — —_
Purchase of derivative assel . — — (338)
Deferred financing and acquisition costs paid . ... ... ... ... e e e o (15417) (9.601) (1,532)
2Tt I 1) 1 TS 3.999 (8,250) —
MINOMEY IMEEIESE . . . ettt et u s et s e s e e e e ea e et e e et a e e e h e (150) 176 436
Dividends paid to common stockholders .. .. ... .o s (23.964) (15.699) {1,234}
Net cash provided by financing activities .. ... ... . e 521,165 820,822 609,623
Nel increase (decrease) in cash and cashequivalents ... ... ... L e 8,482 (31.444) 49,377
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ... ... ... . e 17,933 49,377 —
Cash and cash equivalents atendof period .. ... . o e e e 26415 17,933 49,377
Less: cash and cash equivalents from discontinved operationsatendof period . ... i e 461 — —
Cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations atend of period . ........ ... ... ol $ 25954 5 17933 § 493717
Supplemental cash flow disclosures
T v K $ B7.855 § 41486 § 1,537
INCOITIE LAKES PTG o4 vttt e e et et ettt ettt e ot e e e e et e e e et e e e e e $ — $ — $ —
Interest capitalized . .. ..o v v r e $ L3 8 494 8 —
Foreciosed aSSeus ASSUMEH « o .o v\ v v v s av e emm e e e e oe et et ea et e e e m e s ie e e e e e s $203.142 3 — $ —
Foreclosed abilities ASSIME . . . . ...\ n ittt et e e ey $151.542 3 — 5 —_

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
{Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)
December 31, 2007

NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION

CBRE Realty Finance, Inc., (the “Company”), was organized in Maryland on May 10, 2005, as a
commercial real estate specialty finance company focused on originating and acquiring whole leans, bridge
loans, subordinate interests in whole loans, or B Notes, commercial mortgage-backed securities (“CMBS”), and
mezzanine loans, primarily in the United States. As of December 31, 2007, the Company also owns interests in
eight joint venture assets, two of which are consolidated in the consolidated financial statements and owns two
direct real estate projects as a result of the foreclosure of two mezzanine loans. The Company commenced
operations on June 9, 2005. The Company is a holding company that conducts our business through wholly-
owned or majority-owned subsidiaries.

The Company is externally managed and advised by CBRE Realty Finance Management, LLC (the
“Manager”), an indirect subsidiary of CB Richard Ellis Group, Inc. (“CBRE"), and a direct subsidiary of
CBREIMelody & Company (“CBREIMelody”). As of December 31, 2007, CBREIMelody also owned an
approximately 4.5% interest in the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock. In addition, certain of
the Company's executive officers and directors owned an approximately 6.2% interest in the outstanding shares
of the Company’s common stock.

The Company has elected to qualify to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for U. S. federal
income tax purposes commencing with the Company’s taxable year ending December 31, 2005. As a REIT, the
Company generally will not be subject to federal income tax on that portion of income that is distributed to
stockholders if at least 90% of the Company’s REIT taxable income is distributed to the Company’s
stockholders. The Company conducts its operations so as to not be regulated as an investment company under the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”).

As of December 31, 2007, the net carrying value of investments held by the Company was approximately
$1,664,610, including origination costs and fees and net of repayments and sales of partial interests in loans and
CMBS, with a weighted average spread to 30-day LIBOR of 307 basis points for the Company’s floating rate
investments and a weighted average yield of 7.11% for the Company’s fixed rate investments.

Liquidity is a measurement of the Company’s ability to meet potential cash requirements, including ongoing
commitments to repay borrowings, meet future funding requirements from the existing loan portfolio, pay
dividends, fund debt service and for other general business needs. The Company’s primary sources of funds for
short-term liquidity, including working capital, distributions, debt service, and additional portfolio funding
consist of (i) cash flow from operations; (ii) proceeds from existing CDOs; (iii) proceeds from principal and
interest payments on investments; (iv) proceeds from potential loan and asset sales; {(v) proceeds from potential
joint ventures; and to a lesser extent (vi) new financings or additional securitization or CDO offerings and (vii)
proceeds from additional common or preferred equity offerings or offerings of trust preferred securities. Due to
recent market turbulence, the Company does not anticipate having the ability in the near-term to access equity
capital through the public markets or debt capital through warehouse lines, new CDO issuances, or new trust
preferred issuances. Therefore, the Company will rely primarily on cash flows from operations, principal and
interest payments on investments, restricted cash available to fund future loan commitments in the Company’s
first CDO, the line of credit available to fund loan commitments in the Company’s second CDO, and proceeds
from potential joint ventures, asset sales and alternative sources of financing, if any. The Company believes these
sources of funds will be sufficient to meet liquidity requirements described above for at least the next twelve
months.
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NOTE 2—BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements include the
Company’s accounts and those of the Company’s subsidiaries, which are wholly-owned or controlled by the
Company or entities which are variable interest entities (“VIE") in which the Company is the primary beneficiary
under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) Interpretation No. 46R “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities” (“FIN 46R”). All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in
consolidation.

NOTE 3—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Use of Estimates

In preparing the consolidated financial siatements, management is required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results
could differ from those estimates and assumptions. Significant estimates in the consolidated financial statermnents
include the valuation of the Company’s commercial mortgage backed securities, estimation of loan loss reserves,
the valuation of derivatives and the determination of whether impairment of commercial mortgage backed
securities is other-than-temporary.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highily liquid investments with maturities of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of tax and insurance escrows, margin amounts on derivative positions, cash held by
the trustee of the Company’s CDOs transaction and leasehold improvement reserves held on behalf of certain
borrowers.

Loans and Othér Lending Investments

Loans held for investment are intended to be held to maturity and, accordingly, are carried at amortized cost,
including unamortized loan origination costs and fees, and net of repayments and sales of partial interests in
loans, unless such loan or investment is deemed to be impaired. At such time as the Company invests in real
estate loans, the Company determines whether such investment should be accounted for as a loan, real estate
investment, or equity method joint venture in accordance with AICPA Practice Bulletin No. 1 on acquisition,
development, and construction (ADC) arrangements.

The Manager evaluates the Company’s assets on a regular basis to determine if they continue to satisfy the
Company’s investment criteria. Subject to certain restrictions applicable (o REITs and 1o maintain the
Company’s exclusion from regulation as an investment company, the Company may sell its investments
opportunistically and use the proceeds of any such sales for debt reduction, additional acquisitions or working
capital purposes.

Variable Interest Entities

In December 2003, FIN 46R was issued as a modification of FIN No. 46 “Conselidation of Variable Interest
Entities.” FIN 46R, which became effective in the first quarter of 2004, clarified the methodology for
determining whether an entity is a Variable Interest Entity, or VIE and the methodology for assessing who is the
primary beneficiary of a VIE. VIEs are defined as entities in which equity investors do not have the
characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. If an entity is determined to be a
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VIE, it must be consolidated by the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the enterprise that absorbs
the majority of the entity’s expected losses, receives a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns, or both.
Generally, expected losses and expected residual returns are the expected negative and positive variability,
respectively, in the fair value of the variable interest ¢ntities’ net assets.

When the Company makes an investment, it assesses whether it has a variable interest in a VIE and, if so,
whether it is the primary beneficiary of the VIE. These analyses require considerable judgment in determining
the primary beneficiary of a VIE since they involve subjective probability weighting of various cash flow
scenarios. Incorrect assumptions or estimates of future cash flows may result in an inaccurate determination of
the primary beneficiary. The result could be the consolidation of an entity acquired or formed in the future that
would otherwise not have been consolidated or the non-consolidation of such an entity that would otherwise have
been consolidated.

The Company has evaluated its investments in CMBS, loans and other lending investments, and joint
venture interests to determine whether they are variable interests in VIEs. For each of the investments, the
Company has evaluated the sufficiency of the entities’ equity investment at risk to absorb expected losses, and
whether as a group, does the equity have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest.

FIN 46R has certain scope exceptions, one of which provides that an enterprise that holds a variable interest in
a qualifying special-purpose entity (“QSPE") does not consolidate that entity unless that enterprise has unilateral
ability to cause the entity 1o liquidate. SFAS No. 140 (“SFAS 140") ““Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of
Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities,” provides the requirements for an entity to be considered a
QSPE. To maintain the QSPE exception, the entity must continue to meet the QSPE criteria both initially and in
subsequent periods. An entity’s QSPE status can be impacted in future periods by activities by its transferor(s} or
other involved parties, including the manner in which certain servicing activities are performed. To the extent the
Company’s CMBS investments were issued by an entity that meets the requirements to be considered a QSPE, the
Company records the investments at purchase price paid. To the extent the underlying entities are not QSPEs, the
Company follows the guidance set forth in FIN 46R as the entities would be considered VIEs.

The Company has analyzed the governing pooling and servicing agreements for each of its CMBS
investments and believes that the terms are industry standard and are consistent with the QSPE criteria. However,
there is uncertainty with respect to QSPE treatment due to ongoing review by accounting standard setters,
potential actions by various parties involved with the QSPE, as discussed above, as well as varying and evolving
interpretations of the QSPE criteria under SFAS 140. Additionally, the standard setters continue 1o review the
FIN 46R provistons related to the computations used to determine the primary beneficiary of a VIE.

The Company has identified one mezzanine loan as a variable interest in a VIE and has determined that the
Company is not the primary beneficiary of this VIE and as such the VIE should not be consolidated in the its
consolidated financial statements. The loan is for a mixed use development project. The Company’s maximum
exposure to loss would not exceed the carrying amount of this investment of $42,830.

The Company’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of its investments in these VIEs was $278,964 and
$262,677 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The financing structures, including loans and other lending investments, that the Company offers to its
borrowers on certain of its loans involve the creation of entities that could be deemed VIEs and, therefore, could
be subject to FIN 46R. Management has evaluated these entities and has concluded that none of them are VIEs
that are subject to consolidation under FIN 46R.

The Company has determined that two of its joint venture investments are VIEs in which it is deerned to be
the primary beneficiary and under FIN 46R has consolidated the investments. The primary effect of the
consolidation is that the Company reflects the real estate assets, mortgage loan payable, property operating
revenue, and property operating expenses related to these entities in its financial statements.
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Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities (“CMBS™)

CMBS are classified as available-for-sale securities and are carried on the Company’s balance sheet at fair
value. As a result, changes in fair value are recorded as a balance sheet adjustment to accumulated other
comprehensive income, which is a component of stockholders’ equity, rather than through the Company’s
income statement. Estimated fair values are based on quoted market prices from third parties that actively
participate in the CMBS market. These quotations are subject to significant variability based on market
conditions, such as interest rates and credit spreads. Changes in market conditions, as well as changes in the
assumptions or methodology used to determine fair value, could result in a significant increase or decrease in the
recorded amount of the Company’s investment. As fair value estimates may vary to some degree, the Company
must make certain judgments and assumptions about the appropriate price used to calculate the fair values for
financial reporting purposes. Different judgments and assumptions could result in different valuations. If
available-for-sale securities were classified as trading securities, there could be substantially greater volatility in
earnings from period-to-period as these investments would be marked to market and any reduction in the value of
the securities versus the previous carrying value would be considered an expense on the income statement.

In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF Issue 99-20, “Recognition of Interest Income and
Impairment on Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets,” the Company also
assesses whether unrealized losses on securities, if any, reflect a decline in value which is other than temporary
and, accordingly, writes the impaired security down to its value through earnings. For example, a decline in value
is deemed to be other than temporary if it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect all amounts due
according to the contractual terms of a security which was not impaired at acquisition. Temporary declines in
value generally result from changes in market factors, such as market interest rates, or from certain
macroeconomic events, including market disruptions and supply changes, which do not directly impact the
Company’s ability to collect amounts contractually due. Additionally, for an impairment to be temporary, the
company must demonstrate the intent and ability to hold the investments through at least their anticipated
recovery period. Significant judgment is required in this analysis. To date, no such write-downs have been made.

Real Estate, Net

Real estate properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Costs directly related to the
acquisition and building improvements are capitalized. Ordinary repairs and maintenance are expensed as
incurred.

Real estate properties are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Category Term
Building (fee simple ownership) ........... 40 years
Building improvements .................. shorter of remaining life of the building or useful life

On a periodic basis, the Company assesses whether there are any indicators that the value of its real estate
properties may be impaired or that its carrying value may not be recoverable. A property’s value is considered
impaired if management’s estimate of the aggregate future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) to
be generated by the property are less than the carrying value of the property. To the extent impairment has occurred,
the loss shall be measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the property over the fair value of the property.
The Company does not believe that the value of its real estate property was impaired at December 31, 2007.

Revenue Recognition

Interest income on loan investments is recognized over the life of the investment using the effective interest
method. Fees received in connection with loan commitments are deferred until the loan is funded and are then
recognized over the term of the loan as an adjustment to yield. Fees on commitments that expire unused are
recognized at expiration.
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Income recognition is suspended for debt investments when receipt of income is not reascnably assured at
the earlier of (i) the Company determining the borrower is incapable of curing, or has ceased efforts towards
curing the cause of a default; (ii) the loan becoming 90 days delinquent; (iii) the loan having a maturity default;
or {iv) the net realizable value of the loan’s underlying collateral approximating our carrying value of such loan.
Income recognition is resumed when the loan becomes contractually current and performance is demonstrated to
be resumed. While income recognition is suspended, interest income is recognized only upon actual receipt.

Interest income on CMBS is recognized using the effective interest method as required by EITF 99-20.
Under EITF 99-20 management estimates, at the time of purchase, the future expected cash flows and determines
the effective interest rate based on these estimated cash flows and the Company’s purchase price. On a quarterly
basis, these estimated cash flows are updated and a revised yield is calculated based on the current amortized cost
of the investment. In estimating these cash flows, there are a number of assumptions that are subject to
uncertainties and contingencies, including the rate and timing of principal payments (including prepayments,
repurchases, defaults and liquidations), the pass through or coupon rate and interest rate fluctuations. In addition,
interest payment shortfalls due to delinquencies on the underlying mortgage loans, and the timing of and
magnitude of credit losses on the mortgage loans underlying the securities have to be estimated. These
uncertainties and contingencies are difficult to predict and are subject to future events that may impact
management’s estimates and the Company’s interest income.

If the current period cash flow estimates are lower than the previous period, and fair value is'less than the
carrying value of CMBS, the Company will write down the CMBS to fair market value and record the
impairment charge in the current period earnings. After taking into account the effect of the impadirment charge,
income is recognized using the market yield for the security used in establishing the write-down.

Reserve for Possible Credit Losses and Impairment of Loans

The expense tor possible credit losses in connection with debt investments represents the increase in the
allowance for possible credit losses to the level that management estimates to be adequate considering
delinquencies, loss experience and collateral quality. Other factors considered relate to geographic trends and
project diversification, the size of the portfolio and current economic conditions.

+

The Company must periodically evaluate loans for possible impairment, Loans and other investments are
considered impaired, for financial reporting purposes, when it is deemed probable that the Company will be
unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the original agreement, or, for loans
acquired at a discount for credit quality when it is deemed probable that the Company will be unable to collect as
anticipated.

Specific valuation allowances are established for impaired loans based on the fair value of collateral on an

.individual loan basis. The fair value of the collateral may be determined by (i) independent appraisal, (ii) internal

company models, (iii) market bids or (iv) a combination of these methods. Valuation of collateral and the
resulting loan loss reserve is based on assumptions such as expected operating cash flows, expected capitalization
rates, estimated time the property will be held, discount rates and other factors. Significant judgment is required
both in determining impairment and in estimating the resulting loss allowance. Changes in market conditions, as
well as changes in the assumption or methodology used to determine fair value, could result in a significant
change in the recorded amount in our investment. Further, if actual results are not consistent with the Company’s
assumptions and judgments used in estimating future cash flows and asset fair values, the Company may be
exposed to losses greater than those estimated and such differences could be material to the results of operations.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates potential impairments of long-lived assets, including assets held for development
and real estate, in accordance with FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” or SFAS 144. SFAS 144 establishes procedures for the review of
recoverability and measurement of impairment, if necessary, of long-lived assets held and used by an entity.
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SFAS 144 requires that assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable. The Company would be required to recognize
an impairment loss if the carrying amount of long-lived assets is not recoverable based on their undiscounted
cash flows. The measurement of impairment loss is then based on the difference between the carrying amount
and the fair value of the asset. Fair value may be determined by (i) independent appraisal, (ii) internal company
models, (iii) market bids or {iv) a combination of these methods. If actual resufts are not consistent with the
Company’s assumptions and judgments used in estimating future cash flows and asset fair values, the Company
may be exposed to impairment losses that could be material to the resuilts of operations.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs represent commitment fees, legal and other third party costs associated with
obtaining commitments for financing which result in a closing of such financing. These costs are amortized over
the terms of the respective agreements and the amortization is reflected in interest expense. Unamortized deferred
financing costs are expensed when the associated debt is refinanced or repaid before maturity. Costs incurred in
seeking financing transactions which do not close, are expensed in the period in which it is determined that the
financing will not close. These costs are included in other assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Borrowings

The Company financed the acquisition of its investments, including loans and securities available-for-sale,
primarily through the use of secured borrowings in the form of repurchase agreements, warehouse facilities, trust
preferred securities and other structured debt. The Company recognizes interest expense on all borrowings on an
accrual basis.

Manager Compensation

The management agreement between the Company and the Manager (the “Management Agreement”)
provides for the payment of a base management fee to the Manager and an incentive fee if the Company’s
financial performance exceeds certain benchmarks. The base management fee and the incentive fee are accrued
and expensed during the period for which they are calculated and earned. See Note 13 for further discussion of
the specific terms of the computation and payment of the base management fee and the incentive fee.

Derivative Instruments

The Company recognizes all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives that do not qualify, or
are not designated as hedge relationships, must be adjusted to fair value through income. Derivative instruments
designated in a hedge relationship to mitigate exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types
of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. Cash flow hedges are accounted for by recording the
fair value of the derivative instrument on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability. To the extent hedges are
effective, a corresponding amount, adjusted for swap payments, is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income within stockholders’ equity. Amounts are then reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
income to the income statement in the period or periods the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings.
Ineffectiveness, if any, is recorded in the income statement. The Company periodically reviews the effectiveness
of each hedging transaction, which involves estimating future cash flows, at least quarterly as required by SFAS
Statement No, 133 (“SFAS 133”) “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended
by SFAS Statement No. 138 “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities—an
Amendment of SFAS 133" and SFAS Statement No. 149 “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities.” Derivative instruments designated in a hedge relationship to mitigate
exposure 1o changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firrn commitment attributable to a particular risk,
such as interest rate risk, will be considered fair value hedges under SFAS 133. The Company currently has no
fair value hedges outstanding. Fair values of derivatives are subject to significant variability based on changes in
interest rates. The results of such variability could be a significant increase or decrease in our derivative assets,
derivative liabilities, book equity, and/or earnings.
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Income Taxes

The Company has elected to qualify to be taxed as a REIT, under Sections §56 through 860 of the Internal
Revenue Code, beginning with its taxable year ended December 31, 2005. To qualify as a REIT, the Company
must meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to distribute at least 90%
of its ordinary REIT taxable income to stockholders. As a REIT, the Company generally will not be subject to
U.S. federal income tax on taxable income that it distributes to its stockholders. If the Company fails to qualify as
a REIT in any taxable year, it will then be subject to U.S. federal income taxes on its taxable income at regular
corporate rates and the Company will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as a REIT for U.S. federal income
tax purposes for four years following the year during which qualification is lost unless the Internal Revenue
Service grants us relief under certain statutory provisions. Such an event could materially adversely affect its net
income and net cash available for distributions to stockholders. Management believes that the Company will be
organized and will operate in such a manner as to qualify for treatment as a REIT; however, the Company may
be subject to certain state and local taxes.

One of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, CBRE Realty Finance TRS, Inc. (“CBF TRS”), is
intended to be taxed as a corporation. The Company accounts for income taxes related to CBF TRS in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 109 (“SFAS 109”) “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Under SFAS
109, the Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. For financial reporting
purposes current and deferred taxes are provided for on the portion of earnings recognized by the Company with
respect to its interest in CBF TRS. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed based on temporary
differences between the financial statement and income tax bases of assets and liabilities that existed on the
balance sheet date. As of December 31, 2007, CBF TRS has net operating loss carry forward for U.S. federal
income tax purposes of $12,538, ($10,950, $922 and $666 for the tax periods ended December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively, which are available to offset future taxable income, if any, through 2025 and 2027,
respectively).

.

The characterization of the distributions paid to the Company’s common stockholders in 2007 and 2006 was
100% ordinary income. '

. 1N

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes.” This interpretation, among other things, creates a two-step approach for evaluating uncertain tux
positions. Recognition (step one) occurs when an enterprise concludes that a tax position, based solely on its
technical merits, is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination. Measurement (step two) determines
the amount of benefit that more-likely-than-not will be realized upon settlement, Derecognition of a tax position
that was previously recognized would occur when a company subsequently determines that a tax position no
longer meets the more-likely-than-not threshold of being sustained. FIN 48 specifically prohibits the use of a
valuation allowance as a substitute for derecognition of tax positions, and it has expanded disclosure
requirements. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, in which thk;;impact of
adoption should be accounted for as a cumulative-effect adjustment to the beginning balance of retained
eamnings. The Company adopted FIN 48 effective January 1, 2007 and it had no material effect on its financial
statements. Upon adoption of FIN 48, the Company elected an accounting policy to classify accrued interest and
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in its income tax provision. The Company has no accrued interest
and penalties recorded as of December 31, 2007,

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is recorded in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 130, “Reporting
Comprehensive income” (“SFAS 130”). SFAS 130 establishes standards for reporting comprehensive income
and its components in the financial statements, Comprehensive income (loss), is comprised of net income, as
presented in the consolidated statements of operations, adjusted for changes in unrealized gains or losses on

101




available for sale securities and chatiges in the fair value of derivative financial instruments accounted for as cash
flow hedges. The reconciltation of the components of accurnulated other comprehensive loss is as follows:
Unrealized Gain

(Loss) on Commercial Unrealized Gain
Mortgage Backed {Loss) Gain on

Securities Derivatives Total

Balance as of May 10, 2005 (inception} .................. 3 — $ - $ —
Net unrealized loss on commercial mortgage backed

SECUTIEIS & ottt e (2415) — (2,415)
Net unrealized gain on derivative instruments . ............. — 667 667
Balance as of December 31,2005 ....................... $ (2415 5 667 $ (1,748)
Net unrealized gain on commercial mortgage backed

SECUTIIIES . ottt e e e e 5,959 — 5,959
Net unrealized lgss on derivative instruments . ............. —_ (5,680) (5,680)
Balance as of December 31,2006 .......... ..., $ 3544 $(5,013) $ (1,469
Net unrealized loss on commercial mortgage backed

SBCUNIIES .. ottt ettt e (64,775) —_ (64,775)
Net unrealized loss on derivative instruments .............. — (40,162) (40,162)
Balance as of December 31,2007 . ... .. ... ... ... ... $(61,231) $(45,175)  $(106,406)

Earnings Per Share

The Company presents both basic and diluted earnings per share, (“EPS”). Basic EPS excludes dilution and
is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if
securities or other contracts to 1ssue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock, where such
exercise or conversion would result in a lower EPS amount. In accordance with SFAS No. 128 “Earnings Per
Share,” certain nonvested restricted shares are not included in the calculation of basic EPS (even though
nonvested shares are legally outstanding).

Stock-Based Payment

The Company has issued restricted shares of common stock and options to purchase common stock
(collectively “equity awards™) to the Company’s directors, the Manager, employees of the Manager and other
related persons of the Manager. The Company accounts for stock-based compensation related to these equity
awards using the fair value based methodology under SFAS Statement No. 123(R), “Share Based Payment” and
EITF 96-18 “Accounting for Equity Investments that are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in
Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services.” Compensation cost for restricted stock and stock options issued is
initially measured at fair value at the grant date, remeasured at subsequent dates to the extent the awards are
unvested, and amortized into expense over the vesting period on a straight-line basis.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 157, (“SFAS
No. 1577), “Fair Value Measurements,” This statement clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on
the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, SFAS No. 157 establishes
a fair value hierarchy, giving the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to
unobservable data. SFAS No. 157 applies whenever other standards require assets or liabilities to be measured at
fair value. This statement is effective in fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company does not
expect adoption of this pronouncement will have a significant impact on our financial statements,

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 159, (“SFAS
No. 1597), *“The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Including an Amendment of
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FASB Statement No, 115.” Entities are now permitted to measure many financial instruments and certain other
assets and liabilities on an instrument-by instrument basis. This staterent is effective as of the beginning of an
entity’s first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2007. Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of a
fiscal year that begins on or before November 15, 2007, provided the entity also elects to apply the provision of
SFAS No. 159. The Company has elected to adopt the provisions of SFAS 159 on certain assets and liabilities.
We expect the adoption of SFAS 159 will increase the Company’s net book value in Q1 2008.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Financial Accounting Standard No. 141R (“SFAS No. 141R"),
“Business Combinations.” SFAS 141R broadens the guidance of SFAS 141, extending its applicability to all
transactions and other events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses. It broadens
the fair value measurement and recognition of assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and interests transferred as a
result of business combinations and stipulates that acquisition related costs be expensed rather than included as
part of the basis of the acquisition. SFAS 141R expands required disclosures to improve the ability to cvaluate
the nature and financial effects of business combinations. SFAS 141R is effective for all transactions entered into
on or after January 1, 2009. The Company is currently evaluating whether the adoption of SFAS No. 141R will
have a significant impact on its financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Financial Accounting Standard No. 160 (“SFAS No. 160™),
“Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements—An Amendment of ARB No. 51.” SFAS 160
requires a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary to be reported as equity and the amount of consolidated net
income specifically attributable to the noncontrolling interest to be identified in the consolidated financial
statements. SFAS 160 also provides for consistency in the manner of reporting changes in the parent’s ownership
interest and requires fair value measurement of any noncontrolling equity investment retained in a
deconsolidation. SFAS 160 is effective on January 1, 2009. The Company is currently evaluating whether the
adoption of SFAS No. 160 will have a significant impact on its financial statements.

NOTE 4—FORECLOSED ASSETS
Accounting for Foreclosed Assets

The two foreclosed assets are the Monterey property in Bethesda, Maryland and the Rodgers Forgc in
Towson, Maryland. The Company foreclosed on the Monterey property, a 434-unit condominium conversion
project, on May 9, 2007 and took immediate control. The Company foreclosed on Rodgers Forge, a 508-unit
condominium conversion project, on May 4, 2007 and took control on June 19, 2007 after court ratification
awarded it legal control of the property.

The following table sets forth the estimated fair values of the assets and the liabilities assumed:

Estimated Fair

Market Value

Tangible assets acquired:

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash ........................ $ 1,309

Assets under development and real estate ... ..................... 201,318

Other aSSeLES . ..ottt ittt i e it 514
Liabilities assumed:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ......................... (10,462)

Mortgages payable ... ... ... (140,188)

Other liabilities .. ......... ... e (892)
Total netassetsacquired ...... ...t i e $ 51,599

The results of operations of the properties from the date of foreclosure in May 2007 through December 31,
2007 are included as discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations. Had the acquisitions
occurred on May 10, 2005 (inception), there would not have been a material impact on the results of operations
on a pro forma basis. No material intangible assets were identified in the foreclosures.
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Impairment of Foreclosed Assets

In May 2007, the Company foreclosed on its subordinated mortgage on the Rodgers Forge property.
Rodgers Forge was an apartment to condominium conversion project that was under development at the time of
foreclosure. After taking control and possession of Rodgers Forge, management evaluated which use of the
underlying property would, in its estimate, maximize returns to stockholders and performed studies on the cost to
complete development efforts and the demand for rental property and completed condominium units. Based on
the results of these studies and analysis, management concluded that it believed the highest and best use for the
project was both as an apartment and condominium conversion and estimated the fair market value of the
development project using a discounted cash flow analysis. Management’s decision at the time of foreclosure,
with construction of the project already underway, was based on a relatively strong market for condominiums at
the time. The results of the valuation indicated that the estimated fair market value of the Rodgers Forge property
on the date of foreclosure approximated the carrying value of $58,653.

Also in May 2007, the Company foreclosed on a 100% interest in Montrose Investment Holdings, LLC
(“Montrose™) which was held as collateral for one of the Company’s mezzanine loans. Montrose has title to the
Monterey property, an apartment to condominium conversion project that was under development at the time of
foreclosure. At the time of foreclosure, with construction of the project already underway and a relatively strong
market for condominiums at the time, management's belief was that completion of the project as a condominium
conversion was the most appropriate course of action at the time. After taking control and possession of the
Monterey property, management determined the fair value of the Monterey property based on various factors,
including the use of the underlying property that management thought would maximize returns to stockholders,
the delay in development activities as a result of a claim by the Montgomery County Housing Authority and
studies on the cost to complete development efforts and the demand for completed condominium units and a
redeveloped rental property. Based on the results of this analysis, management concluded that it believed the
highest and best use of the project was as a condominium conversion and estimated that the fair market value of
the net assets received on the date of foreclosure was approximately $133,200, which was less than the carrying
value on the date of foreclosure of $141,000. The deficit was driven by various factors, including the delay in
development due to the Montgomery County Housing Authority issue and sales efforts on the project, an increase
in secured liens assumed by the previous owner and an increase in the estimated costs to complete the project. As
a result, the Company concluded that the foreclosure event triggered an impairment of $7,800 which was
recorded in the consolidated statements of income for the year ended December 31, 2007.

During the second half of 2007, there was significant deterioration in the Baltimore area and metropolitan
DC area condominium markets as well as a severe dislocation of the capital markets precipitated by the sub
prime lending crisis. As a result of these events, management determined that their original business plans to
convert the Rodgers Forge and Monterey properties to condominiums were no longer viable and that the
properties may be impaired. Based on the Company’s estimate of future undiscounted cash flows as apartment
properties, the carrying amounts of the Rodgers Forge and Monterey properties were no longer fully recoverable.
Impairment losses of $17,700 and $37,000, respectively, on the Rodgers Forge and Monterey properties were
determined based on the difference between the carrying values of the assets and their estimated fair market
values. The estimated fair market values were based on discounted cash flow projections which assumed the
properties are sold when stabilized and are supported by third party offers to purchase the Rodgers Forge
property and an independent third party appraisal for the Monterey property.

NOTE 5—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

As of December 31, 2007, management decided to discontinue development activities at the Rodgers Forge
and Monterey properties and committed to a plan to exit each of these properties through sale or abandonment, The
consolidated financial statements reflect the operations, assets and liabilities of our Rodgers Forge and Monterey
operations as discontinved under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” (SFAS 144) for all periods presented.
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The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of the Rodgers Forge and Monterey operations, as of
December 31, 2007, segregated on our balance sheet as “held for sale” under the provisions of SFAS 144, are as
follows:

Cash and cash equivalents .......... ... .c.oiieimiiniieininnnnee.ns 3 46l
Land, building, improvements and other long-lived assets .................. 152,232
RO A85BLS .« o vttt t et e e e et e et e e e e ) 1,733
Total assets held forsale ... ...ttt aa e $154,426
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .............. .. oLiiiiiln $ 9,253
Mortgage Payable . .. ... 140,225
Other Habiies . . ..ottt i e e e et e e e ) 391
Total liabilities held forsale . . .. .. oot ittt cee e e $149,869

The following table presents summarized information for our Rodgers Forge and Monterey operations
included in historical results:

For the year

_ended 2007
Property OPerating iCOME . .. ... ... wontitrernnaann et neceaaasens $ 2,028
Property Operating Xpenses . . . .. ... vuuve e ia e (2,743)
Depreciation and amortization ............. . i i (718)
Impairment of tong-lived assets ... ............. i (54,729)
INEEIESL EXPEISE . . ..ot vtvt sttt taee e eeae et (3,306)
L LOSS & ot ot s e e et et e e e e e e e l$(59,468)

NOTE 6—LOANS AND OTHER LENDING INVESTMENTS, NET

The aggregate carrying values allocated by product type and weighted average coupons of our loans and
other lending investments as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, were as follows:

Floating Rate:

Allocation by Fixed Rate: Average Spread
Carrying Value Investment Type Average Yield Over LIBOR®
2007 2006 2007 2006 m 2006 2007 2006
Whole loans fixed ratet® . ... .. $ 576,493 § 581,520 42% 53% 6.49% 637%
Whole loans floating rate® . ... 304,596 147,846  22% 14% — — 210bps  227bps
Mezzanine loans, fixed rate . . .. 74,751 111,402 5% 10% 9.53% B8.52% —_ —_
Mezzanine loans, floating
TALE . .. e 207,547 99,452 15% 9% — — 475bps  453bps
Subordinate interests in whole -
loans, fixedrate ........... 85,319 40,869 6 % 4% 9.12% 9.19% = — —
Subordinate interests in whole )
loans, floating rate . ........ 132,998 109,785 10% 10% — — 316bps 429bps
Total / Average ......... 1,381,704 1,090,874 100% 100% 7.10% 6.85% 317bps 352bps
Loanlossreserve ............ (19,650) —
Total loans and lending
investments, net ........... $1,362,054 $1,090,874

(1) Loans and other lending investments are presented after scheduled amortization payments and prepayments,
and are gross of premiums, discounts and unamortized fees.

(2) Benchmark rate is 30-day LIBOR,

(3) Includes originated whole loans, acquired whole loans and bridge loans.
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The carrying value of our loans and other lending investments is gross of premiums, unamortized fees, and
discounts of $(351) and $6,369 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The Company has identified one mezzanine loan as of December 31, 2007, as a variable interest in a VIE
and has determined that the Company is not the primary beneficiary of this VIE and as such the VIE should not
be consolidated in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2007, the Company’s
maximum exposure to loss would not exceed the carrying amount of this investment, or $42,830.

As of December 31, 2007, our loans and other lending investments had the following maturity
characieristics:

Current

Number of Carrying

Investments Value
Yeiol’_[mLt!ml Maturing {In thousands) % of Total
2008 . e 12 274,875 20%
2000 ... e 8 198,047 14%
2010 L e 14 253,313 18%
200 e 12 292,800 21%
202 e 9 212,028 16%
Thereafter .. ....... ... .. E 150,641 __1_1_%
TOtal .t 66 $1,381,704  100%
Weighted average maturity .................. 3.0

For year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company’s investment income from debt investments was
generated by the following investment types:

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006

Investment % of Investment % of

M Income Total Income Total
Wholeloans ............. .. coviivnin... 3 62,758 48%  $25,294 39%
Mezzanineloans .. ....................... 26,567 2% 14,822 23%
Subordinate interests in whole loans ......... 19,514 15% 13,894 22%
CMBS . e 20,560 16% 10,584 16%
Miscellaneous .. ..............coouiin.., 17 — 37 — %
Total . ... .. $129,416 100%  $64,631 100%

Non-Performing Loans and Watch List Assets
As of Decél_'nber 31, 2007, the Company had the following watch list and non-performing loans:

% of

Carrying Tot?al

Investment Type Classification Yalue" Assets

B-Note ............. . Non-

Performing® $42,830 2.0%
Wholeloan ...... ... ... . .. .. ... ... ... Watch(® 11,949 0.6%
MezzanineLoan ................... ... . .... Watch@® 40,000 L?%
Total ... .. e $94.779 4.5%

(1} At December 31, 2007, the Company had a $19,650 loan loss reserve against these assets,
(2) Subsequent to December 31, 2007, loan became non-performing.
(3) Investments are with the same sponsor,
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Non-Performing Loans

Non-performing toans include all loans on non-accrual status and repossessed real estate collateral. The
company transfers loans to non-accrual status at such time as: (1) management determines the borrower is
incapable of curing, or has ceased efforts towards curing the cause of a default; (2) the loan becomes 90 days
delinquent; (3) the loan has a maturity default; or (4) the net realizable value of the loan’s underlying collateral
approximates our carrying value of such loan. Interest income is recognized only upon actual cash receipt for
loans on non-accrual status.

A $42.830 B-Note investment (“the Drake”) classified as non-performing is secured by a class A parcel of
land in New York City that is intended to be developed into a mixed use retail site. The B-Note was originaily
due on October 1, 2007 and was extended for 60-days with the sponsor funding an additional $150,000 of cash
equity. Interest on the loan has been paid through December 31, 2007 at the contractual rate. The value of the
loan is dependent on several factors that are outside of the Company’s control, such as the ultimate use of the
property, the timing of completion and negotiations with potential tenants, and adverse events not currently
anticipated could have a material impact on the value of the underlying collateral and ultimate realizability of the
loan balance. Given the recent state of the credit and capital markets and uncertainty in the commercial real
estate markets, the estimated collateral value is a significant estimate. The ultimate value of the coilateral could
be less than our current estimate of fair value, due to lack of liquidity in credit markets, declines in the value of
commercial real estate, insufficient time to market or develop the property or other factors, which could result in
a partial or full loss in the value of the Company’s position.

Watch List Assets

The Company conducts a quarterly comprehensive credit review, resulting in an individual risk
classification being assigned to each asset. This review is designed to enable management to evaluate and
proactively manage asset-specific credit issues and identify credit trends on a porifolio-wide basis as an “early
warning system.”

The first watch list asset is a whole loan for a class B office property located in a suburb of Chicago,
Illinois. As of December 31, 2007, the borrower of the whole loan had several defaults under the loan agreement
that management does not expect the borrower will have the ability to cure and, as a result, foreclosure of this
property is probable. Management obtained an independent, third party appraisal of the collateral value of this
property which indicated the fair value of the collateral, net of expected selling costs, was less than our carrying
value as of December 31, 2007 and, as a result, the Company recorded a loss reserve to reduce the vaiue of the
loan to the fair value of the collateral. Subsequent to December 31, 2007, this asset was added to the non
performing list.

The second watch list asset is for a mezzanine loan that has an aggregate carrying value of $40,000
(“EOP"). The loan was due on February 9, 2008 and is collateralized by four class A office properties located in
New York City. The sponsor of this investment is also the sponsor of the Drake loan disclosed above as a
non-performing loan. Subsequent to December 31, 2007, this asset was added to the non-performing list when
principal was not repaid in full upon maturity. Based on management’s estimated fair market value of the
collateral, the estimated loan to value ratio of our position is at approximately 100%. Given the recent state of the
credit markets and uncertainty in the real estate market, the estimated collateral value of the four underlying
assets is a significant estimate. The proceeds from a sale of the underlying properties could be: less than our
estimate of fair value, due to lack of liquidity in credit markets, declines in the value of commercial real estate,
insufficient time to market the property or other factors, which could result in a partial or full loss in the value of
our investment. If the fair market value of the collateral decreases 5% or approximately $150,000 from our
estimates, our loan would be fully impaired.

Loan Loss Reserve

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the loan loss reserve for non-performing loans and watch-list assets was
$19,650 and $0, respectively. Management estimated the loan loss reserve based on consideration of current
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economic conditions and trends, the intent and wherewithal of the sponsors, the quatity and estimated value of

the underlying collateral and other factors.

Concentration Risk

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, our loan and other lending investments had the following geographic

diversification:
2007 2006

Carrying % of Carrying % of

m Value Total Value Total
et L e $ 650,173 47% § 418,284 38%
East ... .. e 415,292 30% 302,313 28%
South . ... 131,293 9% 234,012 21%
Midwest ...t e e 104,799 8% 86,563 8%
Nationwide ........ ... .. ... . i, 80,147 ___6% 49,702 5%
Total ... .. $1,381,704 100 % $1,090,874 LO_O%

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the underlying collateral of loan and other lending investments consisted

of the following property types:

2007 2006

Carrying %o of Carrying % of

_liegiﬂ Value Total Value Total
Office ... .. . $ 641,000 46% § 541,521 50%
Hotel ... ... . 276,418 20 126,688 12%
Multifamily ......... ... ... . 249,629 18 270,899 25%
Industmal ..., ... ... .. .. L 70,918 5 49,709 5%
Other ... _ 143739 il __M 8%
Total ..t $1,381,704  100% $1,090.874  100%

NOTE 7—CMBS

The following table summarizes the Company’s CMBS investments, aggregated by investment category, as

of December 31, 2007, which are carried at estimated fair value:

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Security Description Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
CMBSClass AorBetter ........... ... .cviiiiienann.. $ 10,006 $ $ (622) § 9,384
CMBSClass BBB . ........ ... i e 194,634 — (48,444) 146,190
CMBSClass BB ... ... . i i 65,790 126 (8,865) 57,051
CMBS Class Bl ... ..o 24,114 1 (2,296) 21,819
CMBS Class NR .. ... o i 2,821 — (1,131) 1,690
Total securities ‘available-for-sale .......................... $297,365 $127 $(61,358) $236,134

The following table summarizes the Company’s CMBS investments, aggregated by investment category, as

of December 31, 2006, which are carried at estimated fair value:

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Security Description Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
CMBSClassBBB ............. .. i $135693  $2,617 $ (1) $138,309
CMBSClass BB ....... ... e 54,039 865 (275) 54,629
CMBSClass B . ... e e 26,350 440 (83) 26,707
CMBSClass NR ... ... i i 2,708 —_ 20) 2,688
Total securities available-for-sale .......................... $218,790  $3,922 $(379) $222,333




The Company has 65 CMBS investments that are in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2007, eight
of which have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for greater than twelve months. The unrealized loss
of the eight CMBS investments in a continuous unrealized loss position for greater than twelve months is $3,353
and the unrealized loss of the 57 CMBS investments that have been in a continuous loss position for less than
twelve months is $58,006, as of December 31, 2007. The Company had nine CMBS investments in a continuous
unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2006, four of which have been in a continuous unrealized loss
position for greater than 12 months. The unrealized loss of the four CMBS investments in a continuous
unrealized loss position for greater than twelve months is $313 and the unrealized loss of the five that have been
in a continuous loss position for less than twelve months is $66, as of December 31, 2006. The Company’s
review of such securities indicates that the decrease in fair value was not due to permanent changes in the
underlying credit fundamentals or in the amount of interest expected to received. The unrealized losses are
primarily the results of changes in market interest rates subsequent to the purchase of the CMBS investments. In
the second half of 2007, the CMBS market experienced significant volatility. Management believes the resulting
decreases in valuation are reflective of temporary market conditions, not underlying credit issues that would be
indicative of other than temporary impairment. Therefore, management does not believe any of the securities
held are other-than-temporarily impaired at December 31, 2007. The Company has the ability and intent to hold
all the investments until their expected maturity.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company sold one CMBS investment and received net
proceeds of $4,085 that generated a realized loss of $287. During the year ended December 31, 2006, the
Company sold one CMBS investment and received net proceeds of $4,807 that generated a realized gain of $410.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, and 2006, respectively, the Company accreted $1,804 and
$1,084 of the net discount for these securities in interest income.

"The actual maturities of CMBS are generally shorter than stated contractual maturities. Actual maturities of
these investments are affected by the contractual lives of the underlying assets, periodic payments of principal,
and prepayments of principal.

The following table summarizes the estimated maturities of the Company’s CMBS investments, as of
December 31, 2007, according to their estimated weighted average life classifications:

Weighted

Estimated Amortized  Average

Weighted Average Life Fair Value Cost Coupon
Less t(hAn ONE YEAT ... uuunnn i it iiaaaaana e ranr e $ 30,056 § 31,718 7.26%
Greater than one year and less than fiveyears .. ............. ...ttt 55,568 60,976 6.67%
Greater than five years and lessthantenyears .......................... 143,521 193424  580%
Greater than [EN YEArS . ... .. .uuuuuunnrriiin s raaaaana e iaas 6,989 11,247 5.64%

y
The following table summarizes the estimated maturities of the Company’s CMBS investments, as of
December 31, 2006, according to their estimated weighted average life classifications:

Weighted

Estimated Amortized  Average

Weighted Average Life Fair Value Cost Coupon
Greater than one year and less than five years ... ................ ... ... $ 81950 $ 81426 7.28%
Greater than five years and less thantenyears ................ooeenn. 117,505 114904  5.70%
Greater than &N YEATS .. ... ovt v e ettt e caaan e 22,878 22,460 5.57%

The weighted average lives of the Company’s CMBS investments at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, in the tables above are based upon calculations assuming constant principal prepayment rates to the
balloon or reset date for each security.
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NOTE 8—REAL ESTATE, NET
Springhouse Apartments LLC (“Springhouse™)

On December 15, 2005, the Company invested $8,289 for a 95% interest in Springhouse, a joint venture
between the Company and The Bozzuto Group (“Bozzuto”). Springhouse acquired an existing garden-style
apartment community consisting of 220 units located in Laurel, Maryland for $31,923. The Company determined
that Springhouse is a VIE and that the Company is the primary beneficiary and has consolidated the entity from
the date of investment. At December 31, 2007, Springhouse’s balance sheet was comprised of land of $8,191,
buildings, net of depreciation, of $23,434, other assets of $956, mortgage note payable of $25,729 and other
liabilities of $332.

Loch Raven Village Apartments-11, LLC (“Loch Raven”)

On March 28, 2006, the Company invested $8,980 for a 35% interest in Loch Raven, a joint venture
between the Company and Bozzuto. Loch Raven acquired an existing garden-style apartment community
consisting of 495 units located in Baltimore, Maryland for $32,733. The Company determined that Loch Raven is
a VIE and that the Company is the primary beneficiary and has consolidated the entity from the date of
investment. At December 31, 2007, Loch Raven’s balance sheet was comprised of land of $7,464, buildings, net
of depreciation, of $25,046, other assets of $4,229, mortgage note payable of $29,170 and other liabilities of
$547.

Minority interest on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet of $663 represents Bozzuto’s 5% interest in
Springhouse and Loch Raven.

NOTE 9—UNCONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURES

The Company has non-controlling, unconsolidated ownership interest in entities that are accounted for using
the equity method. Capital contributions, distributions, and profits and losses of the real estate entities are
allocated in accordance with the terms of the applicable partnership and limited liability company agreements.
Such allocations may differ from the stated percentage interests, if any, in such entities as a result of preferred
returns and allocation formulas as described in such agreements.

KS-CBRE Shixl'az LLC (“Shiraz Portfolio™)

On March 17, 2006, the Company invested $16,840 for a 90% non-managing member interest in the Shiraz
Portfolio, a joint venture between the Company and Everest Partners LLC (“Everest™). The Company contributed
an additional $121 in 2007. The Shiraz Portfolio is a portfolio of eight office and industrial properties comprising
approximately 680,300 square feet located in Route 128, Route 3 and Interstate 495 submarkets in Boston,
Massachusetts. The Company determined that the Shiraz Portfolio was not a VIE and that as a result of the
Company’s non-managing member interest is not consolidated into the Company’s balance sheet. In March
2007, purchase aé¢counting was finalized at the partnership level. At December 31, 2007, the Shiraz Portfolio’s
balance sheet was comprised of land of $15,790, buildings, net of depreciation, of $59,326, intangible assets, net
of amortization, of $446, other assets of $3,129, mortgage note payabte of $60,850 and other liabilities of $832,

KS-CBRE GS LLC (“GS Portfolie”)

On March 17, 2006, the Company invested $9,268 for a 90% non-managing member interest in the GS
Portfolio, a joint venture between the Company and Everest. The Company contributed an additional $456 in
2007. The GS Portfolio is a portfolio of nine office and industrial properties comprising approximately 526,355
square feet located in Route 128 and Route 3 submarkets in Boston, Massachusetts. The Company determined
that the GS Portfolio was not a VIE and that as a result of the Company’s non-managing member interest is not
consolidated into the Company’s balance sheet. in March 2007, purchase accounting was finalized at the
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partnership level. At December 31, 2007, the GS Portfolio’s balance sheet was comprised of land of $8,484,
buildings, net of depreciation, of $32,592, intangible assets, net of amortization, of $376, intangible lease
liability, net of amortization, of $236, other assets of $2,715, mortgage note payable of $33,002 and other
liabilities of $703.

Prince George’s Station Retail LLC (the “Retail Property™)

On January 12, 2006, the Company converted its $5,728 bridge loan into a 90% non-managing member
interest in the Retail Property, a joint venture between the Company and Taylor Development and Land
Company (“TDL”). The Company contributed an additional $412 and $3,760 in 2007 and 2006, respectively.
The Retail Property is a 166 square feet retail property located in Hyattsville, Maryland. The Company
determined that the Retail Property was not a VIE and that as a result of the Company’s non-managing member
interest is not consolidated into the Company’s balance sheet. At December 31, 2007, the Retail Property’s
balance sheet was comprised of construction in process costs of $45,189, other assets of $2,895, mortgage note
payable of $32,470 and other liabilities of $5,342.

Nordhoff Industrial Park LL.C (“Nordhoff”)

On August 17, 2006, the Company invested $3,800 for a 95% non-managing member interest in Nordhoff, a
joint venture between the Company and SEV Chatsworth LLC. Nordhoff consists of a five-butlding industrial
park comprising approximaiely 97,265 square feet located in the San Fernando Valley. The Company determined
that Nordhoff was not a VIE and that as a result of the Company’s non-managing member interest is not
consolidated into the Company’s balance sheet. At December 31, 2007, Nordhoff’s balance sheet was comprised
of land of $4,051, buildings, net of depreciation, of $9,450, other assets of $305, mortgage note payable of
$9,572 and other liabilities of $293.

32 Leone Partners, LLC (“32 Leone Lane’}

On May 24, 2006, the Company invested $2,293 for a 80% non-managing member interest in 32 Leone
Lane, a joint venture between the Company and The Heritage Management Company (*“Heritage”). The
Company contributed an additional $375 and $72 in 2007 and 2006, respectively. 32 Leone Lane is a 287,000
square foot industrial warehouse located in the Chester Industrial Park, a 300-acre business park, and lies in
Southern Orange County, New York. The Company determined that 32 Leone Lane was not a VIE and that as a
result of the Company’s non-managing member interest is not consolidated into the Company’s balance sheet. At
December 31, 2007, 32 Leone Lane’s balance sheet was comprised of land of $1,148, buildings, net of
depreciation, of $9,899, other assets of $542, mortgage note payable of $10,125 and other liabilities of $24.

CBRE 1515 Market GP, LLC (*“1515 Market Street)

On January 12, 2007, the Company invested $16,548 for a 90% non-managing member interest in 1515
Market Street, a joint venture between the Company and The Stockton Partners (“Stockton™). 1515 Market Street
is a 507,000 square foot class A office building, located across from Philadelphia’s City Hall in the County of
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. The Company determined that 1515 Market Street was not a VIE and that as a result
of the Company’s non-managing member interest is not consolidated into the Company’s balance sheet. At
December 31, 2007, [515 Market Street balance sheet was comprised of land of $11,400, buildings, net of
depreciation, of $58,913, intangible assets, net of amortization, of $8,9335, intangible lease liability, net of
amortization, of $2,703, other assets of $12,583, mortgage note payable of $70,000 and other liabilities of
$3,009.
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NOTE 10—BORROWINGS AND REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

The following is a table of the Company’s outstanding borrowings as of December 31, 2007:

Stated Interest Balance

Maturity Rate 12/31/07
Mortgage note payable (Springhouse)? ... ... .. ... ... ... s 12/14/2008 6.35% § 25,729
Mortgage note payable (Loch Raven)V . . ... ... ... .. ... ... .. ...... 4/1/2009  5.96% 29,170
Wachovia Warehouse Facility®® ... .. ... .. ... ... . .. ... ... 8/24/20090 6.28% 144,183
CDOIbondspayable ...... ... .. ity ceee. 3252046 5.44% 508,500
CDOIlbonds payable ......... ... it iiiannnn, 47172052 5.65% 831,000

Total ... e $1,538.582

() Non-recourse to the Company.
@ As discussed further in Note 20, subsequent to December 31, 2007, the balance of the Wachovia Warehouse
Facility has been reduced to approximately $31,100.

The following is a table of the Company’s outstanding borrowings as of December 31, 2006:

Stated Interest Ralance

Maturity Rate 12/31/06
Mortgage note payable (Springhouse)? . ... ... . ... o oL 12/14/2008 7.10% § 25,610
Mortgage note payable (Loch Raven)> . ... ... .. ... ..o 4/1/2009  5.96% 26,584
DB Warehouse Facility ....... ... . . i it 12/31/2007 5.85% 14,336
Bank of America Warehouse Facilities . .......... ... oo, 4/15/2007 6.16% 57,304
Wachovia Warehouse Facility . . ... ... .. . . iy 8/24/2009 6.03% 361,798
CDO1Ibonds payable . .......... ... iiuiieeii i, 3/25/2046  5.86% 508,500
Total . $994,132

(M Non-recourse to the Company.

A summar)./ of minimurm principals payments is as follows:

Contractual commitments
Payments due by period

Less than 2-4 More than 5
Total 1 year 1 year years years

CDO1Tbonds payable ...............ccoveinnn... $ 508,500 — % — 55— § 508500
CDOIlbondspayable . ...... .. ... ... ... ....... 831,000 — — — 831,000
Wachovia Warehouse Facilityh ..o o oo oL 144,183 144,183 — — —_
Mortgage payable™ . . ... e 195,124 129,704 65420 — —
Trust preferred securities . .. ...................... 50,000 — —— _ 50,000
Total .. e $1,728,807 $273,887 $65,420 $—  $1,389,500

Mortgage Notes Payable

On December 14, 2005, Springhouse obtained a $26,175 mortgage loan in conjunction with the acquisition
of real estate located in Prince George’s County, Maryland. The loan is guaranteed by Bozzuto, the Company’s
joint venture partner, matures on December 14, 2008, and bears interest at 30-day LIBOR plus 1.75%. As of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively the cutstanding balance was $25,729 and $25,610.

On March 28, 2006, Loch Raven obtained a $29,170 mortgage loan in conjunction with the acquisition of
real estate located in Baltimore, Maryland. The loan is guaranteed by Bozzute, the Company’s joint venture
partner, matures on April 1, 2009, and bears interest at a fixed rate of 5.96%. As of December 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2006, respectively, the outstanding balance was $29,170 and $26,584.
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On May 4, 2007, the Company assumed a $36,303 mortgage loan in conjunction with the Rodgers Forge
foreclosure. The mortgage contains certain non-financial covenants and certain subjective acceleration clauses
which, upon the occurrence of certain events, may cause the amounts due to become immediately due and
payable. As of December 31, 2007, the Company was in technical default of certain covenants in this loan, The
loan matures on April 16, 2009 and bears interest equal to one-half of one percent (0.50%) above the Prime Rate.
As of December 31, 2007, the outstanding balance was $36,250, which is included in liabilities held for sale in
the consolidated balance sheet. Subsequent to December 31, 2007, the Company sold the Rodgers Forge property
and the buyer assumed the mortgage in full.

On May 9, 2007, the Company assumed a $103,886 mortgage loan in conjunction with the Monterey
foreclosure. As of December 31, 2007, the Company was in default of certain covenants in this loan. As of the
date hereof, the lender has not taken any formal or informal action in respect thereof. The loan matured on
February 1, 2008 and bears interest at six-month LIBOR plus 3.25. As of December 31, 2007, the outstanding
balance was $103,975, which is ircluded in liabilities held for sale in the consolidated balance sheet, In
November 2007, the Company halted making interest payments to the senior lender of Monterey. While in the
process of negotiating a sale of the Monterey, which would include assumption of the mortgage by the buyer, the
senior lender could foreclose on the Company’s position,

Warehouse Facilities

The Company historically financed its portfolio of securities and loans through the use of repurchase
agreements, Currently, the Company has no warehouse facilities in place that will allow future borrowings.
Below is a description of warehouse lines that the Company has used since inception.

DB Warehouse Facility

On August 30, 2005, the Company entered into two facilities with Deutsche Bank that provided $650,000 of
aggregate borrowing capacity. The Company had a $400,000 master repurchase agreement which was terminated
on September 5, 2007. Advances under this facility bore interest at a pricing spread of 50 basis points over
30-day LIBOR. The Company alse had a $250,000 repurchase agreement with Deutsche Bank which terminated
on November 29, 2006. As of December 31, 2007, there were no obligations outstanding under the DB
Warehouse Facility.

Bank of America Warehouse Facilities

In January and February, 2006, the Company entered into two facilities with Banc of America Securities,
LLC and Bank of America, N.A. (the “Bank of America Warehouse Facilities”) that provided $450,000 of
aggregate borrowing capacity. The Company has a $200,000 master repurchase agreement which terminated on
April 2, 2007 in conjunction with the second CDO transaction. Advances under this facility bore interest with a
range of pricing spreads of 50 to 170 basis points over 30-day LIBOR. In addition, the Company had a $250,000
master repurchase agreement which terminated on April 2, 2007 in conjunction with the second CDO transaction.
Advances under this facility bore interest with a range of pricing spreads of 50 to 120 basis points over 30-day
LIBOR. As of December 31, 2007, there were no obligations outstanding under the Bank of America Facilities.

Wachovia Warehouse Facility

In July 2006, the Company entered into a mortgage loan purchase agreement with Wachovia that provided
$175,000 of aggregate borrowing capacity. The borrowing under this facility were paid off on October 4, 2006
and this facility was terminated.

In August 2006, the Company entered into a master repurchase agreement with Wachovia that provided
$300,000 of aggregate borrowing capacity. On December 15, 2006 and February 8, 2007, the aggregate
borrowing capacity was increased to $500,000 and $700,000, respectively, and the increase period expired on
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April 2, 2007. After the expiration of the increase period the maximum borrowing capacity was $300,000. On
June 29, 2007, the aggregate borrowing capacity was increased to $400,000 and the increase period expired on
December 31, 2007, reducing the maximum borrowing capacity to $300,000. The Wachovia Warchouse Facility
has an initial fixed repurchase date of August 24, 2009, which may be extended for a period not to exceed 364
days upon our written request to the buyer at least 30 days, but no more than 60 days, prior to the initial
repurchase date, if (i) no defanlt or event of default (as defined in the repurchase agreement) has occurred or
continuing and (ii) upon our payment to the buyer of a certain extension fee. Based on the Company’s investment
activities, this facility provides for an advance between 50% and 95% based upon the collateral provided under a
borrowing based calculation. Advances under this facility bear interest only, which is reset monthly, with a range
of pricing spreads from 20 to 200 basis points over 30-day LIBOR. This facility previously financed the
Company’s origination or acquisition of whole loans, subordinate mortgage interests and CMBS. As of
December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the outstanding balance under this facility was approximately
$144,183 and $361,798, respectively, with a weighted average borrowing rate of 6.28% and 6.03%, respectively.
On April 2, 2007, in conjunction with the second CDO transaction, the Company paid off $517,701 of the
outstanding debt. The Company does not expect to make any further borrowings under this facility, The
borrowings under this facility were collateralized by the following investments (dollars in thousands):

Number
Investment Type of Investments Carrying Value
Whole LOans .. ... .t e 4 $100,856
Subordinated Debt . ... ... ... 1 36,500
Mezzanine Debt . ... ... i e 3 75,000
CM B . e 1 4,121

The Wachovia Warehouse Facility contains certain covenants, the most material of which are requirements
that the Company maintain a minimum consolidated tangible net worth of no less than the sum of $250,000 and
75% of the net proceeds of the issuance of any capital stock of any class, a ratio of total consolidated total
indebtedness to consclidated total assets not to exceed (.80 to 1.0, minimum consolidated liquidity of not less
than $15,000 and consolidated interest coverage ratio not less than 1.4 to 1.0, In March 2008, the Company
received from Wachovia a waiver of financial covenants which the Company was not in compliance with as of
December 31, 2007: (i) the Company is required to have a ratio of total consolidated indebtedness to
consolidated total assets not to exceed 0.80 to 1, (ii) the Company is required to have a consolidated interest
coverage ratio of not less than 1.4 to 1.0 and (iii) the Company may not incur standard trade payables in excess of
$500. The Company was in compliance with all other covenants and conditions as of December 31, 2007,

On August 6, 2007, the Company received a margin deficit notice from Wachovia stating that a margin deficit
under a master repurchase agreement with Wachovia exists, and demanding that the Company transfer
approximately $26.7 million to Wachovia in immediately available funds. The margin deficit was settled in full in
August 2007 and the Company has made no further borrowings under the Wachovia master repurchase agreement.

On January 24, 2008, the Company amended the Wachovia Warehouse Facility. See Note 20 “Subsequent
Events” for further description of this amendment.

CDO Bonds Payable

On March 28, 2006, the Company closed its first CDO issuance (“CDO I”) and retained the entire BB rated
J Class with a face amount of $24,000 for $19,200, retained the entire B-rated K Class with a face amount of
$20,250 for $14,150 and also retained the non-rated common and preferred shares of CDO I, which issued the
CDO bonds with a face amount of $47,250 for $51,740. The Company issued and sold CDO bonds with a face
amount of $508,500 in a private placement to third parties. The proceeds of the CDQ issuance were used to repay
substantially all of the outstanding principal balance of the Company’s two warehouse facilities with an affiliate
of Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. of $343,556 and all of the outstanding principal balance of the Bank of America
Warehouse Facilities of $16,250 at closing. The CDO bonds are collateralized by real estate debt investments,
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consisting of B Notes, mezzanine loans, whole loans and CMBS investments, which is recorded in the
Company’s unaudited consolidated balance sheet in restricted cash at December 31, 2007. The Company’s
Manager will act as the collateral manager for the Company’s CDO subsidiary but will not receive any fees in
connection therewith. CDO [ is not a qualified special purpose entity (“QSPE”) as defined under FASB
Statement No, 140, (“SFAS 1407) “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities” due to certain permitted activities of CDO [ that are not consistent with activities
of a QSPE permitted under SFAS 140, such as having the ability to sell impaired securities and acquire
replacement securities with the proceeds at the discretion of the collateral administrator. CDO 1 is consolidated in
the financial statements of the Company and the Company has accounted for the CDO I transaction as a
financing. The collateral assets that the Company transferred to CDO I are reflected in the Company’s balance
sheet. The bonds issued to third parties are reflected as debt on the Company’s balance sheet at December 31,
2007. As of December 31, 2007, CDO bonds of $508,500 were outstanding, with a weighted average interest rate
of 5.44%.

In March 2007, Wachovia, acted as the exclusive structurer and placement agent with respect to the
Company’s second CDQ transaction (“CDO II”) totaling $1,000,000, which priced on March 2, 2007, and closed
on April 2, 2007. The Company sold $880,000 of bonds with an average cost of 90-day LIBOR plus 40.6 basis
points and retained 100% of the equity interests in the Company’s CDO subsidiary that issued the CDO notes
consisting of preferred and common shares. The notes issued by the Company’s CDO subsidiary are secured
initially by a portfolio of whole loans, B Notes, mezzanine loans and CMBS. The Company’s Manager acts as
the collateral manager for the Company’s CDO subsidiary but does not receive any fees in connection therewith.
The Company acted as the advancing agent in connection with the issuance of the CDO notes. CDO 11 is not a
QSPE as defined under SFAS 140 due to certain permitted activities of CDO II that are not consistent with
activities of a QSPE permitted under SFAS 140, such as having the ability to sell impaired securities and acquire
replacement securities with the proceeds at the discretion of the collateral administrator. CDO II will be
consolidated in the financial statements of the Company and the Company will account for the CDO 11
transaction as a financing, The collateral assets that the Company transferred to CDO 1I are reflected in the
Company’s balance sheet. The bonds issued to third parties are reflected as debt on the Company’s balance sheet
at December 31, 2007. In connection with the CDO II transaction, the Company terminated 24 and partially
unwound five effective cash flow hedges, or interest rate swaps, with a total notional amount of $398,383. A total
termination value of approximately $8,045 was paid to the Company’s counterparties on April 2, 2007.
Additionally, the Company entered into 15 interest rate swaps and three basis swaps with aggregate notional
amounts of approximately $622,957 and $235,053, respectively. As of December 31, 2007, CDO bonds of
$831,000 were outstanding, with a weighted average interest rate of 5.65%. The Company increased their
funding capacity by utilizing $26,000 of the total $75,000 revolver. The revolver balance on December 31, 2007
was $49,000.

NOTE 11—JUNIOR SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES

In July 2006, the Company completed the issuance of $50,000 in unsecured trust preferred securities
through a newly formed Delaware statutory trust, CBRE Realty Finance Trust I (“CRFT I"), which is one of the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. The securities bear interest at a fixed rate of 8.10% for the first ten years
ending July 2016. Thereafter the rate will float based on the $0-day LIBOR plus 249 points. The base
management fee that the Company pays to the Manager pursuant to the management agreement is based on gross
stockholders’ equity which our board of directors had previously determined to include the trust preferred
securities. The Company paid a base management fee on the trust preferred securities to the Manager from
July 26, 2006 to September 27, 2006 in the amount of approximately $174. However, beginning September 28,
2006, the Company will not pay such a fee on trust preferred securities to the Manager.

CRFT I issued $1,550 aggregate liquidation amount of common securities, representing 100% of the voting
common stock of CRFT I to the Company for a total purchase price of $1,550. CRFT I used the proceeds from

the sale of trust preferred securities and the common securities to purchase the Company’s junior subordinated
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notes. The terms of the junior subordinated notes match the terms of the trust preferred securities. The notes are
subordinate and junior in right of payment to all present and future senior indebtedness and certain other
financial obligations, The Company realized net proceeds from the offering of approximately $48,784.

NOTE 12—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

On October 30, 2007, a class action lawsuit was commenced in the United States District Court for the
District of Connecticut against CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. and the Company’s chief financial officer and former
chief executive officer seeking remedies under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The complaint alleges
that the registration statement and prospectus relating to our October 2006 initial public offering contained
material misstatements and material omissions. Specifically, the plaintiff alleges that management had
knowledge of certain loan impairments and did not properly disclose or record such impairments in the financial
statements. The plaintiff seeks to represent a class of all persons who purchased or otherwise acquired our
common stock between September 29, 2006 and August 6, 2007 and seeks damages in an unspecified amount.

In addition, January 15, 2008 and February 7, 2008, the Company received complaints from an attorney
representing two stockholders, alleging that certain officers and directors of the Company knowingly violated
generally accepted accounting principles for certain of its assets. The stockholders demanded that the Company
take action to recover from the directors and officers the amount of damages sustained by the Company as a
result of the misconduct alleged herein and to correct deficiencies in the Company’s internal controls and
accounting practices that allowed the misconduct to occur.

The Company believes that the allegations and claims against it and its directors, chief financial officer and
former chief executive officer are without merit and the Company intends to contest these claims vigorously. An
adverse resolution of the action could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and
results of operations in the period in which the lawsuit are resolved. The Company is not presently able to
estimate potential losses to it, if any, rclated to these lawsuits.

Unfunded Commitments

The Company currently has unfunded commitments to fund loan advances and joint venture equity
contributions. The table below summarizes our unfunded commitments as of December 31, 2007.

Total
Comrgi?rnent Current Funded Total Unfunded
Amount Amount Commitment
LOaNS .« o e e e s $375,171 $329,728 $45,443
Joint Venture Equity . ... ... . ... 78,116 77,155 961

Total ... $453,287 $406,883 $46,404

Approximately $43,304 of the unfunded commitments above will be funded through restricted cash or the
Company’s CDO revolver.
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Lease Commitment

Our corporate offices at 185 Asylum Street, 31st Floor, Hartford, Connecticut are subject to an operating
lease agreement effective July 1, 2007, The lease is for approximately twelve thousand square feet. The lease
term is ten years and has a renewal option to extend the term of the lease for up to one additional period of five
years. The following is a schedule of minimum lease payments under our operating lease as of December 31,
2007:

2008 L e e e $ 309
2000 L e e e e 319
.03 319
7113 1 [ e 319
200 . e n
7203 5 OO N 331
)15 1= = _l_,_l_BO

$3,098

For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and for the period from May 10, 2007 (inception) through
December 31, 2005, rent expense was $159, $116, and $101, respectively.

NOTE 13—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Management Agreement

The Company's Management Agreement provides for an initial term through December 2008 and will
automatically renew for a one-year term each anniversary date thereafter, subject to certain termination rights.
After the initial term, the Company’s independent directors will review the Manager’s performance anpually and
the Management Agreement may be terminated subject to certain termination rights. The Company’s executive
officers and directors own approximately 33.0% of the Manager.

The Company pays the Manager a base management fee monthly in arrears in an amount equal to 1/12th of
the sum of (i) 2.0% of the Company’s gross stockholders’ equity (as defined in the Management Agreement) of
the first $400,000 of the Company’s equity; (ii) 1.75% of the Company’s equity in an amount in excess of
$400,000 and up to $800,000; and (iii} 1.5% of the Company’s equity in excess of $800,000. Additionally, from
July 26, 2006 to September 27, 2006, the Company considered the outstanding trust preferred securities as part of
gross stockholders’ equity in calculating the base management fee. The Manager uses the proceeds from its
management fee in part to pay compensation to its officers and employees who, notwithstanding that certain of
them also are the Company’s officers, receive no cash compensation directly from the Company. For the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, the Company paid $7,848 and $6,298 to the Manager for the
base management fee under this agreement. As of December 31, 2007, and 2006, respectively, $533 and $686 of
management fees were accrued and constituted the management fee, payable on the Company’s balance sheet.

In addition to the base management fee, the Manager may receive quarterly incentive compensation. The
purpose of the incentive compensation is to provide an additional incentive for the Manager to achieve targeted
levels of Funds From Operations {as defined in the Management Agreement) and to increase the Company’s
stockholder value. The Manager may receive quarterly incentive compensation in an amount equal to the product
of: (i) twenty-five percent (25%) of the dollar amount by which (A) the Company’s Funds From Operations
(after the base management fee and hefore incentive compensation) per share of common stock for such quarter
(based on the weighted average of shares outstanding for such quarter) exceeds (B} an amount equal to (1) the
weighted average of the price per share of the Company’s common stock in the Company’s June 2005 private
offering and the prices per share of the Company’s common stock in any subsequent offerings (including the
Company’s initial public offering), multiplied by (2) the greater of {a) 2.25% or (b) (.75% plus one-fourth of the
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Ten Year Treasury Rate (as defined in the Management Agreement) for such quarter, multiplied by (ii) the
weighted average number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding during such quarter. The
Company will record any incentive fees as a management fee expense in the period when earned and when
payments of such amounts have become probable and reasonably estimable in accordance with the Management
Agreement. For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, no amounts were paid or were
payable to the Manager for the incentive management fee under this agreement.

The Management Agreement also provides that the Company will reimburse the Manager for various
expenses incwrred by the Manager or its affiliates on the Company’s behalf, including but not limited to costs
asscciated with formation and capital raising activities and general and administrative expenses. Without regard
to the amount of compensation received under the Management Agreement, the Manager is responsible for the
wages and salaries of the Manager’s officers and employees. For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, the Company paid approximately $776 and $773 1o the Manager for expense reimbursements. As of
December 31, 2007, and 2006, respectively, 3138 and $27 of expense reimbursements were accrued and are
included in other liabilities.

Affiliates

In connection with the Company’s June 2005 private offering, the Company entered into a license
agreements with CBRE and one of its affiliates pursuant to which they granted the Company a non-exclusive,
royalty-free license to use the name “CBRE.” Under this agreement, the Company has a right to use the “CBRE”
name, as long as the Manager or one of its affiliates remains the Company’s Manager and it remains an affiliate
of CBRE. Other than with respect to this limited license, the Company has no legal right to the “CBRE” name.
CBRE has the right to terminate the license agreement if its affiliate is no longer acting as the Manager. In the
event the Management Agreement is terminated, the Company would be required to change its name to eliminate
the use of the words “CBRE”

As of December 31, 2007, an affiliate of the Manager, CBRE Melody of Texas, LP and its principals,
owned 1,100,000 shares (which were purchased in the Company’s June 2005 private offering) of the Company’s
common stock, 300,000 shares of restricted common stock, and had options to purchase an additional 500,000
shares of common stock.

GEMSA Servicing

GEMSA Loan Services (“GEMSA") is utilized by the Company as a loan servicer. GEMSA is a joint
veniure between CBREIMelody & Company and GE Capital Real Estate. The Company’s fees for GEMSA’s
services for the years ended December 31, 2007, and 2006, respectively, amounted to $251 and $82.

NOTE 14—STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Capital Stock

The Company’s authorized capital stock consists of 150,000,000 shares of capital stock, $0.01 par value per
share, of which the Company have authorized the issuance of up to 100,000,000 shares of common stock, par
value $0.01 per share, and 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share,

On May 10, 2005, the Company had 1,000 shares of common stock outstanding valued at approximately $1.
On June 9, 2005, these shares were redeemed in connection the completion of a private offering of 20,000,000
shares of common stock. Net proceeds of $282,465 from the private offering were used primarily to fund
investments.

On September 27, 2006, the Company priced its initial public offering (the “IPO™} of common stock, with
public trading of the Company’s common stock commencing on September 28, 2006. The Offering was for
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11,012,624 shares of its common stock at a price of $14.50 per share, which includes the exercise in full of the
underwriters’ option to purchase an additional 1,436,429 shares of common stock. Of these shares, 9,943,020 were
sold by the Company and 1,067,604 were sold by selling stockholders. Net proceeds from both the [PO and the
over-allotment option, after underwriting discounts and commissions of $8,652 and other offering expenses of
$2,361, were $133,190, which the Company received on October 3, 2006. The net proceeds were used to repay
outstanding indebtedness under the Wachovia Warehouse Interim Facility. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, 30,920,225 and 30,601,142 shares of our common stock were issued and outstanding.

Equity Incentive Plan

The Company established a 2005 equity incentive plan (“2005 Equity Incentive Plan”} for officers,
directors, consultants and advisors, including the Manager, its employees and other related persons. The 20035
Equity Incentive Plan authorizes (i) the grant of stock options that qualify as incentive stock options under
Section 422 of the Code, or 1SOs; (ii) the grant of stock options that do not qualify, or NQSOs, and (iii) grants of
shares of restricted common stock. The exercise price of stock options will be determined by the compensation
commiitee and fully ratified by the board of directors, but may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of a
share on the day the option is granted. The total number of shares subject to awards granted under the 2003
Equity Incentive Plan may not exceed 2,000,000, As of December 31, 2005, approximately 600,000 shares of
restricted stock and §,000,000 options to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock were granted, or
reserved for issuance under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.

A summary of our stock options is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
Granted
Lapsed or cancelled

Balance at the end of the year

Options exercisable at the end of the year ... ...

For the Period
Mfay 10,.
Year Ended December 31, thrigogfl (["Tc?:':g::) 3t,
2007 2006 2005
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Fair Value
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Per Share
866,434 $15.00 813,600 $15.00 — $ —
136,000 9.22 95,400 15.00 813,600 15.00
{23,332) 13.85 (42,566) 15.00 — —
979,102 $14.22 866,434 $15.00 813,600 $15.00

576,906 $14.89

263,734 $15.00

In June 2005, upon completion of the private offering, the Company granted 567,755 shares of restricted
stock and options to purchase 813,600 shares of common stock having an exercise price of $15.00 per share
under the 2005 equity incentive plan to the Manager, its employees and related persons. These awards have a
vesting period of three years and accrue dividends at the same rate and on the same date as the Company’s
common stock. The Company also issued restricted stock awards aggregating 2,668 shares of the Company’s
common stock to its directors, which vest over one year. The holders of restricted stock awards are prohibited

from selling these shares until they vest.

As of December 31, 2007, 33,892 awards were available for issuance, and 975,205 restricted shares and
990, 903 options have been issued, net of forfeitures, under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.

At December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, there were 530,063, 462,925 and 567,755 unvested restricted shares

outstanding, respectively.

The fair value of the options was estimated by reference to the Black-Scholes-Merton formula, a closed-
form optien pricing model, Given the short history of the Company as a publicly traded company, the Company
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estimated the volatility of its stock based on available information on volatility of stocks of other publicly held
companies in the industry. Since the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan has characteristics significantly different from
those of traded options, and since the assumptions used in such model, particularly the volatility assumption, are
subject to significant judgment and variability, the actual value of the options could vary materially from
management’s estimate, The assumptions used in such model as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are provided in
the tables below:

June  January August September March September December

2005 2006 2006 2006 2007 2007 2007

Input Variables Grant  Grant Grant Grant Grant Grant Grant
Remaining term (in years) .............. 24 3.1 3.7 7 4.2 47 5.0
Risk-free interestrate .................. 311% 3.19% 327% 327% 3.33% 3.40% 3.44%
Volatility . ......... ... i, 304% 278% 273% 273% 28.0% 28.8% 28.3%
Dividendyield ....................... 150% 150% 150% 15.0% 150% 15.0% 15.0%
Estimated FairValue .................. $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.01  $0.18 $0.21

June Januvary  August  September

2005 2006 2006 2006
Input Variables Grant Grant Grant Grant
Remaining term (inyears) . ............ .. i iiinennana. 34 4.1 4.7 4.7
Risk-free interest rate . ... ..ot ittt it e i ennns 472% 471% 4.70% 4.70%
Volatility ..o e 205% 213% 21.7% 21.7%
Dividend yield ... ... .0 i e 8.1% 8.1% 8.1% 8.1%
Estimated Fair Value ............c.o it ieenns $146  $1.51 $1.54 $1.53

Non-cash compensation expense related to shares subject to awards is recorded ratably over their vesting
period. The components of non-cash stock-based compensation expense presented on the consolidated statement
of income, for the year ended December 31, 2007 are as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2007  December 31, 2006
Options granted to Manager, its employees and other related parties . .. ... . $(173) $ 445
Restricted shares granted to Manager, its employees and other related
PATHES .« oo\ttt t e e e e e e 1,465 3,405
Restricted shares granted to certain directors . ... ... ... ... ... .. ..... 17
Total shared based compensationexpense ................ ... ....... $1,292 $3,867

NOTE 15—FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following disclosures of estimated fair value were determined by management, using available market
information and valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment is necessary to interpret market data and
develop estimated fair values. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are subjective in nature and not
necessarily indicative of the amounts the Company could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The
use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methedologies may have a material effect on the estimated
fair value amounts.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, cash equivalents, accrued interest, accounts payable, accrued expenses
and repurchase obligations reasonably approximated their fair values due to the short-lerm maturities of these
items. CMBS and derivative assets and liabilities are carried on the balance sheet at their estimated fair value,
Loans and other lending investments, mortgages payable and junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures
are carried at amounts that reasonably approximate their fair value.

While the Company’s collateralized debt obligations have floating rates and fair value would normally be
expected to approximate fair value, due to widening of credit spreads in the second half of 2007 for CMBS and
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CDOs, after the issuance of the Company’s first and second CDOs, management concluded that the carrying
value of CDOs no longer approximated fair value at December 31, 2007. The Company estimated the fair value
of CDOs using credit spreads that would be expected if the obligations were issued on December 31, 2007. The
estimated fair market value of CDOs as of December 31, 2007 was approximately $1,145,000 compared to the
carrying value of $1,339,500. As of December 31, 2006, the carrying value of CDOs approximated fair value.

NOTE 16—DERIVATIVES

In the normal course of business, the Company uses a variety of derivative instruments to manage, or hedge,
interest rate risk. The Company requires that hedging derivative instruments be effective in reducing the interest rate
risk exposure that they are designated to hedge. This effectiveness is essential for qualifying for hedge accounting.
Some derivative instruments are associated with an anticipated transaction. In those cases, hedge effectiveness
criteria also require that it is probable that the underlying transaction is expected to occur. Instruments that meet
these hedging criteria are formally designated as hedges at the inception of the derivative contract.

The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well
as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking each hedge transaction and how ineffectiveness of
the hedging instrument, if any, will be measured. Derivative instruments designated in a hedge relationship to
mitigate exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are
considered cash flow hedges.

The Company’s derivative products typically include interest rate swaps and, to a lesser extent, basis swaps,
which we use to hedge between 30 and 20 day Libor. The Company expressly prohibits the use of
unconventional derivative instruments and using derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes,
Further, it has a policy of only entering into contracts with major financial institutions based upon their credit
ratings and other factors.

The Company uses interest raie swaps 1o hedge all or a partion of the interest rate risk associated with its
borrowings. The counterparties to these contractual arrangements are Credit Suisse International, Deutsche Bank
AG, New York, Bank of America, N.A. and Wachovia Bank N.A., with which the Company and its affiliates
may also have other financial relationships. In the event of nonperformance by counterparty, the Company is
potentially exposed to credit loss. However, the Company anticipates that the counterparties will not fail to meet
their obligations under the interest rate swap agreements. On the date the Company enters into a derivative
contract, the derivative is designated as: {1} a hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash flows
to be received or paid related to a recognized liability (“cash flow™ hedge); (2) a hedge of exposure to fair value
of a recognized fixed-rate asset; or (3) a contract not qualifying for hedge accounting (“free standing”
derivative).

To determine the fair value of derivative instruments, the Company used a variety of methods and
assumptions that are based on market conditions and risks existing at each balance sheet date. For the majority of
financial instruments including most derivatives and long-term investments, standard market conventions and
techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis, option-pricing models, replacement cost, and termination cost
are used to determine fair value. All methods of assessing fair value result in a general approximation of value,
and such value may never actually be realized.

The following table summarizes the fair value of the derivative instruments held as of December 31, 2007:

Estimated Fair Value at
Contract December 31, 2007

Derivatives designated ascashflowhedges . . . ... ... .. ... .. ... ... L $(38,385)
Free-standing hedges ... ... ... . e e (1,893)
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The following table summarizes the fair value of the derivative instruments held as of December 31, 2006:

Estimated Fair Value at

Contract December 31, 2006
Derivatives designated ascashflowhedges . ................ ... ... ... .. coo... $(7,739)
Free-standing hedges ... .. ... . . . e e 255

For the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company recognized a realized loss of approximately $1,481
due to a termination of an interest rate swap that was settled in connection with the sale of a loan investment that
was being hedged. In connection with the Company’s second CDO transaction, the Company terminated 24 and
partially unwound five effective cash flow hedges, or interest rate swaps, with a total notional amount of
$398,383. A total termination value of approximately $8,045 was paid to the Company’s counterparties on
April 2, 2007, Additionally, the Company entered into 15 interest rate swaps and three basis swaps with
aggregate notional amounts of approximately $622,957 and $235,053, respectively. In all of the current interest
rate swap agreements the Company pays a fixed interest rate and receives a floating interest rate (based on
30-day LIBOR) from the counterparty. For the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company reclassified through
earnings $500 representing the gains and losses previously reported in Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income. The Company estimates that approximately $1,395 of the current balance held in Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income will be reclassified into earnings primarily derived from deferred gains on terminated
swaps in the next 12 months. Gains and losses due to hedge ineffectiveness for the year ended December 31,
2007 were not significant.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recognized gains on derivatives of $3,552. In March
2006, 14 interest rate swap agreements were teriminated in conjunction with the CDO transaction. The
termination resulted in a realized gain of $1,%09 on the free-standing hedges and a deferred gain of $2,688 on the
effective cash flow hedges. For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company reclassified through earnings
$441 representing the gains and losses previously reported in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, The
Company estimates that approximately $562 of the current balance held in Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income will be reclassified into earnings primarily derived from deferred gains on terminated swaps in the next
12 months. Gains and losses due to hedge ineffectiveness for the year ended December 31, 2006 were not
significant. In all of the current interest rate swap agreements the Company pays a fixed interest rate and receives
a floating interest rate (30-day LIBOR) from the counterparty. The Company, through one of its consolidated
joint ventures, entered into an interest cap with a notional amount of $25,000 with a strike price of 4.16% and a
maturity date of December 15, 2007. As of December 31, 2006, the estimated value of the 32 interest rate swaps
with a notional amount of $696,348 and one interest rate cap with a notional amount of $25,000, included in
derivative assets and liabilities on the balance sheet, was approximately $7,484 and represents the amount that
would be paid by the Company if the agreements were terminated, based on current market rates on that date.
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NOTE 17—EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during each period. In accordance with SFAS No. 128 “Earnings Per Share,” certain
shares of nonvested restricted stock are not included in the calculation of basic EPS (even though shares of
nonvested restricted stock are legally outstanding). Diluted earnings per share takes into account the effect of
dilutive instruments, such as common stock options and shares of unvested restricted common stock, but use the
average share price for the period in determining the number of incremental shares that are to be added to the
weighted-average number of shares outstanding {treasury stock method). The following table presents a
reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2007:

Year Ended
December 31, 2007

Basic and diluted:
Net loss from continuing Operations . ..........i .ttt it iiiaiaannnnens 5(11,298)
Net loss from discontinued OpPerations . .. .....iuur it riernr ittt iinranennneneee, ) (59,468)
| - O O A $(70,766)
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding ... ..... ... ... ... ... ... ... . . 30,287
Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations ........................ $ (037
Basic and diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations ....................... . (1.96)
Basic and diluted earnings per share ... ... ... ... i i e 5 (2.33)

The following table presents a reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the period year
ended December 31, 2006:

s
Year Ended

December 31, 2006

Basic:

NetinCOME .ot e e e e e e $13,743
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding . ........ ... ... ... .. ... .. L 22,688
Basicearnings pershare .. ... ... .. i e . % 0.1
Diluted: '
NELINCOME .ottt e et et e e e e e e $13,743
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding .......... ... ... .. ... ... . 22,688
Plus: Incremental shares from assumed conversion of dilutive instruments .. .............. b 149
Adjusted weighted-average number of shares outstanding .. ............................ 22,837
Diluted eamnings pershare . . ... .. ... i e i e $ 060

The following table presents a reconciliation of basic and dituted earnings per share for the peried May 10,
2005 (inception) through December 31, 2005:

Period May 10, 2005

{inception) through
December 31, 2005
Basic:
NetiNCOME ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 1,052
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding . ........ ... ... . ... . . o, 20,000
Basic eamnings pershare .. ... e e $ 005
Diluted:
Nt IMCOME Lot et e e e e $ 1,052
Weighted-average number of sharesoutstanding ... ....... ... ... .. ... ... il 20,000
Plus: Incremental shares from assumed converston of dilutive instruments ............... 108
Adjusted weighted-average number of shares outstanding . ............................ 20,108
Diluted earnings per share . ... ... ... e $ 005




NOTE 18—DIVIDENDS

On December 20, 2007, the Company declared dividends of $0.21 per share of common stock, payable with
respect to the three month period ended December 31, 2007, to stockholders of record at the close of business on

December 31, 2007. The Company paid these dividends on January 15, 2008.

NOTE 19—QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Quarterty data for the last two years is presented below (in thousands).

-

2007 Quarter Ended December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31
Totalrevenues ............ ..ottt § 38,6000 $ 40,663  $34,125 $27,578
Income (toss) from continuing operations before equity in net

loss of unconsolidated joint ventures and provision for

(711 (12,425) 6,411 3,747y 4,053
Equity in net (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures . ......... (1,270} (941) (980) (2,530)
Net income (loss) before minority interest and discontinued

OPETAtIONS L ..ottt i ee e (13,695) 5470 4,727y 1,523
Minority inferest . . ... ... e e (21) (30 (28) (52)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations .. ............, (13,674) 5,500 (4,699) 1,575
Operating results from discontinued operations .. ............ (4,150} (55,459) 141 —
Netincome (I0S8) .o ovv v et e ii i iear i iecinannnnens $(17,824)  $(49,959) $(4,558) $ 1,575
Net income (loss) from continuing operations per common

share—Basic ...... ... ... i e $ (045 $ 018 § (0.15) $ 005
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations per common

share—Basic . ... ... i e e (0.14) (1.82) — _—
Net income (loss) per common share—Basic ............... $ (059) $ (164 % (0.15) § 0.05
Net income (loss) from continuing operations per common

share—Diluted ...... ... ... ... (0.45) 0.18 (0.15) 0.05
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations per common

share—Diluted . ...... .. ... (0.14) (1.82) — —
Net income (loss) per common share—Diluted .............. $ (059 §$ (64 $ (0.15 $ 005
2006 Quarter Ended December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31
Total Fevenues . . ... .. ... et $ 25,632 $20,692 $15369 $12,360
Income from continuing operations before equity in net income

(loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures and provision for

LA i vttt ittt i e e e 4,015 2,446 2,003 5,656
Equity in net income (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures . .. (502) (186) 236 —
Net income before minority interest ... .................... 3,513 2,260 2,239 5,656
Minorityinterest .. ... ... .. i 34 (20) (12) 9)
NELINCOMIE . vttt ettt e e et ee e $ 3,547 $ 2280 $ 2251 $ 5665
Net income per common share—Basic .................... § 012 $ 011 % 011 % 028
Net income per common share—Diluted . .................. $ 012 $§ 011 % 011 % 028
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NOTE 2(---Subsequent Events
Wachovia Amendment

On January 24, 2008, the Company amended the Wachovia Warehouse Facility and Guarantee Agreement
effective as of October 15, 2007. Under the amendment, the facility will terminate by March 31, 2009 and the
maximum amount outstanding under the agreement will be an amount equal to (i) $86,000 through and until
March 30, 2008, (ii) $50,000 from and after March 31, 2008 through and until June 29, 2008, (iti) $35,000 from
and after June 30, 2008 through and until September 29, 2008, (iv) $20,000 from and after September 30, 2008
through and until December 30, 2008, (v) $10,000 from and after December 31, 2008 through and until
March 30, 2009 and (vi) $0.00 from and after March 31, 2009. Additicnally, the initial termination date can be
extended by the Buyer for a period not to exceed 180 days upon receiving a written request from the Sellers at
least 30 days but not earlier than 60 days prior to the initial termination date, provided that certain conditions are
satisfied. The agreement amended certain restrictive covenants, the most significant of which was that (i} at no
time shall the ratio of total consolidated total indebtedness to consolidated total assets not to exceed 0.85 to 1.0,
(i) minimum consolidated liquidity shall not be less than $10,000 and (iii) consolidated interest coverage ratio
shall not be less than 1.2 to 1.0. In connection with the execution of Amendment No. 5, the Company must pay a
modification fee to Wachovia in the aggregate amount of $700,000 in three equal monthly installments.

Sale of Rodgers Forge

On January 28, 2008, the Company completed the sale of the Rodgers Forge property. The property was
sold for $45,000 and, after payment of the first mortgage and closing costs, resulted in approximately $8,071 of
proceeds.

PR

Reduction of Wachovia Facility

Subsequent to December 31, 2007, in connection with several loan prepayments, the Company repaid
approximately $113,095 to reduce the Wachovia Warehouse Facility to approximately $31,088 as of March 14,
2008.
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SCHEDULE IV
CBRE REALTY FINANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MORTGAGE LOANS ON REAL ESTATE

DECEMBER 31, 2007
{In thousands)
{Amounts in thousands, except per share and share data)
Principal
Amount of
Loss
Subject
Principal
Principal  Carrying or to
Property Interest Maturity Current Payment Prior  Amount of Amount of Delinquent
Loan Type Type Rute Datet Terms? Liens Loans Loans® Interest
Whole loans
Office LIBOR + 153 May 2008 Interest only N/A 56,800 56,771 N/A
Whole loans <3% ....... Various Principal & Interest N/A 812277 815,652 N/A
869,077 872,423
Mezzanine loans
Mezzanine loans < 3% . ... Various Principal & Interest 4,951,925 280,889 282,297 N/A

Subordinate interest in
whole loans (B-Notes) Hotel LIBOR+550 December 2007 Interest only 440,151 42,830 42,830 04

Subordinate interest whole
loans (B-Notes) < 3% .. Various Principal & Interest 1,236,539 180,592 175,487 N/A

223,422 218317

Bridge loans
Bridge loans <3% ....... Various LIBOR + 750 Interest only MN/A 8,067 8,667 NIA

$1,382,055 $1,381,704

(1) See note 6 for further discussion of the B-Note disclosed above with a carrying value of $42,830 and a maturity date of December 2007.
(2) Reflects current payment terms and does not denote loans that may be subject to principal payments in the future.
(3) The aggregate U.S. federal income tax basis for such assets at December 31, 2007 was approximately equal to their book basis.

2007 2006
Balance at beginning of period .. ... ... ... e 1,090,874 448,280
Additions during the year:
New loans and additional advances on existingloans ............... ... .. ........ 679,717 854,957
Acquisition costand (fees) ... ... e (543) (782)
Preminms/(diSCOUNES) . ..ttt e e e e (7,783) 522
Amortization of acquisition costs, fees, premiums and discounts .. ................. 1,341 (1,950)
Deductions during the year:
Collection of principal (including sales) .. ... ... ... o i i (322,538) (210,153)
FOreC oS ASSEES . ..ttt e e e e e e e e (59,364) —
Balance atend of period .. .. ... . L. L e e 1,381,704 1,090,874

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None,
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ITEM 9A.CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure based closely on the definition of “disclosure controls and procedures™ in
Rule 13a-15(e). In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that
any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance
of achieving the desired control objectives, and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Also, we have investments in certain
unconsolidated entities. As we do not control these entities, our disclosure controls and procedures with respect
to such entities are necessarily substantially more limited than those we maintain with respect to our consolidated
subsidiaries.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and
with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer,
of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, Based upon that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financiat Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f}. Under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2007 based on the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS30), Based on that evaluation, we concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2007. Management’s assessment of and
concluston on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of
the operations assumed for the Rodgers Forge and Monterey properties that were acquired through foreclosure in
May 2007. As allowed pursuant to guidance from the Securities and Exchange Commission, the evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting of Rodgers Forge and Monterey may be excluded. As of and for the year
ended December 31, 2007 total assets and net sales of Rodgers Forge and Monterey represented 7% and 4% of
consolidated total assets and revenues, respectively.

Our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has been audited by Emst & Young

LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report appearing herein which expresses an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the year ended
December 31, 2007 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reports.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART I

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The information required by Item 10 will be set forth in our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2008 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, which is expected to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, prior to April 30, 2008 (the “2008 Proxy Statement”), and is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 will be set forth in the 2008 Proxy Statement and is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCK MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 will be set forth in the 2008 Proxy Statement and is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTORS
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 will be set forth in the 2008 Proxy Statement and is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information regarding principal accounting fees and services and the audit committee’s pre-approval
policies and procedures required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the 2008 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
ITEM 15, EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

{a)(1) Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and for the period from
May 10, 2007 (inception) through December 31, 2005

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (loss) for the year ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and the period from

May 10, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2005

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule IV Mortgage Loans on Real Estate as of December 31, 2007

Schedules other than those listed are omitted as they are not applicable or the required or equivalent information
has been included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(a)(3) Exhibits
See Index to Exhibits on the following page
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Exhibit

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description of Document

3.1

a2

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

Articles of Amendment and Restatement of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc., incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-11
(File No. 333-132186), filed on March 3, 2006.

Amendment and Restated Bylaws of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc., incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-
132186), filed on August 4, 2006.

Registration Rights Agreement among CBRE Realty Finance, Inc., Credit Suisse Securities
(USA) LLC, Banc of America Securities LLC, Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and Deutsche
Bank Securities Inc., for the benefit of themselves and certain holders of the common stock of
CBRE Realty Finance, Inc., dated as of June 9, 2005, incorporated by reference te Exhibit 10.1
to CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-132186),
filed on March 3, 2006.

Management Agreement between CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. and CBRE Realty Finance
Management, LLC and CB Richard Ellis, Inc., dated as of Jure 9, 2003, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CBRE Realty Finance, Tnc.’s Registration Statement on Form $-11
(File No. 333-132186), fited on March 3, 2006.

License Agreement by and among CBRE Realty Finance, Inc., CB Richard Ellis, Inc. and CB
Richard Ellis of California, Inc., dated as of June 9, 2005, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S5-11 (File No. 333-
132186), filed on March 3, 2006.

2005 Equity Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to CBRE Realty Finance,
Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-132186), filed on March 3, 2006.

Form of Stock Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to CBRE Realty
Finance, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-132186), filed on March 3,
2006.

Form of Stock Option Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to CBRE Realty
Finance, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 5-11 (File No. 333-132186), filed on March 3,

© 2006,

Collateral Management Agreement between CBRE Realty Finance CDO 2006-1, Ltd. and CBRE
Realty Finance Management, LLC, dated as of March 28, 2006, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.11 to CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form §-11 (File No.
333-132186), filed on April 12, 2006.

Indenture among CBRE Realty Finance CDO 2006-1, Lid., CBRE Realty Finance CDO 2006-1,

~LLC, LaSalle Bank National Association and CBRE Realty Finance, Inc., dated as of March 28,

2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Registration
Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-132186), fited on April 12, 2006.

Amended and Restated Trust Agreement among CBRE Realty Finance, Inc., JPMorgan Chase
Bank, National Association, Chase Bank USA, National Association and Administrative
Trustees named therein, dated as of July 26, 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to
CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-132186), filed
on August 4, 2006,

Junior Subordinated Indenture between CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
National Association, dated as of July 26, 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to
CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-132186), filed
on August 4, 2006,
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Exhibit

Description of Document

i0.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

Purchase Agreement among CBRE Realty Finance, Inc., CBRE Realty Finance Trust [ and
German American Capital Corporation, dated as of July 26, 2006, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.16 to CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No.
333-132186), filed on August 4, 2006.

Purchase Agreement among CBRE Realty Finance, Inc., CBRE Realty Finance Trust 1 and Bear,
Stearns & Co. Inc., dated as of July 26, 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to
CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form $-11 (File No. 333-132186), filed
on August 4, 2006.

Master Repurchase Agreement among CBRE Realty Finance Holdings IV, LLC, CBRE Really
Finance TRS Warchouse Funding I1I, LLC and Wachovia Bank, National Associations, dated as
of August 24, 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s
Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-132186), filed on September 8, 2006.

Amendment No. 2 to Master Repurchase Agreement among CBRE Realty Finance Holdings 1V,
LLC, CBRE Reaity Finance TRS Warehouse Funding III, LLC and Wachovia Bank, National
Association, dated as of December 15, 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CBRE
Realty Finance, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33050), filed on December 21,
2006.

Amendment No. 3 to Master Repurchase Agreement among CBRE Reaity Finance Holdings IV,
LLC, CBRE Realty Finance TRS Warehouse Funding III, LL.C and Wachovia Bank, Naticonal
Association, dated as of February 8, 2007, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CBRE
Realty Finance, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33050), filed on February 12,
2007.

Collateral Management Agreement between CBRE Realty Finance CDO 2007-1, Ltd. and CBRE
Realty Finance Management, LLC, dated as of April 2, 2007, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33050),
filed on April 6, 2007.

Indenture among CBRE Realty Finance CDO 2007-1, Lid., CBRE Realty Finance CDO 2007-1,
LLC, LaSalle Bank National Association and CBRE Realty Finance, Inc., dated as of April 2,
2007, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Current Report
on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33050), filed on April 6, 20076.

Amendment No. 4 to Master Repurchase Agreement among CBRE Realty Finance Holdings IV,
LL.C, CBRE Realty Finance TRS Warehouse Funding III, LL.C and Wachovia Bank, National
Association, dated as of June 29, 2007, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CBRE
Realty Finance, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-330350), filed on July 6, 2007.

Amendment No. 5 to Master Repurchase Agreement among CBRE Realty Finance Holdings IV,
LLC, CBRE Realty Finance TRS Warehouse Funding III, LLC and Wachovia Bank, National
Association, dated as of October 15, 2007, incorporated by reference te Exhibit 10.1 to CBRE
Realty Finance, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33050), filed on January 25,
2008.

Amended and Restated Guarantee Agreement between CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. and CBRE
Realty Finance Holdings, LLC, dated as of January 23, 2008, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 10 CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33050),
filed on January 25, 2008.

Membership Interest Sale and Purchase Agreement among CBF Rodgers Forge, LLC, CBRE
Realty Finance TRS, Inc. and Rodgers Forge Holdings, LLC, dated as of December 17, 2007,
filed herewith.
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Exhibit

Description of Document

21.1
311

31.2

321

322

List of Subsidiaries of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc., fited herewith.

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, file herewith.

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, filed herewith.

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, file herewith.

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, file herewith.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 17, 2008
CBRE REALTY FINANCE, INC.

By: /s/  MICHAEL ANGERTHAL

Name: Michael Angerthal
Title: Chief Financial Officer

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, the undersigned officers and directors of CBRE
Realty Finance, Inc. hereby severally constitute Kenneth J. Witkin and Michael Angerthal, and each of them
singly, our true and lawful attorneys and with full power to them, and each of them singly, to sign for us and in
our names in the capacities indicated below, the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed herewith and any and all
amendments to said Annual Report on Form 10-K, and generally to do all such things in our names and in our
capacities as officers and directors to enable CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. to comply with the provisions of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and all requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby
ratifying and confirming our signatures as they may be signed by our said attorneys, or any of them, to said
Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments thereto.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Ii_ﬂf Bf.tf
/s/ RAY WIRTA Chairman March 17, 2008
Ray Wirta
/s/  KENNETH J. WITKIN Chief Executive Officer, President March 17, 2008
Kenneth J. Witkin and Director (Principal Executive
Officer)
/s/  MiCHAEL MELODY Director March 17, 2008

Michael Melody

/s/  DouGLAS ERy Director March 17, 2008
Douglas Eby
/s/ VINCENT COSTANTINI Director March 17, 2008

Vincent Costantini

/sf RICARDO KOENIGSBERGER Director March 17, 2008
Ricardo Koenigsberger

Is! Davib MARKS Director March 17, 2008
David Marks
/s/ MICHAEL ANGERTHAL Executive Vice President, Chief March 17, 2008
Michael Angerthal Financial Officer and Treasurer

(Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO 17 CFR 240.13a-14
PROMULGATED UNDER
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2003

I, Kenneth J. Witkin, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) for the registrant and we have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal contro] over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generalty accepted accounting principals;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of
an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

{b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KENNETH J. WITKIN

Kenneth J. Witkin
President and Chief Executive Qfficer

Date: March 17, 2008




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO 17 CFR 240.13a-14
PROMULGATED UNDER
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael Angerthal, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

(a) designed such disctosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principals;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of
an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, 1o the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ MICHAEL ANGERTHAL

Michael Angerthal
Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 17, 2008




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 US.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 31, 2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), I, Kenneth J. Witkin, President and Chief Executive Qfficer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and result of operations of the Company.

/s/  KENNETH J. WITKIN

Kenneth J. Witkin
President and Chief Executive Officer

-1

Date: March 17, 2008



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of CBRE Realty Finance, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the
peried ended December 31, 2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), I, Michael Angerthal, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.

Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and result of operations of the Company.

/s/ MICHAEL ANGERTHAL

Michael Angerthal
Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 17, 2008
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